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Tr. Transcript

v



Case: 16-2497 Document: 1-5 Page:5 Filed: 08/16/2016
PUBLIC VERSION

UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C.

Ili the Matter of

CERTAIN FOOTWEAR PRODUCTS Inv. No. 337-TA-936

INITIAL DETERMINATION ON VIOLATION OF SECTION 337 AND
RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION ON REMEDY AND BOND

Chief Administrative Law Judge Charles E. Bullock
(November 17, 2015)

Pursuant to the Notice of Investigation, this is the Initial Determination in the matter of
Certain Footwear Products, Investigation No. 337-TA-936.

For the reasons stated herein, the undersigned has determined that a violation of section
337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, has been found in the importation into the United
States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the United States after importation of certain
footwear products with respect to U.S. Trademark Registration Nos. 3,258,103; 1,588,960; and

4,398,753, but not as to the asserted common law trademarks.
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L INTRODUCTION
A. Procedural History
On October 14, 2014, Complainant Converse Inc. (“Converse”) filed a complaint alleging
violations of section 337 based upon the importation into the United States, the sale for
importation, and the sale within the United States after importation of certain footwear products.
See 79 Fed. Reg. 68,482-483 (Nov. 17, 2014). Converse filed the complaint on October 14,
2014. 1d.
On November 17, 2014, the Commission instituted this Investigation. Id. Specifically, the
Commission instituted this Investigation to determine:
[W]hether there is a violation of subsection (a)(1)(C) ofsection 337 in the
importation into the United States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the
United States after importation of certain footwear products by reason of
infringement of one or more of the ’7531, ’1032, and the *960° trademarks, and
whether an industry in the United States exists as required by subsection (a)(2) of
section 337; and
whether there is a violation of subsection (a)(1)(A) of section 337 in the
importation into the United States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the
United States after importation of certain footwear products by reason of unfair
competition/false designation of origin, common law trademark infringement and
- unfair competition, or trademark dilution, the threat or effect of which is to
destroy or substantially injure an industry in the United States.
1d
The Notice of Investigation named A-List, Inc. d/b/a Kitson (“A-List”); Aldo Group
(“Aldo”); Brian Lichtenberg, LLC (“Brian Lichtenberg”); Cmerit USA, Inc., d/b/a Gotta Flurt
(“CMerit”); Dioniso SRL (“Dioniso”); Edamame Kids, Inc. (“Edamame”); Esquire Footwear,

LLC (“Esquire”); FILA U.S.A., Inc. (“Fila”); Fortune Dynamic, Inc. (“Fortune Dynamic”); ‘

Fujian Xinya I&E Trading Co. Ltd. (“Xinya”); Gina Group, LLC (“Gina Group”); H&M Hennes

' U.S. Trademark Registration No. 4,398,753 (“the >753 Registration”).
2U.S. Trademark Registration No. 3,258,103 (“the 103 Registration™).
? U.S. Trademark Registration No. 1,588,960 (“the *960 Registration™).

-1-
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& Mauritz LP (“H&M”); Highline United LLC d/b/a Ash Footwear USA (“Highline”); Hitch
Enterprises Pty Ltd d/b/a Skeanie (“Skeanie”); Iconix Brand Group, Inc. d/b/a Ed Hardy
(“Iconix”); Kmart Corporation (“Kmart”); Mamiye Imports LLC d/b/a Lilly of New York
(“Mamiye”); Nowhere Co., Ltd. d/b/a Bape (“Nowhere”); OPPO Original Corp. (“OPPO”);
Orange Clubwear, Inc. (“Orangé Clubwear”); Ositos Shoes, Inc. d/b/a Collection’O (“Ositos™);
PW Shoes Inc. (“PW Shoes”); Ralph Lauren Corporation (“Ralph Lauren”); Shenzhen
Foreversun Industrial Co., Ltd. a/k/a Shenzhen Foreversun Shoes Co., Ltd. (“Foreversun’); Shoe
Shox, Skechers U.S.A. Inc. (“Skechers™); Tory Burch LLC (“Tory Burch”); Wal-Mart Stores, .
Inc. (“Walmart”); Wenzhou Cereals Oils & Foodstuffs Foreign Trade Co. Ltd. (“Wenzhou™);
Zhejiang Ouhai Intérnational Trade Co. Ltd. (“Ouhai”); and Zulily, Inc. (“Zulily”) as
Respondents. /d. }

On January 12, 2015, 2015, New Balance Athletic Shoe, Inc. (“New Balance”) moved to
intervene as a Respondent. bn January 27, 2015, the undersigned issued an initial determination
granting New Balance’s motion. (See Order No. 36.) The Commission determined not to review
this initial determination. See 80 Fed. Reg. 9748 (Feb. 24, 2015).

During the course of this Investigation, a number of the respondents settled,* were found

in default’, or were terminated from the Investigation.6’ 7 On February 23, 2015, the undersigned

4 Converse reached settlement agreements with twenty-one Respondents. (See Order No. 32, Initial Determination
Granting Joint Mot. to Terminate Investigation as to Skeanie Shoes, Inc. Based on Settlement Agreement and
Consent Order (Jan. 20, 2015); Order No. 33, Initial Determination Granting Joint Mot. to Terminate Investigation
as to PW Shoes, Inc. Based on Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (Jan. 22, 2015); Order No. 34, Initial
Determination Granting Joint Mot. to Terminate Investigation as to Ositos Shoes, Inc. Based on Settlement
Agreement and Consent Order (Jan. 22, 2015); Order No. 52, Initial Determination Granting Joint Mot. to Terminate
Investigation as to Ralph Lauren Corporation Based on Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (Feb. 3, 2015);
Order No. 55, Initial Determination Granting Joint Mot. to Terminate Investigation as to OPPO Original Corp.
Based on Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (Feb. 13, 2015); Order No. 57, Initial Determination Granting
Joint Mot. to Terminate Investigation as to H & M Hennes & Mauritz LP Based on Settlement Agreement (Feb. 23,
2015); Order No. 59, Initial Determination Granting Joint Mot. to Terminate Investigation as to Zulily, Inc. Based
on Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (Mar. 3, 2015); Order No. 65, Initial Determination Granting Joint
Mot. to Terminate Investigation as to Nowhere Co. Ltd. d/b/a/ Bape Based on Settlement Agreement and Consent
Order (Mar. 10, 2015); Order No. 67, Initial Determination Granting Joint Mot. to Terminate Investigation as to The
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Aldo Group Based on Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (Mar. 10, 2015); Order No. 69, Initial
Determination Granting Joint Mot. to Terminate Investigation as to Gina Group, LLC Based on Settlement
Agreement and Consent Order (Mar. 12, 2015); Order No. 70, Initial Determination Granting Joint Mot. to
Terminate Investigation as to Tory Burch LLC Based on Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (Mar. 13, 2015);
Order No. 73, Initial Determination Granting Joint Mot. to Terminate Investigation as to Brian Lichtenberg, LLC
Based on Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (Mar. 30, 2015); Order No. 80, Initial Determination Granting
Joint Mot. to Terminate Investigation as to Fila U.S.A., Inc. Based on Settlement Agreement and Consent Order
(Apr. 7, 2015); Order No. 86, Initial Determination Granting Joint Mot. to Terminate Investigation as to Mamiye
Imports LLC d/b/a Lilly of New York and Shoe Shox Based on Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (Apr. 10,
2015); Order No. 93, Initial Determination Granting Joint Mot. to Terminate Investigation as to Iconix Brand Group,
Inc. Based on Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (Apr. 20, 2015); Order No. 108, Initial Determination
Granting Joint Mot. to Terminate Investigation as to A-List, Inc. d/b/a Kitson Based on Settlement Agreement and
- Consent Order (May 12, 2015); Order No. 114, Initial Determination Granting Joint Mot. to Terminate Investigation
as to Esquire Footwear Based on Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (June 2, 2015); Order No. 128, Initial
Determination Granting Joint Mot. to Terminate Investigation as to Fortune Dynamic, Inc. Based on Settlement
Agreement and Consent Order (June 29, 2015); Order No. 154, Initial Determination Granting Joint Mot. to
Terminate Investigation as to CMerit USA, Inc. Based on Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (July 23, 2015);
Order No. 155, Initial Determination Granting Joint Mot. to Terminate Investigation as to Kmart Corporation Based
on Settlement Agreement and Consent Order (July 29, 2015).) The Commission did not review any of these initial
determinations. (See Notice of a Comm’n Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the
Investigation as to Respondent Skeanie Shoes, Inc. Based on a Consent Order Stip. and Consent Order (Feb. 10,
2015); Notice of a Comm’n Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as
to Respondent Ositos Shoes, Inc. Based on a Consent Order Stip. and Consent Order (Feb. 10, 2015); Notice of a
Comm’n Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to Respondent PW
Shoes, Inc. Based on a Consent Order Stip. and Consent Order (Feb. 10, 2015); Notice of a Comm’n Determination
Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to Respondent Ralph Lauren Corporation
Based on a Consent Order Stip. and Consent Order (Mar. 4, 2015); Notice of a Comm’n Determination Not to
Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to Respondent OPPO Original Corp. Based on a
Consent Order Stip., Consent Order, and Settlement Agreement (Mar. 12, 2015); Notice of a Comm’n
Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to Respondent H & M
Hennes & Mauritz LP Based on a Settlement Agreement (Mar. 12, 2015); Notice of a Comm’n Determination Not
to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to Respondent Zulily, Inc. Based on a Consent
Order Stip., Consent Order, and Settlement Agreement (Mar. 24, 2015); Notice of a Comm’n Determination Not to
Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to Respondent Aldo Group Inc. Based on a
Consent Order Stip., Consent Order, and Settlement Agreement (Mar. 30, 2015); Notice of a Comm’n
Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to Respondent Nowhere Co.
Ltd. Based on a Consent Order Stip., Consent Order, and Settlement Agreement (Mar. 30, 2015); Notice of a
Comm’n Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to Respondent
Tory Burch LLC Based on a Consent Order Stip., Consent Order, and Settlement Agreement (Apr. 1, 2015); Notice
of a Comm’n Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to Respondent
Gina Group, LLC Based on a Consent Order Stip., Consent Order, and Settlement Agreement (Apr. 1, 2015); Notice
of a Comm’n Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to Respondent
Brian Lichtenberg, LLC Based on a Consent Order Stip., Consent Order, and Settlement Agreement (Apr. 24,
2015); Notice of a Comm’n Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as
to Respondent FILA U.S.A., Inc. Based on a Consent Order Stip., Consent Order, and Settlement Agreement (Apr.
24, 2015); Notice of a Comm’n Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation
as to Respondents Mamiye Imports LLC, d/b/a Lilly of New York and Shoe Shox Based on a Consent Order Stip.,
Consent Order, and Settlement Agreement (May 4, 2015); Notice of a Comm’n Determination Not to Review an
Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to Respondent Iconix Brand Group, Inc. Based on a Consent
Order Stip., Consent Order, and Settlement Agreement (May 13, 2015); Notice of a Comm’n Determination Not to
Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to Respondent A-List, Inc., d/b/a Kitson Based on
a Consent Order Stip., Consent Order, and Settlement Agreement (June 4, 2015); Notice of a Comm’n
Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to Respondent Esquire
Footwear LLC Based on a Consent Order Stip., Consent Order, and Settlement Agreement (June 12, 2015); Notice
of a Comm’n Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to Respondent
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found Respondents Dioniso, Foreversun, and Xinya in d.efault.8 (See Order No. 58.) On May 8,
2015, the undersigned found Ouhai and Wenzhou in default.’ (See Order No. 106.) None of the
Defaulting Respondents have contested Converse’s allegations that they have violated and
continue to violate section 337. Skechers, Walmart, Highline, and New Balance are the only
respondents who remain active in this Investigation.

The evidentiary hearing was held August 4-10, 2015.

B. The Parties

1. Converse

Converse is a Delaware corporation with its headquarters and principal place of business

located in North Andover, Massachusetts. (CX-00001 at § 45.) Converse designs, develops,

markets, and sells footwear, namely performance and lifestyle footwear. (Id. at 4 47-48.)

Fortune Dynamic, Inc. Based on a Consent Order Stip., Consent Order, and Settlement Agreement (July 15, 2015);
Notice of a Comm’n Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to
Respondent CMerit USA, Inc. Based on a Consent Order Stip., Consent Order, and Settlement Agreement (Aug. 12,
2015); Notice of a Comm’n Determination Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as
to Respondent Kmart Corporation Based on a Consent Order Stip., Consent Order, and Settlement Agreement (Aug.
14, 2015).)
> Those respondents found in default are referred to herein as the “Defaulting Respondents.”

¢ Orange Clubwear moved to terminate the Investigation as to itself based on a consent order stipulation and
proposed consent order. The undersigned granted the motion on March 10, 2015. (See Order No. 68.) The
Commission did not review this initial determination. (See Notice of Comm’n Determination Not to Review an
Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to Respondent Orange Clubwear, Inc. Based on a Consent
Order Stipulation and Consent Order (Mar. 25, 2015).)
7 Respondent Edamame Kids, Inc. was terminated for good cause pursuant to Commission Rule 210.21(a)(1). (See
Order No. 91, Initial Determination Granting Mot. to Terminate the Investigation for Good Cause as to Respondent
Edamame Kids, Inc. Without Prejudice (Apr. 17, 2015).) The Commission did not review this initial determination.
(See Notice of a Comm’n Decision Not to Review an Initial Determination Terminating the Investigation as to
Respondent Edamame Kids, Inc. for Good Cause and Without Prejudice (May 12, 2015).)
" 3 The Commission determined not to review this initial determination. (See Notice of Comm’n Determination Not to
Review an Initial Determination Finding Certain Respondents in Default (Mar. 12, 2015).)
® The Commission determined not to review this initial determination. (See Notice of a Comm’n Determination Not
to Review an Initial Determination Finding Respondents Zhejiang Ouhai Int. Trade Co. Ltd. and Wenzhou Cereals
Oils & Foodstuffs Foreign Trade Co. Ltd. in Default (June 2, 2015).)

-4
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2, Active Respondents
a) Skechers
Skechers is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business located in
Manhattan Beach, California. (CIB at 10; RIB at 7; see also CX-00001 at § 67.) Skechers’
Accused Products include shoes sold under the product lines identified as “Bobs,” Twinkle

Toes,” “Daddy’$ Money,” and “HyDee HyTop.” (CIB at 10.) Examples of the Accused Products

are set forth below:

__ Shoe Model Name Shoe Model Name

e -

Image of Shoe i Image of Shoe

Hydec Hytop -

Boh's Utapia Low

Gimme Starry Skics

Bob's Utopin Skyline Daddy'S Morcy -
High Gimme Lone Star
Twinkle Toes Shuffles p(";i":f;s ’:i"':;‘ .
Streetfeet (Blue) i .c. ueho
Dinero
Twinkle Toes Shuffles
Wild Spark

(CDX-00240.040.)
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b) Walmart

Walmart is a Delaware corporation headquartered in Bentonville, Arkansas. (RIB at 7;
see also CX-00001 at  93.) Walmart’s Accused Products include shoes sold under the “Faded

Glory” and “Kitch” product lines. (CIB at 11.) Examples of the Accused Products are set forth

below:

X Ao age AF NP

Garanlmak Toddler
Clel's Canreas

Faded Glory - Men's
Sncsher with Toe Cap

Stinson

Faded Glory - Fire l’:ﬁ:& :;phty . l{?g‘;
Truek Srcaker

Boy's Canvay Lace

Faded Glory - Girls
Star Daze Up Classke Sneaker
Faded Glory - Police Carnlonaty Toddier
Car Boy's Cans iy Snvaker

US Polo Avsn

Kitch Trédsafe Unlsex Padidock 1.6 Mend
Wark Shoey Sire 9 Rtack Convas
Snewker Shocs

Alripeed Girl's High

Faded Glory - Gin'z
Top Skate Sneaker

Canvas ‘Tee (ap

Sneaker

(CDX-00240.060.)
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c) Highline
Highline is a Delaware limited liability company headquartered in Hyde Park,
Massachusetts. (RIB at 7.) Highline’s Accused Products include shoes sold under the “Ash”

product line. (CIB at 11.) Examples of the Accused Products are set forth below:

Shoe Moded Nanw | Shoe Modd Name | Tonge of Shoe.

Eagle Yirgo

Vodka

Velean

Yenus Voleano

Veronhis Vele

Vox

Vieky

(CDX-00240.087.)
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d) New Balance
New Bélance is a Massachusetts corporation with its principal place of business located
in Boston, Massachusetts. (RIB at 7; CIB ét 12.) New Balance’s Accused Products'® include
shoes sold under the “PF Flyers Center,” “PF Flyers Bob Cousy,” and “PF Flyers Sumfun”

product line. (CIB at 12.) Examples of the Accused Products are set forth below:

Shoe Model Name | Image of Shoe

Shoe Model Name | Image of Shoe

‘,./{\\
NN

. el M

Bob Cousy Lo L:’ ‘{a;;;k\

"Center Hi

Center Lo Som Fun Hi

Bob Cousy Hi Sum Fun Lo

(CDX;OO240.1 14.)
3. Defaulting Respondents
a) Dioniso
Dioniso is an Italian corporation with its principal place of business Iocated at Via
Pievaiola 166-f2, 06132 Perugia, Italy. (CX-00001 at § 182.) Dioniso’s Accused Products

include “Black Vintage Swarovski Converse” footwear products. (Id. at § 184.)

1 The Accused Products originally included the CPT Hi and CPT Lo model sneakers (“CPT footwear”). New
Balance moved to terminate the Investigation as to the CPT footwear based on a consent order stipulation. The
undersigned granted the motion on April 9, 2015. (See Order No. 83.) The Commission determined not to review the
initial determination and issued the consent order. (See Notice of a Comm’n Determination Not to Review an Initial
Determination Terminating the Investigation as to Certain Accused Prods. of Respondent New Balance Athletic
Shoe, Inc. Based on a Consent Order Stipulation and Consent Order; Issuance of Consent Order (May 6, 2015).)

-8-
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| b) Foreversun

Fore\./el‘reun is a Chinese company with its principal place of business located at Room
1109-1112, F11, Yousong Science & Technology Building, Ist Road of Donghuan, Longhua
Bao’an, Shenzhen City, 518109 Guangdong, China. (CX-00001 at 9 482.) Foreversun’s Accused
Products include its “Blue” footwear products. (Id. at § 484.)

c) Ouhai

Ouhai is a diversified 'enterprise group engaged in the import and export of products,
including footwear produets, through its partner factories with an address at Building B, Jinzhou
Building, Wenzhou Avenue, Wenzhou, Zhejiaﬁg, China. (CX-00001 at § 560.) Ouhai is a
subsidiary of Wenzhou Jinzhou Group Co Ltd, located at Jinzhou Industrial Park, Caodai
Village, Guoxi Town, Ouhai, Wenzhou, Zhejiang Province, China. (/d). Ouhai has imported
and/or sold for importation the accused footwear products of at least Respondents Aldo and
OPPO, including Aldo’s “Sprenkle” and OPPO’s “Neo” footwear prodqus. (CX-OOOOI at 9 66,
561-562.)

d) Wenzhou

Wenzhou is a foreign trade company involved in the export of footwear and app_arei.
(CX-00001 at § 573.) Wenzhou is located at 24/F, Wenzhou International Trade Centre, 8
Liming West Road, Wenzhou 325003, Zhejiang, China. (/d.) Wenzhou is a subsidiary of.
Wenzhou International Trade Group Co., Ltd., located at I3/F, Wenzhou International Trade
Center, 236 Westv Liming Road, Werizhou City, Zhejiang i’rovince, and does business as
Whenzhou King-Footwear Co., Ltd. (Id). Wenzhou has imported and/or sold for importation the
accused footwear p_reducts of at least Respondent Ositos, including Ositios’s “Men’s Low-Top”

footwear products. (Id. at 9§ 66, 575-576.)
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e) Xinya

Xinya specializes in design, development, gcoinmerce, import and export trade,
warehousing logistics and manufacturing, with an_address at Floor 4, Bliilding A, China Shoes
Capital, ChendaiTown, Jinjiang, Fujian 62211, China. (CX-00001 at q 545.) Xinya has imported
and/or sold for importation the accused fooiwear products of at least Respondent Fila, including
Fila’s “Original Canvas” footwear products. (/d. at Y 66, 548-549.)

C.  The Asserted Trademarks

Geilerally, thé “anatomy” of a shoe is divided into three parts: (1) the “upper,” which is
the inaterial portion that more or less surrounds and covers the top of the foot; (2) the “midsole”
portion between the upper and the outsole that can pioi/ide cushioning and/or support structure to
the shoé; and (3) the “outsole,” which refers to the tread or bottom portion of the shoe ordinarily
in contact with the ground. (CX-00001 at q 8, n. 1) In this Investigation, Converse asserts
common law and federally registered trademark rights in 'the midsole and outsole designs of
~ Converse’s Chuck Taylor All-Star shoes. (Id. at 72, 4, 8.)

1. C(inverse Midsole Trademarl; (“CMT”)

Converse asserts that its registered trademark and common law trademark rights cover
“the combination of the toe cap, mu_lti-téxtured toe bumper, and two midsole stripes that
Converse commonly uses in connection with All Star shoes (i.e., the ‘CMT").” (CIB at 6.) :

On August 6, 2012, Converse filed an application to register the midsole désign. At that
time, Converse described its midsole tradeniérk as consisting of “the design of the.,two stripés on
the midsole of the shoe, the design of the toe cap, the design of the multi-layered toe bumper
| featuring diam(inds and line paiterns, aild the relative position of these elements to each other.”

(CX-00226.0015.) The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) issued the °753

- -10-
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Registratibq on the Principal Register on September 10, 2013. (CX-00002.0002.)

The undersigned believes the asserted trademark rights in the CMT should be defined in
accordance with the depiction (see below) and description of the mark found in the ;753
Registration, which states that the mark consists of “the design of the two stripes on the midsole
of the shoe, the design of the toe cap, the design of the multi-layered toe bumper featuring
diamonds and line patterns, and the relative position of these elements to each other.” (/d.; see

also CX-00226.0015.)

(CX-00226.0023; CX-OO‘OO2.0002.)
2. Converse Outsole Trademark (“COT”)

Converse also asserts protectable rights in the outsole design, which is at issue only with

respect to the Defaulting Respondents. (CIB at 8.) Converse claims that these rights cover “a

distinct diamond pattern outsole” used in connection with the Chuck Taylor All Star shoes, as

showﬁ below. (Id.)

CPX-0035  CPX.0036

(CPX-0035; CPX-0036.)

-11-
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Converse holds two federally registered trademarks related.to the COT — the *960 and
103 Registrations. (CX-00003; CX-00004.) The USPTO issued the ’960 Registration on March
27, 1990 and the 103 Registration on July 3, 2007. (CX-0004; CX-00228; CX-10371; CX-
00003; CX-00227; CX-10372.) The designs depicted in the *960 and 103 Registrations are

shown below:

ST 2 w
N e o
ALY %/’w s
INZRZNE N
AN I TN
e e e =

‘960 Registration (CX-4)

‘103 Registration (CX-3)

(CX-00004; CX-00003.) Both registrations are incontestable. (CX-00001 ét 19 39, 41.)
II. IMPORTATION OR SALE |

Section 337(a)(1) prohibits, inter alia, “[t]he importation into the Unitéd States, the sale
for importation, or the sale within the United States after importation by the owner, importer, or
consignee, of articles that infringe a valid and enforceable United States trademark registered
under the Trademark Act,” if an industry in the United Stétes relating to the articles protected by
the trademark exists or is in the process of being established. 19 U.S.C. §§ 1337(a)(1)(C), (a)(2).
 Section 337 of the Tariff Act also prohibits unfair methods of competition and unfair .alct‘s- in the
importation of articles into the United Stét_es, or in the sale of such articles by the ownetr,
importer, or cohsignee, the threat or effecf of whiéh is to destroy or. substantially jnjﬁre an

industry in the United States. 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(1)(A).

-12-
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| Skechers, Walmart, N¢w :Balance, and Highline have all ¢ntéred into stipulations |
regarding importation, wherein they concede that the importation réquifément of section 337 is
satisfied. (CX-04157C (Walmart); CX-04159C (New Balance); CX—O9I309C (Skechers); CX-
11259C (Highline).) As to the Defaulting Respondgnts, the evidence demonstrates that the
importation requiremént is also satisfied. (See, e.g.,: CX-OOOOI at 9 625, 643,:647-650; CX-
00041 (Dionisq); CX-00190 (Foreversun); CX-00181C (Xinya); CX-00184C (Ouhai); CX-
00188C (Wenzhou).) | ”
Accordingly, the undersigned hereby ﬁnds‘that the importation requirement of section
337 is satisfied with respect to Skechers; Walmart, Highline, New Balance and the Defaulting
Respondents.
M. JURISDICTION
A. Subject Matter Jurisdiction
Section 337 confers subject matter jﬁrisdiction on the Commission to invgstigéte, and if
appropriate, to provide a remedy for, unfair acts and uﬁfair methods of competition in‘ the
importation, the sale for importation, or the sale after importation of articles into the United
States. Seé 19 US.C. §§ 1337(a)(_1)(A), (a)(1)(C) and (é)(2). Converse filed a complaint alleging
a violation of this subsection. Accordingly, the Commission has subject matter jurisdiction over
this InVestigation under section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930. Amgen, ‘Inc. v. US. Iht 'l Trade
Comm’n, 902 F.2d 1532, 1536 (Fed. Cir. 1990).
” B. Personal Jurisdiction
- Skechers, Walmart? Highline and New Balance all have participated in this Investigation.‘
The Commission therefore has personal jurisdiction over them. See, e.g., Certain Optical Disk

Controller Chips & Chipsets & Prods. Containing Same, Including DVD Players & PC Optical
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Storage Devices, Inv. No. 337-TA-5.06, Initial Determination at 4-5 (May 16, 2005) (unrevi¢wed
in relevant part). By defaulting, the Defaulﬁng Respondents have waived their right to céﬁtest
that in personam jurisdiction exists. See Certain Protective Cases and Components Thereof, Inv.
No. 337-TA-780, Initial Determination at 46 (June 29, 2012) (“Protective Cases”).

C. In Rem Jurisdiction

As discussed above, Skechers, Walmart, Highline and New Balance do not dispute that
the importation requirement of section 337 is satisfied. See Section II, supra. The Commission
therefore has in rem jurisdiction over the Accused Products by virtue of the fact that accused
footwear products have been imported into the United States. See Sealed Air Corp. v. U S Int’l
Trade Comm’n, 645 F.2d 976, 985 (C.C.P.A. 1981).
IV. VALIDITY OF THE CMTY |

In order for a trademark to be yalid, it must be nonfunctional and distinctive (i.e., has
acquired “secondary meaning”). Certain Ink Markers & Packaging Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-
522, Order No. 30 at 26 (July 25, 2005) (“Ink Markers”). Under the Lanham Act, fed_eralE
| registration is prima facie evidence of validity. 15 U.S.C. § 1057(b); Certain Handbags, |
Litggage, Accessories, & Packaging Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-754, Order No. 16 at 6 (Mar. 5,-
2012) (“Handbags™). This presumption “shift[s] the burden of production to the defendant.”
Apple Inc. v. Samsung Elecs. Co., 786 F.3d 983, 995 (Fed. Cir. 2015). Accordingly, 1n order to
establish that the trademark is not valid, it is Respondents’ burden to establish, by a
preponderance of evli‘,dence, that the traderhafk is not distinctive and/or that. it is functional.

This presumi)tion does not apply to the asséﬁed common law frademarks, howévef.
Converse therefore bears the burden of establishing that the common law trademarks have

secondary meaning and are not functional. Wal-Mart Stores Inc. v. Samara Brothers Inc., 529

-14 -



Case: 16-2497 Document: 1-5 Page: 20 Filed: 08/16/2016
| PUBLIC VERSION
U.S. 205, 216 ‘(200(.):). The evidence shows that the common law and federally registered rights
are co-extensive in: scope. (CX-00247C at Q/A 22-24.) Thus, the burden is the only difference in
the validity analysis."*

A | Secondary Meaning

To establish that trade dress'? is distinctive, the evidence must show that the trade dress
has acquired secondary meaning. Ink Markers, Order No. 30 at 27. Secondary meaning occurs
when “in the minds of the public, the primary significance of a [mark] is to identify the source of
the product rather than the product itself.” /d. (quoting Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Samara Bros.,
Inc., 529 U.S. 205, 216 (2000)).

The ITC considers direct and circumstantial evidence to assess secondary meaning,
including: (1) the degree and manner of use; (2) the exclusivity of use; (3) the length of use; (4)
the degree and manner of sales, advertising and promotional activities; (5) the effectiveness of

‘the effort to create secondary meaning; (6) the evidence of deliberate copying; and (7) the
~ evidence that actual purchasers associate the trade dress with a particular source. Certain Digital
Multimeters, and Products with Multimeter Functionality, Inv. No. 337-TA-588, Order No. 22 at
8 (Feb. 4, 2008) (unreviewed) (“Digital Multimeters”). These factors are ﬁot weighed equally.
Rather, “the strongest and most relevant evidence regarding whether a mark has acquired
secondary meaning . . . 1s evidence by a public opinion survey or p.oll.” Ink Markers, Order No.

30 at 27. Thus, the undersigned will analyze the last factor first.

! Respondents filed a motion in limine with respect to the burden. In that motion, Respondents argued that
“[blecause all Respondents began selling their Accused Products prior to the date of Converse’s trademark
registration, Converse does not benefit from any evidentiary presumptions.” (Respondents’ Motion in Limine No. 8
to Confirm the Burden of Proof at 2.). The undersigned denied this motion.

12 For this section, “trade dress” refers to the asserted federally registered and common law trademarks. .
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1. Evidence that Actual Purchasers Associate the Trade Dress with a
Particular Source - :

The Commission relies upon eight factors in determining the credibility and reliability of
surveys:

(1) Examination of the proper universe;

(2) A representative sample drawn from the proper universe;

(3) A correct mode of questioning interviewees;

(4) Recognized experts conducting the survey;

(5) Accurate reporting of data gathered;

(6) Sample design, questionnaire, and .interviewing in accordance with generally
accepted standards of objective procedures and statistics in the field of
surveys

(7) Sample design and interviews conducted independently of the attorneys; and

(8) The interviewers, trained in this field, have no knowledge of the litigation or
the purpose for which the survey is to be used.

Ink Markers at 27-28.

In support of their claim that the CMT has acquired secondary meaning, Converse
introduced the testimony of two experts, Dr. Ford and Dr. McDonald, each of whom performed
surveys which they claim support a finding of secondary meaning. Respondents, in turn,
introduced the testimony of two different experts, Ms. Butler _and Dr. Stewart, whose results
Respondents claim weigh against such a finding. Staff argues that Ms. Butler’s surveys “are the
most credible and reliable evidence [of secondary meaning] and should be given the greatest
weight.” (SIB at 25.) The specifics of each of these surveys are discussed in further detail below.

a) Design of Test and Control Shoes

One of the key disputes between the parties with respect to the reliability of the surveys
involves the design of the control and test shoes used in each of the surveys. Respondents
contend that the test and control shoe should be as similar as possible, with the only difference

being that the design elements — here, the CMT — are removed in the control shoe, but present in

the test shoe. (See, e.g., RIB at 21.) Converse, on the other hand, insists that the design of the
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»13 while not being so far removed as to

control shoe must be selected in order to redﬁcé:;‘noise,
drive association away from Converse. (See, e.g., CIB at 35-36). Resolution of this dispute will
determine the weight that the undersigned should give to the survey results of Dr. Stewart and
certain surveys of Dr. Ford and Ms. Butler.

i. Dr. Stewart’s Survey.

Dr. Stewart conducted two surveys: an Adﬁlt Shoe Survey, coﬁsisting of female
customers who reported that they either had purchased sneakers within the past six months or
planned to purchase sneakers in the next six moﬁths (RX-2090 at Q/A 36); and (2) a Children’s
Shoe Study, which consisted of parents of female children who reported that they had purchased
sneakers for their daughters (ages 3-10 years) in the past six months or that they planned to do so
within the next six months. (/d.) “Dr. Stewart’s survey used a test image of a [Chuck Taylor All
Star] sneaker with the three design elements and a control image of the same [Chuck Taylor All
Star] sneaker without those three design features.” (RIB at 28 (citing RX-2090.002_-.014).)
According to Respondents, “[t]he only differences between the test and control images‘ were the

product design elements of the asserted trade dress.” (Id.) Below are depictions of the control

and test shoes used by Dr. Stewart:

13 Noise “typically encompasses results that are unintentionally created either by the design of the survey or the
participation in the survey or the result of extraneous results, or factors other than what we’re trying to test.” (Butler,
Tr. at 623:5-9.)
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Respondents explain that “Dr. Stewart’s survey reported only 12% and 15% net mentions
of Converse in the adult survey and child survey, respectively.” (/d. (citing RX-2090.002-016).)
Respondents contend that, when the sur§ey respondents did mention Converse, it was for reasons
other than the CMT, and the survey respondents “rarely mentioned any of the three claimed
design elements” in their responses. (/d. (citing RX-2090.002-0.19).)

Converse asserts that Dr. Stewart’s results are actually consistent with a finding that the

CMT has secondary meaning. (CIB at 40). Converse notes that Dr. Stewart’s survey “found that
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52% and 67% of :tést respondents associated [the Cor_l\./erse: high-top sneaker bearing the CMT]
with vaonvversev."’_ ({d. (citing RX-2090 at Q/A 52.).) Converse also contends, however, that Dr.
Stewaﬁ’s surve’js suffer from two flaws. First, Converse asserts that Dr. Stewart’s control shoes
were improper. (CIB at 40; CRB at 19). Converse explains that the “control was designéd to cue
sufvéy respéndents to think of Converse, thereby artificially elevating the ‘noise’ and lowering
| the net results.” (CRB at 19 (qiting CX-10843C at Q/A 94, 97; CX-11044 at .003, .012-.013).)
~ Converse also asserts that the “control looks almost identical to an All Star shoe with an all-
white CMT.” (d. (citing RDX-32C at .003-.004; CDX-4.0011).) Finally, Converse argues that X
the survey @iverse was under-inclusive, as Dr. Stewart excluded men altogether in one sampleE
and, in the other, excluded parents who purchased sneakers for their sons. (/d. at 20 (citing CX-
10843C at Q/A 112-124; Stewart, Tr. at 699:14-701:11-14).)

Staff agrees that Dr. Stewart’s survey fails to satisfy the first Qf the Commission’s Survey |
Factors. (SIB at 34). Speciﬁéally,nStaff_ asserts that the universes selected for the surveys are
",‘ﬁnder-inclusivd’ and “do not represenf all the a;:tual and prospective purchasers of Converse’s
Chuck Taylor AAll Star shoes.” (Id. (citing CX-10843 at Q/A 112-124).)

Réépondéﬁts argue that the survey uﬂiverse was proper. Respondents assert that “Dr.
Stewart offefed unrebutted testimony thét ‘there is a negligible difference’ between the survey
responses of men compared to women in his surveys, and no appreciable differencé in results by
gencvler- in Dr. Ford’s and Dr. McDonaid’s surveys.” (RIB at 29 (citing Stewart, Tr. at 732:25-
7_3'.3':1”9).) They assert that there is “no ‘ev'i.'dence that Dr. Stewart’s survey results would have
been an:y different had Dr. Stewart included more men in his study.” (RRB at 20-21 (citing JX-

0416C at 287:1-11, 306:3-307:2).)

-19-



. Case: 16-2497 Document: 1-5 Page: 25 Filed: 08/16/2016
B ~ PUBLIC VERSION B
; Reépqndents also contend that the cc_)'ritr.o.l‘shoes were apprépriate. They assert that the
B controis_ “were carefully designed to ﬁqe;sure secondary meaning }of the alleged midsole
traderriérk.” (RIB at 29). Respondehts insist that “the failure of Converse’s experts to adopt this
~ approach renders their surveys unreliable.” (Id. (citing RX-10266C at Q/A.7).)

The undersigned agrees with Converse that the most appropriéte control is one that aims
to reduce noise and thus Dr. Stewart’s selections were improper. The evidence shows that “visual
cues” in the control shoes used in Dr. Stewart’s surveys “primed survey respondents to associate
the control stimulus with a Converse brand sneaker.” (CX-10843 at Q/A 127.) Specifically, the
evidence shows _that:the control stimulus “contdined other design elements of the Chuck Taylor
All Star higﬁ-top sneaker that were highly repognizable and reminded consumers of Converse”
including the shape and silhouette of the high;fop neck, the brushed metal eyestay grommets, and
the stitching. oh the upper part of the shoe. (Id. at Q/A 128.) This cpnclus_ion is bolstered by the |
fact that some of the design elements in 'the control shoe are part of cher trade dress rights
registered by Converse — and which ar;i not involved in this Investigation. (CX-10843 at Q/A
129-130; CX-0086.1.) Because a tradgniéfk registration is presumed tb be valid, it is therefore
also p:ft:z:sumed tvhat‘ these design _elérﬂents have acquired secondary meaning. As such, if ié
_ presurﬁed that the presence of theéé design elements in the control shoe would make it likely fhat
a survey respondent would associate the shoes with one brand — Converse.

The evidence confirms this is the case. Commgnts from the survey respondents féuppofted
the idea that these respondents did, in fact, associate the high-top design with Converse. (CX-
10843 at Q/A 132.) Additional evidence that-thé controi stimulus created high rates:of “noise” is
found in the fact that 43% of survey respén_dents iﬁ the Adult Shoe Survey énd 60% in the

Children’s Shoe Survey sample associated the control stimulus with either Converse or a single
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source. (Id. at Q/A 134-135.) The evidence shows that these results are “unusually high.” (/d. af
Q/A 134.) Indeed, the Respondents’ other surveys contained significantly less noise in their
controls. (RX-01667C at Q/A 28, 34 (indicating the “noise” in Ms. Butler’s surveys was 18.5%
and 24.5%).)

The undersigned also agrees with Converse dnd Staff that Dr. Stewart’s universe was
under-inclusive. Thé evidence shows that the proper universe in this Investigation wouid include
men and parénts of male children. (CX-10843 at Q/A 113-124; Butler, Tr. at 612:2-24).)

Accordingly, the undersigned finds that the results of Dr. Stewart’s surveys should be
disregarded.

ii. Dr. Ford’s Sur\:'ey

br. Ford conducted four separate surveys. Thé parties dispute whether the control and
test shoes were proper in Survey IV.

Converse explains that Survey IV “specifically measured secondary meaning of the
CMT.” (CIB at 35.) Converse asserts that “Dr. Ford isolated the CMT by showing an image :of it..
on a plain, non-distinctive canvas sneaker upper, Which depicted no other potentially d_istindtive
features that ordinarily appear on the upper of All Star shoes,” while the control shoe “came as
close as possible to the test stimulus without itself being infringing or misleading.” (Id. (citing
CX-00230C at Q/A 71. 131; CX-05017C).) According to Converse, Survey IV “shows that
60.65% of consumers (net using 2012 supplemental control; 54.17% using 2012 originai control)
associated the CMT with Converse, or with a sole yet anonymous source.” (Id. (citing CX-
00230C at Q/A 177, 179, 181, 186; CX-5017C at .0014, .0020, .0078, .0084).) Below are

depictions of the control and test shoes used by Dr. Ford:
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Control . ; R Test

(CDX-0230C.004, .018.)

Respondents dispute only the sixth factor — that Dr. Ford did not choose a proper sample
design for his surveys. Specifically, Respondents assert that Dr. Ford selected an improper
control which “did not isolate whether the asserted trade dress is the driver of secondary
meaning.” (RIB at 23 (citing Johnson, Tr. at 545:2-8; RX-10274 at Q/A 58-62; RX-10266C at
Q/A 41-46).) This complaint is grounded in the notion that “the general rule in selecting a
control is that it should share as many characteristics as possible with the test stimulus with the
exception of the characteristics being measured.” (Jd. (citing Ford, Tr. at 264:7-16).)
Respondents allege that Dr. Ford’s control shoe differed considerably by using “a different color
sole, a different Qverall shape, a different shoe tongue, a greater number of laces, a different
opening for the foot, and many other differences.” (Id. at 24 (citing Johnson, Tr. at 536:12-
545:1).) Respondents also note that, on the other hand, the test image included “numerous design
elements beyond the claimed elements (including the overall shape, the extended tongue, the foot
opening, and the laces) . . . each of which is in fact a ‘potentially distinctive feature’ of [the

Chuck Taylor All Star] brand shoes.” (RRB at 18 (citing Ford, Tr. at 296:6-304:6).)
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Staff agrees that the control ﬁsed by Dr. Ford was improper. (SIB at 33.) Staff notes that
“more than 50% of the fespondents who saw the corﬁrol stimuli associated it with a brand other
than Converse, Such as Airwalk, Vahs, Keds, etc.” (Id.‘ (citing CX-230C at Q/A 179).)

In response, Converse contends that “[a]ny differences between the uppers are negligible
and there is no evidence that they drove association toward or away from Converse.” (CIB at 36
(citing Butler, Tr. at 628:1-630:23; 632:6-633:8; 633:20-23; Stewart, Tr. at 722:11-18: 724:10-
13; 724:18-725:18; 726:14-728:22).) Converse also asserts that “a commonsense comparison
shows that Vvthere is nothing materially different between them other than the CMT.” (CRB at 21
(citing CX-230C at Q/A 110, 183).)

: The undersigned finds that the Dr. Ford’s study was flawed due to the use of an improper
control shoe. The evidence sho§vs that there are design elements in the control shoe that may
have ﬁrimed survey respondents to name other brands. (RX-10266C at Q/A 45 (testimony from
Dr. Stewart indicting that the differences in the control show minimize a'ssbciation with
Converse).) For exaﬁlple, the control shoe contained a black midsole. While Dr. Ford testified
that he did not believe that a black midsole would lead survey respondents awéy from Converse,
hé did not offer any survey data to support this belief. (Ford, Tr. at 324:24-325:5.) Additionally,
although he designed a suppleme‘ntal control to test whether the color of thé laces affect the
response, he did not do the same fo test _sole; color. (Id. at 321:11-16.) The results of the survey
confirm that design elements preseht 6nly in the control shoe cued survey respondeﬁts away
from Converse. The ‘evidence sho;ws that 50.46% of survey 'respondents associated the control
shoe with anothér Brand such as Airwalk, Vans, or Keds, while only 9.26% associated the test

shoe with these brands. (CX-00230C at Q/A 177-179.) Viewing the evidence in this manner, it is
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clear that the noise frém Survey IV is also “unusually high.” (See CX-10843C at .Q/A‘ 134
(indicating that noise levels of 43% and 60% were unusually high).)"* .

The evidence is, however, inconclusive as to whether the differences in the test shoe may
have “artificially elevated” noise and “cued survey respondents to think of Converse.” The
evidence shows that Dr. Ford’s test shoe had a different color sole, tongue, and foot opening than
the control shoe. (Ford, Tr. at 302:4-304:6.) There is no evidence in the record, however, that
shows that survey respondents necessarily associate these design elements with Converse. With
respect to sole color, Dr. Ford explained that Converse makes shoes with both a white and black.
sole, many other companies make shoes with a white sole, and the responses in Dr. Stewart and
Ms. Butler’s: survey showed that few respondents associated a shoe with Converse because of the
color of tile sole. (/d. at 324:24-326:1.) Dr. Ford also testified that, viewing the results of Surveys
I through IV as a whole, one can conclude that the upper of the test shoe did not influence the
association of the survey respondents. (Id. at 335:1-12.) Dr. Ford funher expléined that the
results of Surveys I through III allowed him to conclude “that what was driving the secondary
meaning [was] not other aspects of the Converse trade dress but the Converse midsole
trademark.” (Id. at 331:17-332:21.) Fuﬁher, Respondents failed to introduce their own evidence
demonstrating that these design elements did, in fact, prime survey respondents to select
Converse. (Id. at 326:6-328:3.) |

Accordingly, the undersigned does not find the results of Dr. Ford’s surveys persuasive.

' Dr. Lutz opined that the noise in Dr. Ford’s surveys averaged just over 19%. (CX-10843C at Q/A 139-140.) This
number actually represents the amount of survey respondents who associated the control sneaker with Converse,
Chuck Taylor, or All Star — not the number who associated the control shoe with one brand. (CX-00230C at Q/A
179.)
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iii. Ms. Butler’s “CBSC and Upper” Survey
Ms. Butler conducted two surveys to determine whether the CMT had acquired
secondary meaning. In the first survey — designated as the “CBSC and Upper” Survey — Ms.
Butler “used a test image of a sneaker with Velcro straps that was made of leather material onto
which she placed” the CMT. (RIB at 26 (citing RX-1667 at Q/A 49-57).) Below are depictions of

the control and test shoes used by Ms. Butler in this survey:

- .Control

According to Respondents, Ms. Butler “used a control image that was identical to the test image
but for the toe cap, toe bumper, and midsole stripes.” (Id. (citing RX-1667 at Q/A 63).)
Respondents contend that “more survey respondents indicated that they recognized the control
shoe, without the design elements of Converse's asserted trade dress, as the design of a single
brand.” (Id. at 27 (citing RX-1667 at Q/A 125-126).) As such, Respondents contend that the
specific design elements that make up Converse’s asserted trade dress do not have secondary
meaning. (/d. (citing RX-1667 at Q/A 139).)

Staff explains that “the CBSC and Upper Survey” “tested Converse’s assertion that the
CMT acts as a source identiﬁel; when combined with any style or upper of a shoe.” (SIB at 26

(citing RX-1667 at Q/A 47).) Staff notes that in “response to the CBSC and Upper Survey, 17%
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of respondénts from the test group and 18.5% of respondents from the control group indicated
that they recognized the design as one brand, for a net of -1.5%, and in an open énded response,
7.0% of respondents from the test group and 0% of respondents from the control group named
Converse, for a net of only 7%.” (Id. at 27 (citing RX-1667 at Q/A 30, 33, 125-126, 135-136).)
Based on the results of this survey, Staff “believes the evidence with respect to the CBSC and
Upper Survey shows that when the alleged trademark is attached to a sneaker upper design that
~ does not have any other indicia of a typical Converse All Star shoe (held constant over test and
control), consumers do not recognize the design elements at issue as a design of a single brand of
sneaker.” (Id. (citing RX-1667 at Q/A 129, 139).)

Converse asserts that the results of the “CBSC and Upper” survey shquld be disregarded.
Converse notes that Ms. Butler chose “an orthopedic, Medicare-approved Oasis shoe” as the
base for her control and test éhoes. (CRB at 19 (citing Butler, Tr. at 584:1-9; CDX-3.0001-
.0002).) Converse explains that this shoe was not a “blank canvas™ but rather a “mash-up of
Oasis and CMT” that “looked odd and signaled that the shoe was‘ not Converse.” (Id. (citing
Butler, Tr. at 6(:):7:7-608:1-; CDX-3.0004; RX-1667 at Q/A 57).)

Converse further contends that Ms. Butler’s use of the word “recognize™ in her survey.
questions waé improper. (CIB at 39 n. 15.) Converse explains that when Ms. Butler asked survey
respondents if they ““‘recognized’ (i.e., remember based on having seen it before) the image as
the design of one brand, . . . [t]he objectively correct answer to this question is ‘no’ because [the
survey] respondents could not have possibly seen it previously.” (/d. (citing RX-1667 at Q/A 50-
51, 575“Bﬁt1er, Tr. at 588:23-590:5, 606:1-5, 607:7-25; CX-10843C at Q/A 56).) Converse
explaihs: “In fact, 60% of respondents said they did not recognize the stimulus és the design of

any particular brand of sneakers.” (Id. (citing Butler, Tr. at 606:1-5).)
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Respondents .claim that Convers¢’s critidues of Ms. Butler’s surveys are “meriﬂess.”
(RIB at 27.) Respondents assert that Ms. Butler’s céntrol and test shoes “were carefully designed
to measure whether the asserted trade dress in and of itself has secondary meaning.” (/d.) They
also contend that Ms. Butler’s questions were proper. (Id. (citing RX-1667.024-.027; RX-1808;
JX-0410C at 121:4-16).)

Staff agrees that “[slecondary meaning surveys do not require the use of the word
associate, and Ms. Butler’s use of ‘recognize’ was not improper.” (SIB at 30 (citing McCarthy at
§ 15:1))

The undersigned finds that Ms. Butler’s use of the Oasis shoe as the basis for designing
her control and test shoes was improper. In a webinar given prior to the hearing, Ms. Butler
explained that, when designing a control, it is bossible to “create a product that is sb unusual or
so different from what’s existing in the marketplace that it can cause problems for your control
condition.” (Butler, Tr. at 624.: 2-7 (quoting from CX-872).) The evidence shows that this is what
occurred here.

Speciﬁcélly, the. evidence shows that the features on the Oasis shoe made it more likely
that survey respondents would not associate the brand with Converse. This is most evident when
one comparés the results of Ms. Butler’s “CBSC Onlj;” survey with the results of her “CBSC and
Upper” survey. In the “CBSC Only” survey, a net of 21.5% survey respondents recognized the
- CMT as the design of Converse. (RX-1667 at Q/A 34-36.) Yet, when this same design was
placed on an Oasis shoe, a net of negative  1 5% of survey respondents recognized this‘ design as
Conve_fée. (Id. at Q/A 28-30.) A compafison of these results shows that theré 1s sometli:ing abouf
the application of the CMT to the Oasis shoe that deterred survey respondents from associating

the shoe with Converse. (CX-10843C at Q/A 84.) This conclusion is bolstered by the fact that the
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results of Ms. Butlef’s “CBSC an_d-U}:f)'p_er’-’ survey were far lower from every other secondary: _
meaning survey submitted in the case. (RX-2090C at Q/A 52 (Dr. Stewart’s results finding a net
of 12% in the “Adult” survey and 15%. in the “Parents” survey); CX-00230C at Q/A 180-181
(Dr. Ford’s results in Survey IV finding a net association of 54.17%); CX-00235C at Q/A 88
(Dr. McDonald’s results finding a net association of 49%).) |

The problems with Ms. Butler’s choice of control are compounded by the fact that Ms.
Bu;nler asked whether the survey respondents “recognized” the shoe. The parties dispute whether
it is appropriate to use the word “recognize” ratner than “associate” when conducting a
se.condary meaning survey. Both Converse and Respondents point to excerpts from the well-
respected treatise, McCarthy .on Trademarks and Unfair Competition, in support of their
arguments. This treatise explains:

The prime element of secondary meaning is a mental association in buyers’ minds

between the alleged mark and the single source of the product. It is the word

‘association’ which appears most often in judicial definitions of secondary

meaning by both federal and state courts. The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals

observed that: “Secondary meaning has been defined as association, nothing

more.” :
MCCARTHY ON TRADEMARKS AND UNFAIR COMPETITION (4th Ed.) § 15:5 (hereinafter,
“McCarthy”). Thus, _one can conclude from McCarthy that most surveys will use the word
“associate.” Mccarthy does not specifically state that it is improper to use the word “recognize,”
however, and the Nint;n Circuit case cited may even provide support thaf this word is appropriate.
Levi Strauss & Co v. Blue Bell, Inc., 632 F 2d 817, 820 (9th Cir. 1980) (“The basic element of
secondary meanlng is a mental recogmtlon in buyers’ and potential buyers’ minds that products
connected vzvithvthe symbol or device emanate from or are associated with the same source.”).

The use ef fhe Word “recognize” is not therefore improper per se, :bnt must be evaluated

in the context of the surVey. McCarthy demonstrates, however, that the norm is to use the word
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“associate.”_ The other experts in this case confirm this, as well as Ms. Butler’s owﬁ writings.
(RX-2090C ét Q/A 48 (Dr. Stewart’s use of the word “associate”); CX-00230C at Q/A 140 (Dr.
Ford’s use of the word “aésociate”); Butler, Tr. at 596:6-597:10 (citing CX-858) (testimony from
Ms. Butler regarding the use of the word “recognize”); see also Stewart, Tr. at 691:8-16
(testimony from Dr. Stewart indicating he would not use the word “recognize” in the context of
his survey); id. at 692:24-693:10 (testimony from Dr. Stewart that he “would not use the term
recognize to get at the question of secondafy meaning, because people can recognize things for
many reasons”).) In order to determine whether it is appropriate in this case to deviate from the
norm, one must understand the reason another word was chosen. Yet, Ms. Butler does not offer
any explanation for using the word “recognize” in lieu of “associate.”” (RX-1667 at Q/A 100-
110.) It can be assﬁmed that every choicebthat an expért makes in formulating‘a survey is
deliberate and the lack of explanation may be telling. Indeed, Ms. Butler admits that word choice
is important as: she testified that asking survey respondents if they “recall” a stimuli would be
improper. (Butler, Tr. at 600:12-15.) It is also noteworthy that Ms. Butler is silent as to her
selection, even in the face of critiéism levied againét her by Dr. Lutz.'® (CX-10843C at Q/A 55)

The evidence further shows that survey reépondents were, in fact, confused by the use of
the word “recognize.” Specifically, three survey respondents indi(;ated that they r_ecognize ‘the
test shoe as “the design of more than one brand of sneaker,” yet noted it looked like a Converse
shoe. (Id. at Q/A 78.) For example, one survey responded stated: “The bottom of the sneaker
lodks in line with a converse [sic] brand sneaker but the. Velcro makes it lodk very odd in

relation to the converse [sic] brand of sneakers.” (Id.; see also CDX-10843C.005). The other two

15 Even Respondents admit that when an expert “diverge[s] from [a] well-established practice [she] has used in the
past,” the expert is expected to “offer a credible reason” for doing so. (RIB at 22.) :

16 During redirect, Ms. Butler was asked why she chose the word “recognize,” but her answer did not provide any
explanation. (Butler, Tr. at 644:13-23.) She only testified that she believe it was appropriate to use the word. (Id. at
644:24-645:2.)

-29.



Case: 16-2497 Document: 1-5 Page: 35 Filed: 08/16/2016
PUBLIC VERSION .
survey respondents provided similar nomments. (Id) While only a small. number of sur:\/ey
respondents articulated this problem, these comments provide snpport for the propnsition that the
use of the word “recognize” was problematic in this cobntex’t.17

For these reasons, the undersigned finds that the results of Ms. Butlers “CBSC and Upper

Survey” should be disregarded.
b) Other Surveys
i Dr. McDonald’s survey

Converse asserts that the survey results of Dr. McDonald “confirms the CMT has strong
secondary meaning as uséd in connection with high-top All Star shoes.” (CIB at 37 (citing CX-
235C at Q/A 25; CX-5185-92C).) Converse explains that a net result of 49% of the survey
respondents identified the test sneaker as Converse. (/d. at 38 (citing CX-235C at Q/A 88; CX-
5189C-92C).)

Respondents contend that Dr. McDonald’s survey results should be disregarded as her
survey was designed to mea‘s"ure secondary meaning in the overall appearance of the Chuck
Taylor All Star shoe — and not in the asserted design elements. (RIB at 22 (citing CX-00235C.2,
5;JX-0410C at 167:3-168:4).) |

Staff agrees with Respondents that Dr. McDonald’s survey did not specifically test the
CMT. (SIB at 31 (citing CX-00235 at Q/A 35).) Staff also contends that Dr. McDonald’s control
was improper and thét her test shoe biased the results in favnr of Converse. (Id. at 31-32.)

The undersig_ned' agrees with Staff and Respondents that Dr. McDonald’s survey results

should not be vconsi‘d‘ered. The survey was designed to test the “overall product configuration of

17 It is worth noting that the evidence shows that survey respondents often have a difficult time explaining why they
do or do not associate a stimulus with a certain brand. (Poret, Tr. at 225:3-17; CX-00235C at Q/A 70, 91.) Thus, it
may be that the problem was far more widespread but that the survey respondents were unable to amculate why they
did not associate the shoe with Converse.
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All Star high top shoes.f’ (CX-00235C at Q/A 25; JX-0410C at 167:3-168:4.) Accordingly, 1n
order for the results to be relevant, there would need to be evidence that the survey respondents
specifically identified the CMT as the reason why they associated the shoe with Converse.'® In
this case, the only such evidence is comments provided by survey respondents. A review of this
evidence shows that even these comments do not support Converse’s view of the survey. While
Converse notes that “43% [of respondents] identified style/desigﬁ/general appearance” as the
reason they associated the shoe with Converse, the evidence shows that design ¢lements not
associated with the CMT — such as the shape of the shoe — fall into this category. (CX-00235C at
Q/A 91; CX-05189C-92C; RX-IQ266C at Q/A 25).) Additionally, 43% of survey respondents
referenced the circle patch as the reason for identifying the test shoe with Converse — suggesting
that something other than the CMT caused the association. (CX-00235C at Q/A 91.) As Staff
explained: “In the past, the Commission has given ‘no weight’ to surveys where only a small
number of respondents who associated the product with complainant identified elements of the
asserted trade dress.” (SIB at 32 (citing Certainililuggage Prods., Inv. No. 337-TA-243, USITC
Pub. 1969, 1987 WL 450863, at 9-10 (Mar. 27, 1987)).)

Accordingly, the undersigned finds that the results of Dr. McDonald’s survey should be
disregarded.

ii. Dr. Ford’s Surveys I through II1

Converse asserts that Surveys I through III “evidence the strength of the CMT because

they show consumers strongly associate it with Converse even when features are added . . . or

omitted.” (CIB at 36 (citing CX-00230C at Q/A 162, 169, 175).) Converse explains that Survey I

18 The evidence shows that when features are present that are not part of the trade dress, the features may prime
survey respondents to identify the brand for reasons that are not related to the trade dress at issue. (See RX-10266C
at Q/A 12.) Even Dr. McDonald acknowledged that there is no way to determine from her survey how many survey
respondents identified her stimulus with Converse because of the CMT. (RX-10274 at Q/A 34.)
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“t¢st_ed thé'ovcrall design of the Convérse_ All Star oxford shoe” and “resulted in net results of
- 42% associétion with Converse or a sole yet anonymous source.” (Id. at 36-37_.'(ci‘ting CX-
00230C at Q/A 68, 99-101, 161; CX-05014C; CDX-00230C.0010).) In Surveys II and iII, one of
the two stripes was removed, resulting in “50.46% and 58.80% association . . . with Converse or
a sole yet anonymous source, respectively.” (/d. at 37 (citing CX-OO230:C at Q/A 167-169, 171-
173,175, 177, 186; CX-05015C; CX-05016C; CDX-00230C.0014, .0016).)

Respondents argue that Su&eys I through III do not, in fact, test the CMT and the results
should therefore be disregarded. (RIB at 25.) Staff agrees. (SIB at 32-33.)

The undersigned finds that Surveys I, II, and III do4 not establish that the CMT has
acquired secondary meaning. First, Dr. Ford used the same control in Surveys II and III, as he
did for Survey IV. (CX-0023OC at Q/A 119-121.) These surveys therefore suffer from the same
problem as Survey IV,‘ and must be disregarded. (See, supra, § 1.A.1.a.ii.) .

“Second, Converse admits that Survey I was d_ésigned to test the overall appearance of the
shoe — and not the CMT. (CIB at 36 :(citing CX-OO230C at Q/A 68, 99-101); see also RX-
.10266C at Q/A 50.) As with Dr. McDonald’s survey, there is 'hothing in the record to establish
that it was the CMT and not the other design elements, such as the Box stitching, grommets, heel
tag, or tongue patch which led the survey respondents to associate the shoe with Convlerse.
Accordingly, the undersigned will not consider the results of these surveys. See Luggage Prods.,
1987 WL 450863, at 9-10 (explaining that record does not “establish how mere -reéognition,

without knowing if the alleged recognition is because of the trademark, is indicative of

secondary meaning”).
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jii.  Ms. Butler’s “CBSC Only” Survey
In Ms. Butler’s second survey, she used an image depicting only the toe cap, toe bumper,
and two stripes with no sole or upper as her test image. (RIB at 27 (citing RX-01667 at Q/A 65-
67).) Her control image was the same as the test, except V;'ithout the stripes or patterned toe
bumper and with an “altered” toe cap. (/d. (citing RX-01667 at Q/A 73).) Below are depictions

of the control and test images used by Ms. Butler:

Control . Test

(Id) Respondents report that “only a net 21.5% of respondents believed the design came from
one brand.” (Id. (citing RX-01667 at Q/A 153, 162-164).)

Staff agrees with Respondents that the “CBSC Only” survey demonstrated that the CMT
does not have secondary meaning. “Staff believes the evidence with respect to the CBSC Only
Survey shows that when the alleged trademark in seen in isolation, only a net 21.5 percent
believe the design comes from one brand, and when examined closely, the data reveals that far
fewer name Converse as the brand . . . Indeed, only a net 15% of respondents in this survey
identified the design as coming from one brand and named Converse as that brand.” (SIB at 29-
30 (citing RX-01667 at Q/A 161).)

Converse argues that Ms. Butler’s survey results actually support a finding of secondary
meaning. Converse explains that “46% of survey respondents recognized the CMT as the design

of one brand of sneaker.” (CIB at 39 (citing Butler, Tr. at 594:2-5; RDX-5.011).) Converse

-33-




Case: 16-2497  Document: 1-5 Page: 39  Filed: 08/16/2016
- PUBLIC VERSION

- asserts that it is improper to rely on the “net” results of the CBSC survey, as a control is

unnecessary. (Id. at 39 n. 16; CRB at 17.) Converse further:asserts that the control image “looked
too similar to the CMT and thus artificially elevated the control results, thereby depressing the
net.” (Id. (citing CX-10843 at Q/A 93-97).)

Converse also argues, however, that there are several problems with Ms. Butler’s survey.
Converse asserts that, as with the “CBSC and Upper” survey, the use of the word “recognize”
was problematic. (/d. ét 39-40.) “

| The undersigned finds that, unlike with the first survey, the use of the word “recognize” -
was proper here. Although, once again, Ms. Butler does not provide an explanation for her word
choice with respect to this study, there is no evidence that this survey suffers from the same
problems as the “CBSC and Upper” survey. (RX-01667 at Q/A 80-83, 100-110; CX-10843C at
Q/A 63.) Here, the survey was not asking respondents whether they “recognized” a fictitious
shoe; ;éther, the survey a’Sked if respondents 'recognized the design elements at issué in this case.
(RX-01667 at Q/A 148.) Unlike the “CBSC _aLnd_Uppef” sufvey, there is no evidence of noise to
cue survey respondents away from Converse. (d at Q/A 70-71; RDX-00005.00_6.'.) Additionally,
there is no evidence of actual confusion based on the use of this word, as there was with the
“CBSC and Upper” survey.

The undersigned will not consider Converse’s other arguments with respect to Ms.
Butler’s survey. These arguments were not properly raised in the pre-hearing brief. (See
Converse Pre-Hearing Br 84 n. 9). Ground Rule 8.2 prO\}ides that “[a]ny contentions not set
forth in detail” ih the pr_e:;hearing brief “shall be deeméd abandoned or withdrawn.” (Ground
Rule 8.2). Consequentl};; -Converée has abandoned. these arguments. For these reasons, the

undersigned will consider the results of Ms. Butler’s “CBSC only” survey.
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iv. Totality of Surveys

Converse argues that, “[w]hile Respondenté attempt to explain away each individual
survey, they cannot explain away the totality and consistency of survey evidence establishing
secondary meaning in the CMT.” (CIB at 32.) Converse argues that, when viewed together, these
surveys shows that the CMT has acquired secondary meaning. (/d.)

Respondents argue that Converse’s claim “is an outright falsehood.” (RRB at 17.) They‘
state: “Converse’s summaries of the surveys are an attempt to filibuster past reality.” (/d. at 18.)
Respondents contend that Converse’s surveys used “consistently flawed methodology” and
obtained “consistentiy flawed results.” (Id.)

Staff explains that Converse’s assertion that the surveys of Ms. Butler and Dr. Stewart
actually support a finding of secondary meaning “is an entirely new position.” (SRB at 20.) Staff
notes that, even if not waived, Converse’s argument “is factually incorrect.” (Id.)

The undersi‘gned agrees with Staff that Converse’s arguments were waived. The
undersigned further agrees that Converse’s argument is based on misleading data. In support of
its argument, Converse impropetly relies on the fest ﬁgur¢§ — and not the net. For exaniple, Dr.
Converse explains that, in Dr. Stewart’s survey, “52% and. 67% of test respondents associated it
with Converse.” (CIB at 40 (citing RX-02090 at Q/A 52; RX-10006C.002; R)(—1Q007C.002).)
Even Converse’s experts, however, acknowledge that “[t]lhe percentage of participants who
associate the elements with a sole source is determined by subtracting the percentage of
participants who associafe the control stimulus with a sole source from the percentage who
associate the test stimulus with a sole source.” (CX-0023OC at Q/A 60.) Accordirigly, the
undersigned does not agree that the surveys, when viewed as whole, support a finding of

secondary meaning.
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V. Overall Conclusion

Given the various flaws of the studies, the uﬁdersigned finds that the only survey to be
considered is Ms. Butler’s “CBSC Only” survey. In this survey, Ms. Butler found that a net of
21.5% of respondents believed the design came from one brand. (RX-01667 at Q/A 153, 162-
164).) The question becomes: How does one view these results? |

In explaining how many survey respondents need to associate a product with one brand
for a ﬁndin'g'of secondary meaning, McCarthy notes: “Couﬁs have been vague and uncertein in
defining what is the minimum acceptable percentage of persons who have a secondary meaning
in their minds.” McCarthy at § 15:45; see id. at § 32.190. McCarthy also explains, however:
“Clearly, small percentage results at or less than 10% are not sufficient.” Id. at § 15:45. Some
courts have even held that survey evidence of 25% was insufficient. /d. at § 32.190 (citing Zippo
Mfg. Co. v. Rogers Imports, Inc., 216 F Supp. 670 (S.D.N.Y. 1963)); see also CIB at 33 n. 10
(setting forth cases in which the lowest number cned as probative of secondary meanmg is 30% )

Given this, the undersigned finds that 21% is insufficient to establish secondary meaning.
Thus, this factor weighs against Converse.

2. i The Degree and Manner of Use

Converse asserts that it “has consistently and extensiv.ely used the CMT” since 1932.
(CIB at 18 (citing CX-00242C at Q/A 49, 54-55, 97; CX-00237C at Q/A 109, 123, 128-129, 134;
158, 177; CX-00243C at Q/A 55-57, 60, 187).) Converse notes that the CMT is a prominent
mark that is “visible at virtually any angle.” (Id. (citing CX-00242C at Q/A 64; CX-OO243C at
Q/A 56-57).) Converse explains that, while there are different variations of the All Star shoe, the
CMT is a constant fixture that remains unchanged. (Id. (citing CX-00242C at Q/A 62-63, 65—566,'

68, 70, 74-75, 77; CX-00237C at Q/A 123, 125, 136; CX-00243C at Q/A 55, 177-87).)
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Converse also states that Converse has sold All Star shoes to a wide range of people, across -
~multiple channels. (Ié’. (citing CX-OO242C at Q/A 86; CX-00243C at Q/A 62, 80-81; CX-
00244C at Q/A 22-38, 82).)

Respondents and Staff do not contesf Converse’s evidence of its degree and manner of |
use of the mark. The undersigned therefore finds that this factor weighs in favor of a finding
secondary meaning.

3. The Exclusivity of Use

The.re are three disputes between the parties related to the “exclusivity of use” factor.
Spe;:iﬁcally, the parﬁes disagree as to whether the following serve as barriers for achieving
secondary meaning: (1) use of the CMT by third parties; (2) private label sales of shoes be'aring_
the CMT; and (3) the appearance of Converse shoes alongside third party shoes bearing :the
CMT. |

a) Third Party Use

Respondents argue that there is no secondary meaning because “Converse is not.’.andf
never has been the substantially exclusive user of the claimed design :elemehts.” (RIB at 14.) '
Respondents contend that U.S. footwear companies have sold sneakers with toe caps, toe
bumpers, and midsole stripes since the 1920s. (Id. at 15.) Respondents state that they “have
identified hundreds of instances of third party uses of the classic cap-toe sneaker shoes style
from the 1920s to the present day.” (Id.) In fact, Respondents assert that “by the 1940s, the
market fot shéés be_aring the claimed design elements was dominated by parties other than
Converée - Keds:,. PF Flyers, and Spalding.” (/d. at 16 (citing RX-07698C at Q/A 45-46; Golder,
Tr. at 833:14-834:7).) According to Respondents, shoes bearing the CMT continued to be sold

throughout the following decades. (/d. at 16-17).
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Respondents. also argu¢ that there ié 'evidérvlce- of more current thir'd party use.
Respondents state that third party sales of shoes with the CMT continued throughout the 1990s
and 2000s. (Id. at 17-18.) Respondents further argue that “[t]he Accused Products at issue 1n this
Investigation also coﬁstitute significant third party use of the claimed design elements.” (/d. at
18.) Respondents note that, for example, “Skechers has sold more than 700 unique styles of
shoes bearing the claimed design elements since 1998.” (Id. (citiﬁg RX-02092C at Q/A 50-56;
RDX-0036).) |

Staff “believes the evidence demonstrates that for more than half a century there has been
extensive third party use of the” CMT (SIB at 46.) Staff notes that Respondent’s expert, Mr.
Maeder “found over 900 exani'pleé [Qﬂ':shoes with the elements of toe caps, toe bumpers, and |
midsole stripes.” (SIB at 35 (citing Maeder, Tr. at 883:18-885:18).) Staff also noted that M.
Walford “analyzed thousands-_df footwegr in” various publications “and concluded that, since.thef
late 1920s, there has never been é significant period of time when shoes with a toe cap; toe
bumper, and an 'upper and/o_f lower stripe were not widely ‘available for sale by numerous
companies in the United States.” (Id. at 35-36 (citing RX-02087C at Q/A 16, 18, 23, 3'5'-'3.8, 80-
81, 83, 90-94, 9_6, 99-113).) Staff explained that such use con_tinues throﬁgh the present and that
Converse has acknowledged this competition. (/d. at 42 (citiﬁg CX-04032; RX-07698 at Q/A
71).) | |

-'Coriverse‘, in turn, asserts that it has “erijoyed substantially exclusive use of the CMT in
cohne’ction with its All Star shoes for de;:ades.” .(CI~B at 20.) Converse argues that “although
| oth‘ers,niay have used some elements of the CMT at various points in time, ‘Converse alone has
been consistently and continuously using this samé design; for the better part of a century.”” (/d.

(citing CX-00242C at Q/A 55).) Converse further argues that evidence of historical third party
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use has little relevance. Converse asserts that Respondents failed to introduce “credible or
material evidence of the sales of the third-party shoes on which they rely, or the commercial
irﬁpact —if e;ny — those shoes might have made on consumers.” (/d. at 22 (citing Longshqre V.
Retail Royalty Co., 589 Fed. App’x 963, 967 (Fed. Cir. 2014) (third-party use had “limited
probative value when there was no evidence showing the extent of its usage or the pﬁblic’s
awareness of its existence”).) Converse contends that such evidence is “critical . . . because
consumer perception is the touchstone of secondary meaning. Without that critical showing,
third-party use evidence does nothing to undermine Converse’s strong evidence of secondary
.meaning.” (CRB at 12.) |

With respect to more current third-party use; Co-nverse contends that “among leading
brands available in the U.S. market, Converse is t_hé (Z):nly brand using the combination of
elements that comprise the CMT, with the exception of Ralph Lauren and Skechers, both of
whom:were respondents in this Investigation.” (CIB atﬁ 21 (citing CX-00237C at Q/A 175-76).)

In response, Respondents explain that sales data is “no longer available because Converse
waited decades to claim that it has rights in the clairfléd design elements.” (RIB at 18 (citingiRX-_
02087C at Q/A 59, 61).) Respoﬁdents contend that the majority of their evidencé —
advertisements in periodicals and catalogs - shows the actual use of third-party shoes‘ in_'
commerce. (Id. at 19.) Specifically, the evidence consists of “advertisements published by one of
the four major catalog retailers in the U.S. during the twentieth century: Sears, Mdntg'omery
Ward, J.C. Penney, and Spiegel.” (Id. (citing RX-02087C at Q/A 35).) Respondents introduced
testimony that these catalogs ‘;enj oyed wide distribution and generated significant sales” and that
catalog shopping was “ubiquitous in American culture during this time period.” (RIB at 18; RRB

at 12.)
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Staff asserts that_ “1t is not surprising that sales*récords no longer exist,” givén the agé. of
the third-party uses. (SIB at 43.) Staff contends: “Nevertheless, there is ample evidence in the
record that the sales of the advertised shoes were nof insubstantial.” (Id. (citing RX-02087 at
Q/A 35-76, 114; RX-02091C at Q/A 33-82; RX-07698 at Q/A 51-52, 55-56, 73-79; Maeder, Tr.
at 831:6-834:7, 890:7-891:7).)

The undersigned finds that this factor does not weigh against a finding of secondary
meaning. First, the undersigned notes that the mere fact that there is historic third party use of the
mark by others does not.defeét a claim of secondary meaning. Palm Bay Imports, Inc. v. Veuve
CZicquot Ponsardin Maison Fondee En 1772, 396 F.3d 1369, 1373 (Fed. Cir. 2005) (“Absent
evidence of the consuming public’s awareness, [the third-party use] standing alone does not
suffice.”). There may be historical uses of a mark by third-parties that become irrelevant as one
speciﬁc party begins to substantially and continuously use that mark. Indeed? under the Lanham
Act, one need only five years of substantial and exclusive use of the mark for trademark
registration. 15 U.S.C. § 1052(f). History should not unnecessarily restrain a mark such that‘ény
use by third parties bars subsequent registration of that mark in perpetuity.

Historical thi;d-party use of a mark is, however, relevant to the question of whether a
mark has gained secondary meaning. It may well be that a mark could be substantially — or even
exclusively — used by a company in the five years prior to the claim of distinctiveness, but yet
still lack secondary meaning due to consumers’ continued association of the mark with other
third-party historical uses. Just as:hjstorical use of a mark alone does not prevent subsequent
secondary meaning of the mark, nor does mofe_ ;ecént substantial use of the mark by one

company erase history in the minds of consumers. Rather, the rationale behind examining third
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party use should not be lost. The propef_inq_uiry should bé: DQ_es this historic third-party use of
the mark diminish the consumer’s éssociatioﬁ of the mark with only one company? |

In order to evaluate what constitutes historical third-party use, the undersigned takes into
account two considerations. First, the undersigned considers when infringement first began, as
Converse must establish secondary meaning before this time. Braun, Inc. v. Dynamic Corp. of
Am., 975 F.2d 815, 826 (Fed. Cir. 1992). Although Respondents introduced evidence that the PF
Flyers and certain Skechers shoes were sold in the 1990s, they did not establish that these shoes.
are Accused Products or that they use the CMT. (RX-02092C at Q/A 50; RX-O3‘296.0019
(indicating that a platform version of shoe with a toe cap and bumper was intro.duced in 1998).)
Instead, the evidence shows that fhe first Accused Product was sold in 2003. (RX-00001C at Q/A
173-205; vsée RIB at 34.)‘ Secb_nd, the undersigned considers the average consumer of the All
Star. The “éore consﬁmér” of the All Star shoe skews young,vwith the upper age range béing a
regent collegé graduate.: (CX-OO243C at Q/A 61-62; see also CX-00230C at Q/A ‘8'6-91‘
- (indicating that dafa from NPD group indicated that [ | ] of past purchasers ‘and potential
purchasers of Converse shoes“Would be between 15 and »30 years old.) Thus, éven in 2003, it is
~ doubtful that the average consumer would have a detailed understanding of the history prior to
thé 1980s, and possibly the 1990s. For thesev reasons, use from the 1920s through the 1980s will
be referred to as “historic third-party use.”

Respondents produced a w_ealtﬁ of evidence regarding historical third-party use. (RX-
07698C at Q/A 34-62; RX-02087C at Q/A 18, 98-111.) The undersigned agrees that sales data 1s
not a prerequisite to consideration of this evidence, as Responde_hts haye demonstrated that shoes
bearing the CMT were continuously sold in catalogs with vast consumer bases. As Mr. Maeder

testified, shoes bearing the CMT “obviously must have sold” or they would not have been
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“included year after year after year, decade after decade after decade” in these catalo gs. (Maeder,
Tr. at 887:21-888:8.) The undersigned further finds that there is sufficient evidence that these |
catalogs enjoyed wide circulation and were used by the general public. (RX-02091C at Q/A 38-
46, 51-60, 64-71; RX-09996C - RX-10001C; RX-02087C at Q/A 41-42, 45-46, 51-56, 57.)

The undersigned finds, however, that there is insufficient evidence that this historic third-
party use diminishes the relevant consumer’s association of the mark with Converse. Third-party
use — even when extensive — cannot serve as indicia of a consumer’s likelihood to associate the
trade dress with more than one brand when there is no evidence that the third-party use had an
impact on the relevant consumer’s consciousness. The sales data introduced by Respondents
only shows that consumers in the past were aware of these third-party uses. |

While there is evidence that éxberts in fashion history are aware of the historic third-party
. use, Respondents did not introduce evidence that a consumer of shoes bearing the CMT in 2003
would be familiar with these past uses of the CMT. It is irrelevant, for example, if the CMT was
asvsociated with Keds in the past if the relevant consumer is unaWare of that fact.! See, e.g.,
Lexington Mgmt. Corp. v. Lexington Capital Partners, 10 F. Supp. 2d 271, 281 (S.D.N.Y. 1998)
(explaining that extensive third-party use does not contradict a finding of secondary meaning
where there is no evidence of recognition by consﬁmers). In fact, the evidence in the record
shows that present-day consumers are likely unaware of shoes such as Randy Athletes, Beta
Bullets, or PF FlyerS. (RX-10009; RX-10010 (indicating that no respondent who viewed the test
shoe in Ms. Bujtler-or Dr. Stewart’s suryéys named these shoes as the source of the CMT, while

only 10 of approximately 700 named Keds).)

1 {ikewise, the inclusion of a Keds sneaker using the CMT in the Dictionary is not evidence that consumers
associate the CMT with Keds or other third parties. (RX-02478.005.) There is no evidence that the average
consumer would be familiar with this dictionary.
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.vNextv, the undersigneci considers the evidence regarding rﬁqre recent third party use.
After reviewing the evidence submitted by Respondents, the undersigned finds that there is
insufficient evidence that Converse was not the substantial user of the mark in recent decades.

Respondents introduced the testimony of Mr. Walford who testified that the use of a toe.
- cap, atoe bumper, and/or stripes was found on shoes throughout the 1990s.2° (RX-02087 at Q/A
112.) In support, Mr. Walford cited to 36 exhibits. (/d) The majority of these exhibits were
either pictures from J.C. Penney catalogs (RX-02323- RX-02325; RX-02327; RX-02509; RX-
02813- RX-02818; RX-02819) or pictures from a publication called Footwear News. (RX-
02256; RX-02544; RX-02828; RX-02830-RX-02833; RX-02835-RX-02836).

To be relevant, Respondents needed to demonstrate that consumers were familiar with
both J.C. Penney and Footwear News; Respondents failed to do so. Although Mr. Hanssens
explained that circulation of the J.C. Penney catalog exceeded 10 million in the -1990s, (RX-
02091C at Q/A 64—69; RX-10000C; RX-10001C), he_also .testiﬁed that only “10% of households
in the Unifed S’tates received the J.C. Penney fall catélog.” (Id. at Q/A 70.) Thus, there is
insufficient evidence that the average consumer would be familiar with these J.C. Penney
advertisements. Furthermore, Respondents did not introduce specific evidence as to the number
of shoes bearing the CMT that appeared in the J.C. Penney catalog during this timeframe, other
than to say that such shoes appeared “consistently.” (/d. at Q/A 63.) There is also no data in the -
record with respect to the circuiation of Footwear News. Given this, the record does not support
a finding that there was extensive third paﬁy use of the mark during the 1990s. -

Respondents also introduced the testimony of fashion history expert Mr. Maeder. Mr;

Maeder testified that, in the 1990s, shoes bearing the CMT were sold by J.C. Penney, P.F. Flyers,

20 Mr. Wolford’s testimony with respect to the 1980s through the present is viewed with the caveat that Mr. Wolford
testified that he is not as comfortable with the history of footwear occurring after the 1970s. (RX-02087C at Q/A
10.) Thus, the weight given to this testimony is diminished. .
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Nike, Guess Athletics, Keds, Anaconda, and Fortune Dynamic. (RX-07698 at Q/A 64.) While )
Mr. Maeder included pictures of representative shoes by these brands, he did not set forth any‘
evidence by which one could infer the relative sales of these shoes. (/d.) Mr. Maeder similarly
testified that various brands sold shoes in the 2000s, but, again, failed >to provide any evidence
with respect to sales of these shoes. (Jd. at Q/A 65 (testifying that Disney, Limited Too, Keds,
and Vans sold shoes bearing the CMT).) Without more, this evidence does not establish that this
third party use had an impact on the mind of the consumer.

Mr. Walford further testified “[a] toe cap, a toe bumper, and an upper and/or lower stripe
configuration was present in many other shoes throughout the 2000s and 2010s.” (RX-02087C at
Q/A 113.) In support, Mr. Walford cited to dozens of exhibits. (/d) These exhibits do not
support a finding that shoés bearing the CMT were prevalent during this timeframe, however.
Several of the exhibits cited by Mr. Walford were from catalogs and advertisements from stores
such as Disney and Limited Too, for which no information on sales or catalog circulation was
provided. (See, e.g., RX-02841 (Footsmart); RX-02238, RX-02844-RX-02848 (Limited Too),
RX-02842 — RX-02843 (Disney); RX-02850 (Eastbay); RX-02851 (Esprit); RX-02258, RX-
02852, RX-02854 — RX-02855. (Footwear News); RX-02259, RX-02856 — RX-02857
(Journeys).) Without more information, these documents cannot support a finding that there was
extensive third party use. Other exhibits to which Mr. Walford cited were pictures of shoes sold
on eBay. (RX-02861 — RX-02870, RX-02548 — RX-02551, RX-02872 — RX-02873, RX-02552.).
Even if the eBay user identified the shoe as being from this timeframe — which was rarely the
case — such a statement does not qualify as proof that the shoe was actually sold during this time.
- Still other exhibits in the list were pictures of shoes, with no context such as date offered for sale

or brand. (RX-02874 — RX-02880, RX-02569 — RX-02573, RX-02881 — RX-02883, RX-02576 —
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RX-02580; RX-02888.) Without additional informatiori, these _pictures cannot serve as proof that
these shoes were actually sold in that timeframe or even thét these shoes were sold by third
parties. Some ofher exhibits were images of shoes currently offered for sale from websites such
as Yoox.com, without accompanying sales data.or circulation, or even proof that these shoes '
were sold in the United States. (See, e.g., RX-02885, RX-02887 (depiction of a UK-based
website).) One series of exhibits actually supports the idea that other shoes bearing the mark
were not very popular and thus may not have diminished the association of the mark with
Converse. (See RX-02890 — RX-02895 (images of PF Flyers Shoes Archive Collection from
2009 — 2014 indicated that the popularity of this line of shoes is low).)

Mr. Hanssens also testified that Keds sold shoes bearing the CMT from the 1970s to the
present. (RX-02091C at Q/A 81.) Yet, Respondents did nét introduce evidence of sales of Keds'
shoes. (RX-02087C:-ét Q/A 59, 76) (testimbny ffom”Mr. Walford indicating that he could not
find sales data for Keds).) Nor did they introduce éirculation numbers of advertisements or
catalogs featuring Keds. Indeed, although Mr. Hanssens testiﬁed that “[it] appears that Keds has
continued to sell retro basketball shoes for many decades,” the exhibits he cited are presented
without additional explaﬁation. (RX-02091C ‘a‘t Q/A 81 (citing RX-02479C.008-016; RX-
09240.011-042; RX-02481C.008-022; RX-02482C.015-017; RX-02483C.019; RX-02480C.016-
019; RX-02484C.001-003; RX-02485C.001-011; RX-02486C.017; RX-02487C.003; RX-
02488C.006-008).) A mere reference to advertisements and excerpts from the Keds’ website
does not provide sufficient evidénce to demonstrate tha‘t._‘the presence of Keds’ shoes in the
marketplace impacts Converse’s ability to establish seééﬁa;ry méaning.

The undersigned is likewise not persuaded by an alléged admission that Keds sold a large

number of shoes. While, in an agreement between Converse and Kids, Converse noted that Keds
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“continuously gnd exclusively advertised, promoted, distributed and sold” shoes bearing the.
CMT, this does not provide any information about the volume of sales. (JX-00072C.)

There is also evidence in the record that, despite the alleged pervasiveness of third parties
: uéing the CMT, survey respondents who associated the shoe with oﬂe brand were far more likely
to name this brand as Converse than any other brand. For example, in Dr. Stewart’s survey of
adults, “91% of those Who associated the test shoe with only one company or brand nanied
Converse, Chuck Taylor, or All Star, while no other brand received more than 4% of the
mentions.” (CX-10843C at Q/A 136). In the survey of the parents, “95% of those associating the
test stimulus with a single brand or company named one of thqse thfee; no other brand received
more than 2% of the mentions.” (Id) As Dr. Lutz opined, .:“[t]hese results certainly do not
suggest that consumers are associating elements of the Con_versé Midsole Trademark with other
‘br_ands, regardless of how long those brands may have been on the m‘arket.” {d)

3 Finally, the undersigned is not persuaded that Respondénts’ .sales of the Accused
Pfoducfs weigh against a finding of secondary meaning. As noted above, the first sale of an
A_c'c'ﬁs:ed Product occurred in 2003. (RX-00001C at Q/A 173-205; RIB at 34.) Respondents did
ﬁot introduce sufficient evidence that the sale of these éhoes was sufficient to overcome the
presumption that the mark has acquired secondary meaning.

For these reasons, the undersigned finds that Respondents have not introduced sufficient

evidence of third party use. This factor does not weigh against a finding of secondary meaning.
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b) Private Label

Respbndents argue that Converse’s use of private labelling weighs against a ﬁnding of
secondary meaning. Respondents ‘explain: “When a product shape or design is sold by the
authority of plaintiff under several different word marks (e.g., by ‘private labeling’ for others), it
is more difficult for plaintiff to prove acquisition of secondary meaning.” (RIB at 20 (quoting
McCarthy at § 8:14).) Respondents introduced evidence that Converse suppiied shoes with the
CMT to prisons in the 1990s under the brand name Anaconda. (/d. at 20 (citing RX-01571C at
Q/A 62-63; RX-01655; RPX-0007).) Staff agrees and also notes that Converse sold shoes uhder
the WINNER brand name. (SIB at 46.) |

In response, Converse explains that “[t]here is no reason to believe — and Respondents
cite none — that shoes sold exclusively to prisons or other institutions would have any
commercial impact on the relevant consuming public.” (CRB at 10 n. 5.)

The undersigned finds that VvConverse’s private labeling does not weigh against-a finding
of secondary meaning. A_Ithdugh the evidence shows that Converse sold prison shoes in the
1990s under the brand name Anaconda, (RX-01571C at Q/A 62-63; RX-01655; RPX-0007),
fhere is no evidence that a:..consumer would be familiar with this third-party use. (CX-10845C at
Q/A 50.) Indeed, presumably, one would only know of the Anaconda line of shoes if one was in
prison, worked at a prison, or regularly visited a prison which supplied their inmates with these
shoes. It is likezsly' that this affects a relatively small percentage of Converse’s consumers.
Similarly, the .ezvidence shows that C.onverse made “The Winner” éhoes egclusively for Sears in
the 1970s, but the evidence does not show that today’s consumer would be familiar‘ with thét: _

private label brand. (RX-02087C at Q/A 109.) Without any such evidence, Respondenté have_"
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failed to meet their burden. Accordingly, this factor does not weigh against a finding of
secondary meaning.
) Sale of Shoes Alongside Cohlpetitors

Respondents explain that Converse permitted its shoes “to be sold alongside identical or
very similar shoes being 's‘,old under competitors’ brands names, including house brands.” (RIB at
20.) Staff agrees. (SIB at 47-48.)

The undersigned finds that this factor does not weigh against a finding of secondary
meaning. The advertisements cited by Respondents and Staff are from the 1970s and 80s, as are
the advertisements cited by Mr. Walford in his testimbny. (RIB at 20-21 (citing RX-02208.05;:.
| | RX-02305.005; RX-08815; RX-02307.003); SIB at :47-48 (citing RX-02208; RX-02305; RX- |

| 02307); RX-02087 at Q/A 109-110).) The evidence does not show that today’s consumer w_oul&
~ view Converse’s shoes alongside third-party shoes bearing the CMT. In fact, the evidence shows’
that Converse takes actions to prevent this from ocqurring. (RX-02106C.004) (2013 cease and
desist letter to The Gap, Inc. indicatihg that “Gap’s intentional juxtaposition of authentic and
infringing design is highly likely to lead to consumer confusion and to create di‘h‘ltive
associations with Converse;s trademarks™).)
4, The Length of Use

Converse asserts that it has “continuously used the CMT on its All Star shoes —

[ ] of its total business — for over eighty years.” (CIB at 23 (citing CX-00242C
at Q/A 49; CX-00243C at Q/A 55, 189; CX-00237C at Q/A 112).) Con?érse believes that “[t]his
is powerful evidence of secondary meaning” as “the ITC and courts have found secondafy

meaning based, in part, on use of a mark for far shorter periods of time.” (Id.)
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Respondéﬁts: -a-nd-Staff do not contest theéq facts. Althoﬁgh fhe:e is no set length of timé:
- for which a trademark must be used, it is clear that the continuous usé of a trademark for over 80
years is evidence of secondary meaning. The undersigned therefore finds that this factor weighs -
in favor of a finding of secondary meaning.

5. The Degree and Manner of Sales, Advertising and Promotional
Activities

Converse argues that its sales, advertising efforts, and promotional activities weigh in

favor of a finding that the CMT has acquired secondary.meaning. First, Converse notes that
shoes bearing the CMT “are reported to be the best-selling shoe of all :time, with more than [ ]
[ ] pairs solci worldwide.” (CIB at 24 (citing CX-00242C at Q/A 6; CX-00243C at Q/A 21;
CX-00237C at Q/A 182, 188-189, CX-10552; CX-05245C; CX-05280C-81C; CX-10768)).)
Converse also asserts that it “has extensively advertised its All Star shoes with images featuring
| 'the CMT - the most prominent and consistent aspect of the' shoe.” (Id. (citing CX-O‘0237C af
Q/A 124, 126, 201-22)).) Converse further explains that it hasﬁifeatured the CMT in promotional
activities, including a “Basketball Yearbook” published from 1922 to 1983. (Id. at 26.) Coﬁverse
“extensively mﬁkets All Stér shoes on the Internet and thrdugh social media,” including through
its Facebook page, which has received forty million likes. (Zd. at 27.) According to Converse, it |
“has spent [ 1 of dollars advertising and marketing All Star shoes featuring the
CMT.” (Id.) For these reasons, Conversé contends its sales, advert_isiné, and promotioh of All
Star shoes bearing the CMT “dwarf those the ITC and courts ro_ufineiy find sufficient to establish
secondary meaning.” (/d.)

Respondents argue that:‘ information regardin’g Converse’s sales and marketing of the All
Star shoes is irrelevant, as Coﬁverse “did not direct fnarketing or advertising toward the claime:d

combination of design elements.” (RIB at 29-30.) Respondents state that a party is required to
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shpw a specific link between the sales and marketing and the cla‘imé.d design éler_nents. (Id. at 29
n. 11.) In support of their argument, Respondents introduced the testimony of Dr. Golder who
“concluded that the asserted trade dress did not obtain secondary meaning because: (1) Converse
faced significant marketplace barriers to establishing secondary meaning in the claimed des'igr.l;
elements; (2) Converse did nothiﬁg to overcome those barriers; and (3) an analysis of third-party
ﬁledia shows no association of the design with Converse.” (/d. at 30.)

Staff notes that “Converse has been selling the Chuck Taylor All Stars since at least the
1930s and in that time has sold over [ ] pairs, which admittedly weighs in Converse’s
favor.” (SIB at 46.) On the other hand, Staff argues that “Converse’s evidence of overall sales,
publicity, and adveﬁisements relating to the Chucks as a whole is not particularly informative
about whether the CMT on its own has secondary meaning.” (SRB at 16.) Staff also argues that
the advertisement of Converse shoes along shoes bearing very similar midsole designs weighs
against secondary meaning. (SIB at 47 (citing RX-02087C at Q/A 109; RX-02208; RX-02305;
RX-02307; Fogarty, Tr. at 978:10-979:17).) Staff also agrees with Respondents that Converse’s
failure to engage in “look for” advertising weighs against secondary meaning. (Id. at 49.) Staff
asserts that, especially dﬁe to the high barriers Converse faced, “some form of ‘look fof’
advertising is critical.;” ({d. (quoting RX-00003C at Q/A 193, 197).)

Converse coﬁtends that “look for” advertising is not required to establish secondary
meaning and that courts have favorably éonsidered the types of ads used by Converse in
sqc:ondary meaning analyses. (CIB at 26; CRB at 13.) Convérse notes that even Dr. Golder

) égncedes “that seéondary meaning can develdp aBsent [look-for] advertising.” (CRB at 13 (citing

. Tr. at 815:23-25).)

-50 -



Case: 16-2497 ~ Document: 1-5 Page: 56 Filed: 08/16/2016
- PUBLIC VERSION

- The undersigned finds that this factor weighs in faVor of a ﬁhding of secondary meaning.
| g The pérties do not dispute that [ ] of pairs of Conversfé All Star shoes are sold worldwide.
(CX-00242C at Q/A 6; CX-00243C at Q/A 21; CX-00237C at Q/A 182, 188-189, CX-10552;
CX-05245C; CX-05280C-81C; CX-10768). Thus, the sales of shoes featuring the CMT weigh in
favor of secondary méaning. |

The undersigned disagrees that there are marketplace barriers which diminish Converse’s
ability to achieve secondary meaning. Respondents first contend that the “primary meaning” of
at least -two of the design elements is functional. (RIB a‘;'-30.j This argument is premised on
consumer understanding, yet Respondéﬁts did not introduce evidence as to how the consumer
views thes¢~de$ign elements. While Dr. Golder testified that customers may associate thé design
featureé éf :the CMT with functionality or aesthetics, he does not cite to .anything, other than é
.single comment from the trademark’s prosecution history in support. (RX-00003C at :'Q/A 63.)
Additionally, Dr. Golder testified that that he did not conduct consumer survéys, .intergview‘ :
coﬁsumer’s, or consider any secondary meaning surveyé. (Golder, Tr. at 748:21-749:11.) Without
such evidence, Dr. Golder’s testimony is merely speculative. | |

Respondents next.contend that Converse and third ioarties advertised the design elements
as functional and that “[t]he toe cap, toe bumper, and midsole stripes were commqn_ly used by
Converse’s competitors.” (RIB at 30-31.) Dr. Golder cited to numerous advertisements in his -
testimony, but these advertisements were from the 1950s — 19805. (RX-00003C at Q/A 67-95.)
For the same reasons that thg .{lﬁdersigned does not find historic third-party use relevant when
there is no evidence that today’s consumer is aware of such use, the undersigned is not persuéded' _

by evidence of historic advertisements when there is no evidence that such advertisements -are:
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part Qf-thé ?ieseiit-day “consumer consciousness.” The sarilevis true witl_i réépe’ct to alleged use of :
the .CMT by C(inverse’s competitors. | |

For the final two barriers, Dr. Golder opined that third-party representations of the CMT |
~ on products other than footwear and depictions of the CMT in riunierous trademark registrations
pose barriers to establishing that the CMT is associated with a single source. (Id. at Q/A 117,
132.) While th¢ evidence shows that there are various depictions of shoes bearing the CMT
throughout pop culture, such as on books and in photos, there is insufficient evidence that these
third-party representations harm Converse’s ability to establish secondary meaning. It is
possible, for example, that a consumer viewing these depiCtions would simply assume that these
are depictions of a Converse shoe. (See, e.g., CX:-1084'5.C at Q/A 82, 89 (testifying that
consumers may perceive these third party images as icoiiic, rather than generic); see also Golder,
Tr. at 814;5-11 (testimony from Dr. Golder admittiiig,that it is possible individuals chose the
images because fhey specifically wanted to depict :the All Star shoe).) Without any evidence é.s tov L
the effect of these third-party depictions in the marketplace, the undersigned cannc)t‘conciudé
that théy diminish Converse’s ability to achieve secondary meaning.

The undersigned finds that-’iieiiause Responderits did not establiéh that Converse fazée.cii _
signiﬁcant barriers, Respondents’ ﬁrguments with respect to Converse’s actions in light of these
Barriers need not be addressed.

The parties also displitc whether Converse’s advertising and promotional efforts can
support a finding of secondary meaning. Respondents and Staff contend that “look for”»
advertising — “advertising that calls out specific product design features and draws a clear link. ‘

between those design features and a single source” — is necessary. (See RIB at 31 n.12.)
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The”undersigned finds that “lodk for” advertising is not reqmred to achiéve secogdary
| ) méaning. See, e.g., Yamaha Intern. Corp. v. Hoshino Gakki Co., Ltd., 840 F.2d 1572, 1583 (Fed.
(lli‘r. 1988) (finding that, “[a]lthough the peg head designs were not the sole or primary focﬁs of
- the advertising . . . the constant promotional display of the product pictures did contribute to the
recognition of the peg head design as source indicators”). Specifically requiring that an
advertisement include language that draws attention to the trade dress elevates form over
substance, particularly given the changing nature of advertising in the modern world. A constant
and consistent depiction of the asserted trade dress is sufficient. This Vis evident when considering R
the rationale behind the consideration of advertisement in determining whether secondary
meaning has been achieved: Is it more likely that a consumer will associate the asserted mark
with one company? Consistent advertising of a design element ‘in association with a brand’s
namé would make a consumer likely to draw such a connection, pafticularly when the design
element is a highly visible one that is often featured prominenﬂy. McCarthy at § 15.52 (“If the
seller has featured the designation as a prominent symbol in advertising that has reached matiy
potential customers, it céuld be a logical inference that buyers and viewers of the advertising
ééme to associate thé symbol with that seller.”)

Here, the evidence is uhdisputed that “[i]n eiéhty years of Converse advertisements, the
CMT is in just about all of them.” (CX-00243C at Q/A 55; see also CX-00237C at Q/A 124,
126.) The evidence also shows that Converse spent [ ] on ads featuri;lg the CMT in the
five years leading up to the trademark application. (CX-00248C at Q/A 45.) The evidence
likewise shows that the CMT was prominently featured in thany of these ads. (CDX-

00243C.0001.) While the CMT does not cover the entire shoe, it covers a large portion of the
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shoe. It is not an insignificant dét:aii which is likely to be missed by the consurﬂer. Thus,
" Converse’s advertisement and promotional efforts support a finding of sééondary meaning.
6. The Effectiveness of the Effort to Create Secondary Meaning

Converse contends that its efforts to create secondary ineaning “have resulted in
widespread association of the CMT with Converse.” (CIB at 28.) Specifically, Converse asserts
that “[s]hoes bearing the CMT have enjoyed unprecedented unsolicited publicity.” (/d.)
Converse states that All Star shoes bearing the CMT have been worn by athletes, celebrities, and
music.ians. (Id.)) Converse further explains that shoes featuring the CMT have been pictured in

numerous movies and telephone shoes, as well as print thedia. (/d.) Converse notes: “[

]”'(Id. (citing CX-00243C at Q/A 169-76).)

Respondents argue that the media has not, in fact, recognized the CMT as associated with
Converse. (RIB at 33.) Respondents assert that the unrefuted testimony shows that “[t]here were
no media mentions whatsoever of the alleged midsole trademark between 2012 ana 2013.” (1d
(citing RX-OOOO3C.QO79-0085). Respondents staté that “none of the many imageé Converse cites
o in any way call out the élaimed design elements.” (Id. (citing RX-OOOO3C.081-89; RDX-
00003C.42-43; RX-09908C); see also RRB ét 16-17).) |

The undérsigned finds that this factor is neutral. While there is no doubt that the
Converse All Star shoe is popular, “[s]lecondary meaning 1s not necessarily the same- as‘
popularity.” McCarthy at § 15:47. “To make popularity relevant as evidence, causation between
the trademark and the popularity must be proved.” Id. The evidence does not demon‘strate; the
popularity of the All Star shoe is due to the CMT. Additioﬁélly, the evidence does not establish

that buyers associate the shoe depicted in the media, such as TV shows and movies, with only
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| Ohe brand. Consumers of".[hi.s."media may believe that thé shoes are from different brands, thus
actually disproving seco.nd:ary 'rfleaning. Without additional evidence, this factor is not useful in
determining secondary méaning.
s 7.  The Evidence of Deliberate Copying

Converse asserts that Respondents and non-parties have copied the CMT. [

] Converse also states that “[s]earching’
for terms such as ‘Converse’, ‘Chucks,” and ‘Chuck Taylor’ on Respondents’ websites results 1n '
listings for the Acéused Products.” (Id. (citing CX—(_)O'023, CX-00751-52, JX-00005, CX;
10509).) Finally, Converse explains that “the CMT hés been the subject of counterfeitiﬁg, close
copying, and other violations,” forciﬁg .Converse to spend | ] to add various‘
“tells” to its shoes and engage in an enforcement étrategy of sending ceése and desist letters and
ﬁl.ing.zmultiple lawsuits. (Id.”at 30-31 (citing CX-00245 at Q/A 17, 22, 24, 28, 32-53;_::CX-
08667C)) |

| Respondents disagree that there is any evidence that Respondents’ copied the ‘C‘MT.

(RRBat 17.) [

] Respondents also assert that “Converse’s discussion of
~ ‘counterfeits’ and incorporatioﬁ of ‘tells" to distinguish genuine shoes, are inapposite.” (Id. at 17
n.21.) |
Staff does not address this factor as it pertains to secondary meaning.

The undersigned finds that this factor weighs in favor of a finding of secondary meaning.
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]

The undersigned .likewise find that the widespread copying by non-parties weighs in
favor of a finding of secohdary meaning. The evidence shows that the CMT has been tﬁe subject
of counterfeiting and close copying, particularly since 2001. (CX-00245C at Q/A 17, 22, 24, 28,
32-53.) The fact that numerous non-parties have deliberately copied the Converse shoe —
including the CMT - is evidence that it has acquired secondary meaning. See Certain Cube
Puzzles, Inv. No. 337-TA-112, 1982 WL 212672, et *18 (Sept. 27, 1982) (“If [compan_ies]
thought anv advantage could be gained by copying [complainant’s] trademark and packaging
throughout the United States, it is likely that the public was aware of the trademark.”).
Resldondents’ arguments that such evidence is irrelevant are unpersuasive.

8. Conclusion

As explained above, the uddersigned finds that four factors weigh in favor of secoﬁdary
meaning, one factor weighs against, and two are neutral. Because the factor that weighs against
- secondary meaning provides the “strongest and mest relevant” evidence, the outcome here is a
close call. With respect‘“t‘o the ’753 registration, however it iis presumed that the trademark is
valid. The under51gned ﬁnds that Respondents have not met their burden in proving that it is not.

The common law trade dress is not afforded such a presumption, however. Rather, the

burden rests on Converse to estabhsh secondary meaning. McCarthy at § 15:32; see also Flynn v.
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Peters, 377 F.3d 13, 19 (1st Cir. 2004). The undersigned finds that Converse has not done sb :
here. Specifically, Converse cannot overcome the “strongest and most relevant” evidence from
Ms. Butler that the common law trade dress had not acquired secondary meaning.

B. Functionality

For a mark to be valid, it must aisb be nonfunctional. Ink Markers, Order No, 30 at 26.
Due to the presumption afforded to the registered trademark, it is Respondents burden to show
that the mark is, in fact, functional. 15 U.S.C. § 1115(a); Medirlaids, Inc. v. Kimberly-Clark
Corp., 756 F.3d 307, 312 (4th Cir. 2014). lThe same analysis applies to the common law
trademark, but Converse carries the burden. |

1. Utilitarian Functionality

There are two types of functionality, de facto aﬁd du jure:

The former being the use of “functional” in the lay sense, indicating that although

the design of a product, a container, or a feature of either is directed to

performance of a function, it may be legally recognized as an indication of source.

De jure functionality, of course, would be used to indicate the opposite — such a

design may not be protected as a trademark.

Inre Morton-Nérwich, 671 F.2d 1332, 1337 (C.C.P.A. 1982).

To assess whether a mark is de jure functional, the Commission applies the Morton-
Norwich factors: whether (1) the design’s utilitarian advantages are touted in ads; (2) the design
results from a comparatively simple or cheap manufacturing method; (3) utility patents disclose
the design’s utilitarian advantage; and (4) commercial alternatives are available.” Ink Markers,
Order No. 30 at 26-27 (citing In re Morton-Norwich, 671 F.2d 1332, 1337 (C.C.P.A. 1982).)

Respondents argue that each element of the CMT is functional from a ﬁtilitarian

perspective. (RIB at 42-45.) Specifically, they argue that toe caps and bumpers reduce abrasion

and provide structure. (/d. at 42 (citing RX-02086C at Q/A 47-59, 61-81).) Respondents also
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argue that toe caps and toe bumpers protect toes, and that diamond-and-line texturing on‘ foe
bumpers reduces abrasion. (Id. at 44 (citing RX-02086C at Q/A 47-59, 61-81).) As to the
midsole stripes, Respondents argue that the stripes designate shoes as suitable for athletic use
and minimize the apparent size of the midsole. (/d. at 44-45 (citing RX-02086C at Q/A 84-88).)
Respondents do not specifically address the Morton-Norwich factors.

Converse argues that the Morton-Norwich factors weigh against such a finding. (CIB at
46-49.) Converse emphasizes, in particular, that Respondents have failed to show “that
Converse’s iconic mark, as a whole, somehow is . . . de jure functional.” (Id. at 46.) Staff agrees
with Converse that the CMT is nonfunctional. (SIB at 56.)

-a. Advertisements

Respondents assert that “decades’ worth of Converse and Nike advertisements tout the
functional benefits” of the design elements of the CMT. (RIB at 43 44.) Converse argues that
these ads focus on individual elements, and not the alleged funct1ona11ty of the CMT as a whole. -
(CIB at 48.) Converse also notes that “almost all of the ads are from before 1982, and thus pre-
date Converse’s repositioning of All Star shoes from performance athletic to casual lifestyle -
shoes, which rendered irrelevant any supposed performance advéntages.” (Id.) Staff agrees that
these advertisements “do not tout utilitarian advantages specific to the design of the CMT, but
instead merely describe some de facto benefits of toe caps and toe bumpers generally.” (SIB at
57.) |

The undersigned finds that this factor weighs in favor of finding the CMT ﬁonfunctional. '
The evidence shows that the advertisements on Which Respondents rely are from decades ago.
(CX-10842C at Q/A 75-79.) Additionally, sinee that time, the evidence shows that Converse has

repositioned its shoes from performance basketball shoes to casual shoes. (CX-OO242C at Q/A
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23-33; CX-00243C at Q/A 45-47; CX-00241C at _Q/A‘ 18; CX-00234 at Q/A 48-54.) As such,
. even if Con\;erse did, at one point, advertise the design elements of the CMT as functional, the
evidence does not show that it currently does so. See Adidas-Am., Inc. v. Payless Shoesource,
Inc., 546 F. Supp.2d 1029, 1084-85 (D. Or. 2008) (noting that “product features once deemed
wholly functional cah.:b.e‘transformed over time to non-functional, source-indicaﬁng features™).
Additibnally, the evidence shows that these advertisements tout only certain design elements,
: and not the CMT as a whole. (CX-00241C at Q/A 47-55; CX-00235 at Q/A 141-145; CX-
10842C at Q/A 74-105).) Functionality determinations should be based “on the superiority of the
design as a whole, rather than on whether each design feature is ‘useful’ or ‘serves a utilitarian
- purpose.’” Textron, Inc. v. ITC, 753 F.2d 1019, 1026 '(Fed. Cir. 1985).
| b. Manufacturing Method

Respondents assert that it has produced “compelling eyidence” that the CMT affects gthe-
cost of manufacturing the goods’. (RRB at 24.)

Converse asserts that .“the inclusion of the CMT on All Star shoes adds both complexity"
and cost to the shoes’ manufgéture.” (CIB at 48-49 (citing CX-00247C at Q/A 67, 85-87; ‘CX-
5318C).) Staff argues that fhis .factor is neutral. (SIB at 58.) |

The undersigned agrees with Staff that this factor is neutral. The evidence shows that,
although the application of the CMT to shoes may add costs :fo the prdcess, other methods of
increasing durability would likewise add costs. (CX-00234 at Q/A 149-52; RX-02086 at Q/A 60,

76-78, 82-83).)
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| ¢ | Utility Patents

Respondents argue that “[nJumerous patents owned by both Converse and Nike . .
describe the functional benefits of toe caps and bumpers in preventing wear and increasing
~ durability.” (RIB at 43, 44.)

| Converse asserts that none of these patents “reflect any utilitarian advantage from the

design or appearance of the CMT, as a while or of any of its elements.” (CIB at 49 (citing CX-
00234 at Q/A 115-140).) -

Staff argues that this factor weighs in favor of finding that the CMT is nonfunctional.
(SIB at 57.) Staff explains that “the evidence‘ on this factor fails to refer to the speciﬁc claimed
trade dress and iny refers to fhe de facto utility of toe bufnﬁers and toe caps generally.” (/d.
(citing CX-00234 at Q/A 139; CX-10842C at Q/A 48-55, 58, 66).)

The undersigned also finds that the utility patent factor weights in favor of finding the
CMT nonfunctional. The evidence shows that the utility patents cited to by Respondents address
only two of the design elements, and not the CMT as a whole. (CX?00234 at Q/A 1‘15—140; CX-
10842C at Q/A 48-55, 58, 63-66, 106-107).) The evidence shows that, even Respondents’ expert,
admits that the shoes depicted in theée patents do not have the same design elements as the C_M"‘F.-
(Holden, Tr. at 901:23-905:22.)

d. Commercial Alternatives

Respondents argue that this factor is irrelevant “[w]here a design is essential to the use or

- purpose of the device of affecfs the cost or quality of the device.’f (RRB at 24 (citing TrafFix

Devices, Inc. v. Marketing Displays, Inc., 532 U.S. 23, 33 (2001);) | ,

- 60 -



Case: 16-2497 Document: 1-5 Page: 66 Filed: 08/16/2016
PUBLIC VERSION
) Cony¢rse notes “the existence of numerous commercial alternatives” to Converég’s CMT |
~design. (CIB at 49 (citing CX-00234 at Q/A 62-114; CX-10842C at 43-45, 60, .7_1-73).) }Staf_f
agrees. (SIB at 57-58.)
The undersigned finds that this factor weighs in favor of ﬁnding the CMT nonfunctional,
The evidence shows that numerous commercial alternatives exist. (CX-00234 at Q/A 62-114; |
CX-10842C at Q/A 40-4.1., 43-47, 60-61, 71-73).) Additionally, as Staff notes, “there is. no. ,
evidence, other than conc_lvusory and unsupported expert tgstimony . . . that these and the other
proposed alternative designs would not offer the same de facto advantages of the CMT.” (SIB at
58 (citing (RX-10265 at Q/A 24-30).)
e. Conclusion
For the reasons set forth above, the undersigned finds that three of the Morton-Norwich
factors weigh in favof of finding that the CMT is. r_10.nfun‘ctional, while one is neutral.
Accordingly, the undersigned finds that the CMT has nét'b'een shown to be invalid due to de
- j;ure' functionality. ..
2. Aesthetic Functionality
“Under the theory of ‘aesthetic”functi'onality’ many visually attractive and aestheticélly
pleasing designs are categorized as ‘functional’ and hence free for all to copy and imitéte.”
McCarthy at § 7.79. The Supreme Court, in dictum, noted that “a functional feature is, one the
exclusive use of Whigh would put competitors at significant non-reputation-related
disadvantage.” TrafF. zx Devices, Inc. v. Marketing Displays, Inc., 532 U.S. 23, 33 (2001). Many
courts have rejected fhe:théory of aesthetic functionality. McCarthy at § 7.80.
Respondents 'céntend that the CMT is aesthetically functional “because all featurés of the

asserted trade dress are needed to evoke a classic style that is valued by consumers.” (RIB at 45
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(citing RX-02086C at Q/A 90-01; RX-02362 at 1:18-25).) They‘ assert that “removing .the.
combination of the toe cap, the toe bumper, and midsole stripes from the public domain would
place Responder:lts at a significant competitive disadvantage.” (/d. (citing RX-02362 at 1:18-25).)
Converse notes that many courts have rejected the theory of aesthetic functionality. (CIB
at 50.) Converse contends that, even if the Commission does not reject it, Respondents failed to
meet their burden. (/d.) Speciﬁcally; Converse argues that “Respondents offer only unsupported;: _
unsubstantiated options from Mr. Holden, who admittedly has not conducted any consumer
surveys.” (Id. at 50 (citing Holden, Tr. at 897:17-23).) Converse further notes that “Respondents’
argument hinges on'an admittedly unsupported proposition that the CMT is the only way to
design a classic-style shoe.” (CRB at 31.) N
Staff agreéé that Respondents “fail to provide evidence that the specific design and
placement of the elements in the CMT is necessary to compete in the relevant market and that
not being able to use the specific design of the CMT would place Respondents at a
disadvantage.” (SIB at 58.) |
- The undersigned finds that Re.spondents have not demonstrated that the CMT is
aesthetically functional. It is telling that, although Respondents assert that there is “considerable
evidence that the alleged midsole trademark is, in fact, functional from an aesthetic perspective”
(RRB at 24), they cite to only two questions from the direct examination of their expert and a
statement by Converse in a patent regarding the All Star’s popularity due to its “aesthetically
pleasing appearance.” (See RIB ét.45 (citing RX-02086C at Q/A 90-91; RX-02362 at 1:18-25).)_
) The cited testimony is conclﬁsory and does not provide ahy basis for the expert’s opinions. (RX
- 02086C at Q/A 90-91.) Additioﬁally, a statement that__thg ﬂlark is aesthetically pleasing is not

evidence that it is aesthetically functional, nor is a statement that a style is “very popular”
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evidence that removing the CMT from the public domain would place Respondents at a
“significant competitive disadvantage.” Such meager evidence is insufficient for Respondents to
overcome the presumption that the federally registered CMT is valid. Similarly, this evidence -
does not demonstrate invalidity of the common law trademark.

C. Genericness |

A trademark is invalid ifitis generic. A generic term “is the common descriptive name of '
a class of goods of services.” Princeton Vanguard, LLC v. Fritb—Lay N. Am., Inc., 786 F.3d 960,
965 (Fed. Cir. 2015). “Because generic terms are. by definition incapable of indicating a
particular gource ofvthe goods or services, they cannot be registered as trademarks.” Id. In
determining Whether a mark is generic, courts follbw a two-step inquiry; “First, wﬁat is the genus
of goods or services at issue? Second, is the term sought to be registered or retained on the
register understood by the relevant public primarily to refer to that genus of goods or services?”
. _ _

‘With respect to the first step, Respondents assert that the CMT is géneric for sneaker.
' (RIB at 47.) In support, Responderits cite to The Complete Fi ootwear Dictionary which depicts a
.sl.loe bearing the CMT as a sneaker. (Id.)

Converse asserts that _Respc;ndents have been unable to define the genus and that even its
own experts cannot agree on the definition. (CIB at 45; CRB at526-27.) Staff agrees. (SIB at 53.)

The undersigned _ﬁnd}s that the CMT is not generic. Respondents have not met their
burden in establishing -Ethat the first. step of the twofstep inquiry is satisfied. Although
Respondents assert in _the_i‘r. brief that the genus is “sneaker,"’ their experts disagree. (RX-07698 a"&'
Q/A 88 (“canvas ca:p-toe__‘oxford sneaker”); RX-02087 at Q/A 97, 109 (“vulcanized canvas

shoes,” “basketball shoes,'” and “gym shoes”); RX-02091C at Q/A 34 (“retro basketball shoes”);
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: RX‘-OQOO3C- at Q/A- 116 V(“snéakers”).) Additionally, the. dictioﬁary cited by Responcients does:

, not‘su.pp_or_t their argument becaﬁse, as Sfaff notes, it “is merely an example of a sneaker, and the |
definition itself makes no mention of the” CMT. (SIB at 53 (citing RX-02478).) Because the
evidence does not show that the CMT is generic for any particular genus of goods, the
undersigned finds that the CMT is not invalid as generic.

V. INFRINGEMENT

Trademark infringement is analyzed under a two prong test: First, we look to see whether
the mark merits protection, and second, whether the respondent’s use of a similar mark is likely
to cause consumer confusion. Handbags, Order No. 16 at 6. The undersigned has previously
detérmined that the 703 registration is valid. See, supra, § IV.A.6. Thus, fqr this trademark, the
only remaining aﬁalysis for infringement is whether there is a likelihood éf consumer confusion.

Thg Vundersigned determined that the common law trade dress was invalid. See, supra, §
IV.A.6. Thus, for this mark, there can be no infringement. If this tfade dress were to be found
valid, hbwever, the same infringement analysis would apply. See Di’éital Multimeters at 13 (“As
the ’480 mark is very similar to and is encompassed within fhe breath of Flucke’s trade dress, in
considering likelihood of confusion, it was only necessary for the undersigned to conduct a
single infringement analysis”).

To determine consumer confusion, the Commission applies the following factors: (1) the
degree of similarity between the designation and the trademark in appearance, the proﬁuncigtion
of words used, verbal translation of pictures or designs involved, and suggestion; (2) the intent of
the actor in adopting the désignation; (3) the” relétionv in use and manner of marketing between
the goods and services marked by the actor and those by the other; and (4) the degreé of care

likely to be exercised by.purchasers.” Ink Markers, Order No. 30 at 36. The Commission may
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also consider additional factors, such as the strength of the mark or actual confusion. All faqfors
must be evaluated in the context of the ultimate question of likelihood of confusion as to the
source or sponsorship of the product. Handbags, Order No. 16 at 9.

Throughout the parties’ arguments with respect to infringement, there is a dispute as to
whether Converse can rely on evidence of post-sale confusion, or whether it must be limited to
evidencé of point-of-sale confusion. Respondents insist that evidence of post-saie confusion is
irrelevant and cite to the 1983 decision of Certain Braiding Machines, 337-TA-130, USITC Pub.
1435 (1983), in support. In that case, the Commission concluded:

A review of the applicable precedent and éommentaries indicates that the relevant

question generally in a determination of likelihood of confusion is whether a

purchaser was confused or likely to be confused at the time he acquired his

interest and considered the purchase . . . Consequently, evidence concerning the
post-sale scenario is of limited value for the purposes of this analysis.
Id. at 72-73. Since that time, however, mosf courts that have analyzed the issue have concluded
that post-sale confusion is relevant. See, e.g., Payless Shoesource, Inc. v. Reebok Int’l, Ltd.,. 998 .
F.2d 985 (1993) (explaining that the First, Second, Fourth, Fifth,' Ninth, and Eleventh Circuits
consider evidence of posf—sale confusion and that the Tenth Ciréuit likely would “if it considered
the issue head-on™).

The undersigned agrees with the majority of the courts and finds that post-sale confusion
can be relevant in a likelihood of confusion analysis. This is particularly true in this case: “With
sneaker labels, where the impressed words can only be read a few feet away from the eyes,”
post-consumer confusion is “quite relevant.” Keds Corp. v. Renee Int’l Trading Corp., 888 F.2d
215, 222 (1st Cir. 1989). Thus, in evaluating the infringement factors, the undersigned agrees: _

that post-sale confusion is the most appropriate framework for assessing likelihood of confusion

in this Investigation.
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The parties also disagree-as to :whether. consumer comments should be evidenqe of
confusion. Respondents assert that such éomments are “unreliable and should be givén no
weight.” (RIB at 57 (citing QVC Inc. v. Your Vitamins, Inc., 439 Fed. App’x 165, 168-69 (3d Cir.
2011).) They assert that Dr. Winer did not take steps to confirm the legitimacy :of these
comments. (Id. (citing JX-00412C at 164:1-14, 177:18-179:3, 520:4-20).) Respondents further
assert that “to be probative, anecdotal evidence of confusion must be more than de minimis.’;
(Id at 58 (Citing Medici Classics Prods, LLC v. Medici Grp, LLC, 683 F.Supp.2d 304, 312
(S.D.N.Y. 2010); Kendall-Jackson Winery, Ltd. v. E. & J. Gallo Winery, 150 F.3d 1042, 1052
(9th Cir. 1998).) Respondents explain that the comments introduced into evidence “amount to
Q.0000026471%” of shoes sold. (/d. (citing CX-00240C.80 at Q/A 533; CDX-00240.018).)

Staff agrees that “Respondents raise valid queétions about the reliability of these
comments.” (SIB at 62.) Staff notes that “Mr. Winer acknowledged that nothing was done to
verify the 'commenters’ identities, their presence in the U.S., or whether théy are in fact
purchasers of the Accused Products.” (Id. (citing JX-OQ4I2C ).)

Converse asserts fhat “[c]onsumer comments suggesting an affiliation or relat.ionship are
frequently considered as probative and strong evidence of confusion.” (CRB at 37 (citing Conn.
Cmty. Bank v. Bank of Greenwich, 578 F. Supp.2d 405, 419 (D. Conn. 2008), Victoria Secret
Catalogue, Inc. v. Moseley, 558 F.Supp.2d 734, 748 (W.D. Ky. 2008).) Converse explains that
“[t]he online evidence at issue here is particularly relevant because the digital marketplace is a
significant source of confusion and harm to Converse and bécause the parties promote, market,
and sell théir footwear online.” (Id. at 38.)

The undersigned agrees that the evidence regarding consumer comments shouid carry

little weight in this Investigation. The evidence shows that the amount of comments pales in
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comparison to the sales_of vthe shoes. (CX-O(_)240C._8(_) at Q/A 473; CDX-00240.018.) Thus, eveh E
~if the undersigned_We.re”_to find that these co_mr.nentsi were credible, there is still very little
evidence that consumers are actually confused by the sale of Respondents’ Accused Products.
Thus, the undersigned does not find that the evidence of consumer comménts favors a finding of
likelihood of confusion.

A. Skechers

Converse accuses several of Skechers product lines of infringement, including BOBS,
Twinkle Toes, Daddy’$ Money, and HyDee HyTop. (CIB at 10 (citing CX-00021).)
17 - Degree of Similarity

Converse asserté that the midsole of the Skechers Accused Products is ﬁearly identical to
the CMT. (CIB at 56 (citing CX-00240C at Q/A 783-94; CDX-00240.0041; CX-00242C at Q/A
- 110-12; CDX-00242.0001.)

Skechers argues that its products “feature a uniqué ‘look’ and are easily d:istinguishable
from Converse products and the asserted trade dress.” (RIB at 64.) Skechers specifically points‘
to the differences in the Twinkle Toes line of shoes, including its fabric cap with embellishments
and prominent branding. (Id. at 64-65 (citing RX.-O209.2C at Q/A 23-25, 38 101; RX-05076; RX-
05114; RX-05293; RX-O4978; RX-04983; RX-05067; RX-05058; RX-05062); RRB at 30.)
Skechers also argues that the “representative shoes” are not actually representative of the
products accused of infringement. (RRB at 31.) |

Staff asserts that :t:he ‘;evidence shows that Skechers_’ Daddy’$ Money and HyDee HyTop
lines of shoes have. rh_idsole designs tilat are identical,. or :n,early identical” to the CMT. (SIB at
63-64.) Staff believes.that the BOBS Utopia and Twinkle Toes line of shoes inclﬁde significant

differences. (Id. at 64-66 (citing RX-03985; RX-05966; RPX-0258; RPX-0259; RPX—O260;
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RPX-0261; RX-02092C ét Q/A 85, 90).) Staff “disagrees that the examples of ;[he Skechers.
products . . . ére representative of the. more than 700 different styles of Skechers Accused
Products.” (SRB at 5-6.)
The undersigned agrees with Skechers and Staff that the shoes selected by Converse are
not, in fact, representative of the Accused Products. For example, Converse relies on the

following as a representative Twinkle Toes shoe:

(CPX-199; CX-00021.0003.) _As seen in the image, this particular shoe lacks branding on the toe
bumper. (Id.) In contrast, the evidence shows that Skechers often adds colorful branding to the
toe bumper of its shoes. (RX-02091 at Q/A 94; RX-02092C at Q/A 38, 100-101; RX-04978; RX-
04983; RX-05058; RX-05062; RX-05067, RX-05078; RX-05082; RX-05114; RX-05173; RX-
05293.) While, the presence of a brand name on a product does not alone insulate an infringer,
the label can serve as additional indicia that there is no likelihood of confusion. Certain Steel Toy
Vehicles, No. 337-TA-31, USITC Pub. 880, at *33 (1978); McCarthy at § 23.53 (explaining that
“[t]he majority view is that labeling or use of a word mark does not avoid what would otherwise
be an infringing trade dress™). In the case of Skechers, the ldgos often appear in bright colors and
are thus noticeable, even from a distance. (RX-02091 at Q/A 94-95; RX-04978; RX-04983; RX-
05058; RX-05062; RX-05067, RX-05078; RX-05082; RX-05114; RX-05173; RX-05293.)

-68 -



Case: 16-2497 Document: 1-5 Page: 74 Filed: 08/16/2016
PUBLIC VERSION
Because it appears that at least some of the Accused Products are not similar to the CMT, the
undersigned cannot accept Converse’s assertion that the products it selects are representative of
the Accused Product. The undersigned accordingly limits Converse to the following products:
the shoes appearing in CPX-199, CX-21, and CDX-00240.040.%"
a) Twinkle Toes

The undersigned finds that this factor weighs against a finding of likelihood of confusion

for the Twinkle Toes shoes. These shoes contain embellishments on the toe-cap that light up

when a consumer walks in them:

CEpa
- 1

14
sy
r

.

(CX-00021; CDX-00240.040; RX-02091C at Q/A 93; RX-O2‘092C at Q/A 25 (explaining that
“[m]ost styles in the Twinkle Toes line right now have lights built into the shoe, which light up
with each step™); id. at Q/A 30.) These design features create enough differences that the shoes
bearing.them cannot be said to be similar to the CMT. Even Converse admits that the presence of
embellishments on the Twinkle Toes shoes, “skew[s] the appearance of the shoe.” (CX-00240C

at Q/A 906.)

211t appears that Converse cannot actually identify what products are representative. Dr. Winer and Mr. Cathoun cite
to different representative products in their testimony. (CX-00240C at Q/A 784; CDX-00240.040; CX-00242C at
Q/A 110-12.) These products are different than those Converse identifies in its brief. (CIB at 10 (indicating that
“[r]epresentative images of Skechers’ Accused Products are shown in CX-21, and the Skechers Toes Shuffles
Streetfeet is shown in Figure 1.4.”).)
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b) BOBS Utopia
The undersigned finds that this factor weighs against a finding of likelihood of confusion
with respect to the BOBS Utopia line of shoes. While the overall look of the shoe is similar, (see,

e.g., CX-00240C at Q/A 788-89), the BOBS shoe contains a prominent logo on the heel.
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(CX-00021.) As with the Twinkle Toes logo, these logos are highly visible and serve to dispel

confusion.
c) Daddy’$ Money and HyDee HyTop
The undersigned finds that this factor weighs in favor of a finding of likelihood of
confusion for the Daddy’$ money and HyDee HyTop line of shoes. The evidence shows that the

Daddy’$ Money and HyDee HyTop shoes have midsole designs that are identical or nearly

identical to the CMT:
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Hydec Hytop - ‘ . \
Gimme Starry Skies ; . ‘w\

. Daddy'S N!Oll(iyi
~ ‘Gimme Lone Star

Daddy'$ Money - ey
Gimme Mucho ‘

. o |
Dmcro. | | e -jyl

(CDX-00240.040; CDX-00240.0041; CX-00240C at Q/A 784-785, 788-89.) Although Skechers
asserts that these shoes are different because they contain a “hidden wedge” heel (RX-O2092C at
-Q/A 111, 120), this feature — by definition — is not visible to observers. Thus, in a post-sale

context it would not decrease the likelihood of confusion. Additionally, Skechers does not set
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forth any evidence that the toe cap, bumper, and midsole differ signiﬁcantly, other than that they

N have a “distressed” finish. (RX-02092C at Q/A 111.) Given tha_t-the purpose of the distressed_.

finish is to create a “worn look,” an observer may just assume that the shoes have been
frequently worn and thus not likely to be confused.

2. Intent

] Converse further notes that Skechers displays
the Accused Product‘s when a consumer searches “Chuck Taylor,” “Chucks,” and/or “Converse”
on'skeéhers.com‘. (Id. (citing CX-00242C at Q/A 1 13-1‘14; CX-00023; CX-00438-CX-00439).)

Skechers asserts that there “is no evidence that Skechers intended to confuse consumers:
or to trade upon Converse’s reputatior_l.‘ (RIB at 66.) Skechers also explains that its ‘fl:)faﬁding ”
practices preclude a finding of any intent to confuse consumers.” (1d.) ‘

Staff “believes that this factor weighs slightly in favor of finding likelihood of c_onfusion,
particularly because of the website return results.” (SIB at 68.)

The undersigned finds that this factor weighs in favor of finding a likelihood of
confusion. In contrast to Skechers’ assertion that it did not intend to confuse consumers, the
evidence shows that Skechefs intentionally displayed thé:Accus;ed Products when a consumer
searched “Chuck Taylor,” “Chucks,” and/or “Converée” oﬁ skechers.com. (CX-00242C at Q/A

114; CX-00023; CX-00438-CX-00439).)
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3. Re}’ation in Use and Manner of Markgtiﬁg |

Converse argues. that “[t]here is considerable overlap between the distribution and
marketing channels for Skechers” Accused Products and All Star shoes, as Skechers’ Accused
Products are sold in many of the same retail locations as All Star shoes, both online . . . and in
brick-and-mortar stores.” (CIB at 57 (citing CX-00240C at Q/A 863-68, 878; CX-00244C at Q/A
23, 35-37, 103, 113; CX-00242C at Q/A 115-117.) Converse further asserts that the shoes “are
marketed and/or advertised through similar channels, including in some of the same
publications.” (Id. (citing CX-QOZ4OC at Q/A 888-96;, CX-00242C at Q/A 115-117; CX-08072;
CX-08073; CX-09794C).)

Skechers asserts that it “has its own website, retail stores, and concept stores that sell -
only Skechers products.” (RIB at 68 (citing RX-02092C at Q/A 15-16, 82; RX-02091C at Q/A
95).) They further assert that ‘f[f]or third party retail stores, Skechers invests in significant Point
of Purchase branding.” (/d. (citing RX-02091C at Q/A 95; RX-02092C at Q/A 39-40, 88-89, 98-
99; RDX-00029C.011-012, 015; RPX-0263-RPX-0266; RPX-0258-261).)

Staff believes that this factor weighs against a finding of confusion “given the evidence
of Skechers’ significant efforts to build its own brand identity through branding and marketing
its products, particularly the Twinkle Toes products.” (SIB at 68.) Staff explains that “Skechers
spends more than $100 million per year on advertising,” created an animated movie based on
Twinkle Toes, and has partnered to make a line of Twinkle Toes Cébbage Patch Kids Dolls. (Id.
(citing RX-02092C at Q/A 29, 41, 90, 100, 11, 120; RX-02091C at Q/A 45, 94-96; RX
02519.064).) : -
The undersigned finds that this factor weighs ag_ainsf a ﬁq_ding of likelihood of confusion.;:'

While the evidence shows that distribution and marketing channels for the Skechers Accused
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Products and the All ‘Star shoes overlap, the evidéﬁce also shows that Skechefs mal.<es.fm
considerable efforts to distinguish this line of products. (RX-02092C at Q/A 29, 41, 88, 100, 111?,‘
120; RX-02091C at Q/A 94; RPX-0263-RPX-0266; RPX-0258-261).) These efforts decrease thé
likelihood that a consumer will be confused by the marketing and distribution of the Skechers
Accused Products.
4, Degree of Cai’e

Converse contends that “[a]t prices between $35 and $50, consumers of shoes like
Skechers’ Accused Products are unlikely to exercise great care in resolving confusion.” (CIB at
58 (citing CX-00243C at Q/A 209).)

Skechers assérts that “most Converse customers haveE already decided to purchase a
.C.onverse shoe before they head to the store.” (RIB at 69‘ (citing RX-00194C.056).)
-A_écordingly, Skechers argues “these purchasers are likely to exercise a high degree of care.”
(Id) Skechers further asserts that, due to “Skechers’ extensive brand identity and marketing
pfactices,” Skechers consumers also are likely to exercise ahigh degree of care. (Id.)

| Staff believes that the “degree of care exercised by .purchasers is neutral with respect to -
Skechers, especially due to the relatively similar price point of” the products “and the signiﬁéant-
branding present on both produéts.” (SIB at 69 (citing CX-00244C at Q/A 57, 103).)

The undersigned finds. that this factor weighs in favor of a finding of likelihood of
confusion. Purchasers of ‘rélétively inexpensive athletic and sportswear’ are ‘not likely to
exercise a great deal of care in distinguishing between trademarks when purchasing the goods.”
Adidas, 546 F. Supp.2d at 1060. While it may be trﬁé, as Skechers suggests, that certain
purchasers decide that they would like to either purchase Converse or Skechers shoes prior to

shopping, there is no evidence that undecided consumers would exercise such care. Given the
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relatively low price point of these shoes, consumers may be confused at the point of sale. This is

_ especially true, given that Skechers displays the Accused Products when consumers search

“Chuck Taylor,” “Chucks,” and/or “Converse” on skechers.com. (CX-00242C at Q/A 113; CX-

00023; CX-00438-CX-00439).)
5. Survey Evidence

In support of its claim of consumer confusion, Converse introduced survey results from
two experts. The ﬁrsf, Dr. Isaacson, tested for confusion related to Skechers’ Daddy’$ Money
shoes and “reported 36% net confusion for the Gimme Mucho Dinero shoe, and 21.7% net
confusion for the Gimme Lone Star shoe.” (CIB at 60 (cifing CX-00231 at Q/A 1, 4, 10, 28-30,
40, 65, 80, 133-34, 142.) Dr. Parikh tested for confusipn with respect to BOBS, Twinkle Toes,
and HyDee Hypr énd “reported adjusted likelihood :of ‘<::0nfusi0n rates, ranging from 30.8%-
47.4%” for models of fhese shoes. (Id. at 60-61 (citing CX-00236C at Q/A 2-3, 8-10, 50, 52, 60-
61).) “ |

Skechers asserts that:Dr. Parikh’s results are flawed and unreliable, as, among other
things; she “measured association caused by other 'a.s.pects of the test shoes” due to a failure “tq
isolate fhe claimed elements.” (RIB at 70.) Skechers also introduced its own survéy evidence
from Dr. Stewart, who it claims “demonstrated that the accused design elements on the shoes
accounted for a net rate of association of zero or approximately zero.” (Id. at 70-71 (citing RX-
02090C at Q/A 76-82, 85-91).)

Staff agrees .that Dr. Parikh’s survey design and methadology is flawed and the results
should be disregardéd. (SIB at 61.) Specifically, “[t]he fﬁpst ﬁétable flaw is that the [Parikh]
surveys | tested the overall look and appearance of the shoes, and not whether there was any

confusion as a result of the” CMT. (Id.) Additionally, Dr. Parikh’s “selection of controls that -
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have numerous differences from the test shoe and do not isolate the elements of the asserted

" midsole trademark renders [her] results of little value for purposes of determining the level of

confusion associated with the asserted trademark.” (Id. (citing Skechers U.S.A. v. Vans, Inc., No.
07-0173, 2007 WL 418677, at *9 (C.D. Cal. Nov. 20, 2007).)

In response, Converse explains that Dr. Stewart’s survey results are flawed. Specifically,
Skechers contends that Dr. Stewart used improper controls, included a brand name on the test
shoe — but not the control shoe — and asked the wrong questions. (CRB at 39-40 (citing Stewart,
Tr. at 662:13-664:2, 665:6-668:12; CX-00236C at Q/A 200; RX-10140 at .0044-.0045).)

The undersigned finds that the survey results of Dr. Parikh are unreliable. The evidence
shows Dr. Parikh’s surveys tested the overall look and appearance of the shoe and not the CMT.
(CX-00236 at Q/A 115, 193.;. RX-02089 at Q/A 62, 65; JX-00425 at 47:22-48:14.) Without
evidence that it was the de:s‘i‘gn elements at issue - and not something else — that caused
co.nfusion, the survey results are unhelpful. (RX-10136 at Q/A 40, 51; RX-10278C at Q/A 40.)

The evidence also shows that Dr. Parikh’s control shoes were substantially different than
the test shoes. (CX-05196 — CX-05198; RX-02089 at Q/A 62, 65, 67-73.) One example of Dr.

Parikh’s control and test shoes is depicted below:

BOBS Utopta Low Top TEST SHOE GOwalk Dynamic CONTROL SHOE

(CX-05196.) The general rule in selecting a control is that it should share as many characteristics

as possible with the test stimulus with the exception of the characteristics being measured. (RX-
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02089C at Q/A 64; Ford, Tr. at 262:16-263:6, 264:7-16; RX-10136 at Q/A 46; RX-10278C atrr |
Q/A 42-43.) Dr. Parikh’s selection of a control with significant differences likely affected her
results. (RX-02089C at Q/A 63-73; RX-10136 at Q/A 48.)

The undersigned finds that the results of Dr. Stewart’s surveys are reliable. Dr. Stewart’s.
surveys related to the‘TWinkle Toes and BOBS Utopia shoes. (RDX-0032C.0015 -.0029.) First,
Converse complains that “Dr. Stewart’s controls themselves were sources of confusion . . .
because certain controls included toe caps and others included elements that otherwise are source
identifies of Converse.” (CRB at 39-40.) Dr. Stewart explained, howev;ar, that he “chose to run
two controls: one to measure noise when all three claimed elements of the asserted design [were
removed], and the second to measure the noise when the shoes retained their toe caps.” (RX-
02090C at Q/A 79.) Converse does not effectively demonstrate why this approach was incorrect.
(See CX-00236C at Q/A 200.) The undersigned additionally finds that Converse did not
demonstrate why Dr. Stewart’s dgcision to display a brand name on the test shoe — but not the -
control shoe — was incorrect. (RX-02090C at Q/A 81.) Finally, the undersigned finds ‘_t'hat_
Converse did not introduce sufficient evidence as to why Dr. Stewart’s questions were flawed.

The undersigned finds Dr. Isaacson’s results reliable. Sketchers’ criticisms are
unpersuasive. Dr._ Isaacson testified that the images in his survey were shown on a computer
screen in a high resolution and that he selected views of the shoes used by Skechers and which
prominently displayed branding. (CX-00231 at Q/A 57, 63-65, 100-103, 138-41.) Dr. Isaacson
also éxplaine(i that his survey was designed to measure shoes in a post-sale context. (/d.) For
exampie, he testiﬁéd that he used one shoe in his survey as a méaﬁs to “replicate|[] the situation
where someone encounters the sneakers butside the store, perhaps on someone’s feet...” (Id. at

Q/A 65.)
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For the reasorll.s. explamed abc;vé, _the ﬁhdersigned ﬁnds: (1) fﬁe survey evidence weighs in
favor of a finding of lil;elihgod éf c_onfusion wifh re_spect. to Daddy’$ Money shoes; (2) the
survey evidence weighs against a finding of likelihood of confusion with respect to BOB’s
" Utopia and Twinkle Toes; and (3) the survey evidence is neutral with respect to HyDee HyTop.

6. Conclusion |

For the reasons stated above, four of the five factors are in favor of or are neutral to |
likelihood - of confusion with respect to Skechers’ Daddy’$ Money and HyDee HyTop.
Accordingly, the undersigned finds that these shoes infringe the CMT.

With respect to the Twinkle Toes and BOBS. Utopia, two factors weigh in favor of a
finding of likelihood of confusion, but three do ﬁof. of partiéﬁlar -i-mportance, the undersigned |
found that the shoes were not similar to the CMT and that the .su‘rvey_ evidence conéluded that
there was not a likelihood of confusion. Accordingly, the undersigned finds that these shoes do
not infringe the CMT.

B. Walmart

Converse accuséé Walmart’s Faded Glory and‘Kitch lines of shoes of infringement. (CIB
at11.)

1. Degree of Similarity

Converse asserts that Walmart’s Accused Products are highly similar to the CMT. (CIB
at 61-62 (éiting CDX-00240.0061; CX-00240C at Q/A 949-60; CX-00242C at Q/A 123-127;_.
CPX-217; CPX-219; CX-01492).) Converse asserts that the Faded"Glory Stinson Qxford is -
“nearly indistinguishable from [All Star] shoes, even when viewed closely.” (/d. .at 61 (citingfi :

CX-00242C at Q/A 126).)
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Walmart asserts that there are differences in thé designs between its shoes and the CMT.
(RIB at 72-73.) Specifically, Walmart explains that the Faded Glory Men’s Stinson shoe has a
different Bumper and outsole, contrast stitching in the back, a tab on the back of the heel, and
lacks the triangle stitching design on the toe cap that the All Star has. (Id. (citing RX-07691C at
Q/A 61-63).) Walmart also contends that the Kitch shoe “looks nothing like” the All Star. (RRB
at 33 (citing RX-07759; RDX-0040-3).)

Staff believes that this factor weighs in favor of likelihood of confusion for all Accused
Products, other than the Kitch model. (SIB at 69.) Staff explains that “the midsoles of several of
the Faded Glory line are nearly identical to the” CMT. (/d. (citing CX-00240 at Q/A 952-953).)
Although Staff notes that there are some differences, Staff also notes that these are “not
necessarily apparent from a distance and may require close inspection of the shoes.” (/d. at 70
(citing RX-07691 at Q/A 110).)

The undersigned finds that this factor weighs in favor of a finding of likelihood of
confusion with respect to the Faded Glory line of shoes. The evidence shows that the overall

commercial impression of these shoes is very similar to the CMT:

(CX-00030; see also CX-00240C at Q/A 951-52). The midsoles feature a toe cap, a toe bumper,

and two stripes. (Id.) The evidence further shows that, although there are differences in'some of
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the bumpers of the Faded Glory models, it is difficult to see these dlfferences from a d1stance
- (RX-07691C at Q/A 110.) Additionally, the evidence shows that the presence of branding on the
Accused Products is unlikely to dispel confusion. The branding is placed on the outsole and the

insole of the shoe:

- (RX-07724; RDX-0040.) Accordingly, it would be difﬁeult in a post-sale context to notice the
branding.

The undersigned is not persuaded that the presence of embellishments in some of the
Faded Glory shoes renders the shoes dissimilar. While the evidence shows that some of the
Accused Products contain embellishments on the toe cap and/or toe bumper, (see RX-07706C),
the evidence also shows that these embellishments are unlikely to dbispel confusion. Unlike the
Twinkle Toe products — whose light-up embellishments serve to identify the product as a :
Skechers shoe — the embellishments on the Faded Glory shoes do not lead a consumer to

associate the brand with Walmart. This is because Converse sells nearly identical shoes:
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Exemplary Walmart Accused Products
(CPX-217; CPX-219)

Exemplary Converse All Star Shoes
(CX-1492 at . 0045)

]

Tty

(CPX-217; CPX-219; CX-1492 at .0045.) Accordingly, the undersigned finds that the overall

commercial impression of these shoes remains similar to the CMT.

The undersigned finds that this factor weighs against a finding of likelihood of confusion

with respect to the Kitch shoe. The evidence shows that this shoe does not contain stripes and the

toe cap is not easily visible, as it is the same color as the upper of the shoe:
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(RX-07759.) The overall commercial impression of the Kitch shoe is different than the CMT.
2. Intent

Converse contends that Walmart’s intent to copy the CMT is evident from its internal
documents, as well as the fact that Walmart displays the Accused Products when a shopper
searches “Converse” on Walmart.com. (CIB at 63 (citing CX-00606C — CX-00609C; CX-
00614C — CX-00615C; CX-08089; CX-01564; CX-00240C at Q/A 582, 981-84; JX-00004; CX-
10627; CX-00244C at Q/A 93-94; CX-00242C at Q/A 124-25; CX-01551C).) Converse also
asserts that “the near identical similarity of Walmart’s Accused Products to the CMT . . . is
evidence of Walmart’s intent to copy the CMT.” (Id. at 63-64 (citing CX-00240C at Q/A 957-
58).)
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In response Walmart argues that its search results . merelv reﬂect the fact that Converse |
is synonymous with ‘canvas sneaker.”” (RRB at 35 (citing RX 10135C at Q/A 15; CX- 01551C -
at 131:19-134:13).) Walmart further asserts that the fact that it offers a similar type of product is -
irrelevant. (Id. (citing Water Pik, Inc. v. Med-Systems, Inc., 726 F.3d 1136, 1157 (10th Cir.
2013))) |

| Staff asserts that [

| ] (SIB at 71
(citing CX-00606C — CX-00609C; CX-00614C — CX-00615C;. CX-08089; CX-OO24OC at Q/A
582).) Staff also notes that “there is evidence that shoppers searching for ‘Converse’ or ‘All Star’
on.Walmart.com were drrected to Walrnart Accused Products.” (1d. (ciﬁng CX-00240C at Q/A
983-88; CX-00242C at Q/A 124-125; CX-00244C at Q/A 93-94; CX-00032; CX-00846; CX-
10627).) Staff concludes “This factor therefore, weighs strongly in favor of finding confusion.”
(Id.)

The undersigned finds that this factor welghs in favor of a finding of llkehhood of |
confusion with respect to the Faded Glory line of shoes The evidence shows that Walmart
intentionally displays these products on its website when a user searches for “Converse” or “All
Star.” (CX-00240C at Q/A 982-984; CX-00242C at Q/A 124-125; CX-00244C at Q/A 93; CX-
10509; CX-10627; JX-OOOO4.) [

] (CX-00240C at Q/A 582-583; CX-00606C; CX-00609C; CX-08089.) As
such, the evidence demonstrates intent bv Walmart to confuse consumers.

The undersigned finds that this factor weighs against a finding of likelihood of confusion

with respect to the Kitch shoes. The evidence regarding the website results is limited to the
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Faded”Glor‘y‘shoes. (CX-00240C at Q/A 982-984.) There is no evidence that Walmart displéys
the Kitch shoés in such search results.
3. Relation in Use and Manner of Marketing

Converse asserts that there “is overlap between the distribution and marketing channels
for the All Star shoes and Walmart's Accused Products,” as Walmart sells “genuine All Star
shoes on its website walmart.com.” (CIB at 62 (citing CX-00240C at Q/A 979-89; CX-00244C
at Q/A 23, 31-34, 107-08; CX-00242C at Q/A 130-31).)

Walmart asserts that it does not advertise the Accused Products and that there is no
overlap in distribution, as it does not sell Converse shoes at its brick and mortar stores. (RIB at
73-74 (citing RX-07691C at Q/A 163-64; RX-07691C at Q/A 169).) Walmart also asserts that
the Kitch shoe operates in a separate channel of commerce. (Id. at 74 (citing RX-07691C at Q/A
149).)

‘Staff asserts that ‘this factor “weighs slightl_y against finding confusion.” (SIB at 71.)
Staff notes that there is no overlap in distribution channels or marketing and asserts that “no
Converse shoes are sold” in Walmart’s stores or through its website. (Id. at 71-72 (citing RX-
07691 at Q/A 163-166).)

The undersigned finds that this factor weighs in favor of a finding of likelihood of
confusion. The evidence shows that Walmart sells both Converse shoes and the Accused
Products on its website. (CX-00240C at Q/A 980; CX-00242C at Q/A. 130; CX-10509.) Thus,
there is an overlap in this distribution channel. See Roederer v. J. Garcia Carrion, S.A., 732
F.Supp.2d 836, 868 (D. Minn. 2010) (factor favors likelihood of confusion where the products

are sold through overlapping distribution channels). Additionally, Walmart displays the Accused
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Products as search results for “Converse” and “All Star,” thus compoundihg ‘;he_ problem. (CX-
| 00240C at Q/A 981.) |
4 Degree of Care

Converse “asserts that consumers of the Walmart Accused Products are unlikely to
exercise gr‘eat.care, as the cost of the Accused Products is ld:vv‘.. (CIB at 63 (citing CX-00243C at
Q/A 217-18).) Converse also contends that individuals observing the Accused Products are likely
to experience pbst-sale confusion. (Id. (citing CX-07956 at .0001-3).) |

Walmart asserts that its shoes are “purchased with care” and that its shoppers “know -
whether they are buying the cheaper copies or the expensive originals.” (RIB at 77 (citing RX:

07691C at Q/A 199).)
| Staff contends that this factor weighs in favor of a ﬁnding of likelihood of confusion,
. given that the Walmart Accused Products are low cost items. (SIB at 72 (CX-00240 at Q/A
1008; CX-00244C at -Q/A 107).) -‘

The unders)iéned finds that this factor weighs in favor of a finding of likelihood
confusion. The evidence shows that thé Accused Products are relatively‘ inexpensive.
“Purchasers of ‘relatively inexpensive athletic and sportswear’ are ‘not likely to exercise a great
deal of care in distinguishing between trademarks when purchasing the goods.” Adidas-Am., 546
F. Supp.2d at 1060.) While Walmart contends that “plirchésers in discount stores are sufficiently
sophisticated . . . to know whether they are buying the cheaper copies or the expensive
originals,” it does not introduce any evidence in support of this contention. Instead, Walma.rt. '
” éites only to the tesfimony of Walmart’s Senior Buyer of Men’s Shoes who stated that this:-v:vas' _
~ his belief. (RX—O7691 at Q/A 198-199.) This is not enough to overcome the general rule that

“[w]hen products are relatively low-priced and subject to impulse buying, the risk of likelihood
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6f qunﬁJsion is incrégsed because purchasers of such products ére held to a les‘se.r standard of B
N pufchésing care.” Recot, Inc. v. Becton, 2‘.14 F.3d 1322, 1329 (Fed. Cir. 2000). |
S. Survey Evidence

In support of its claim of consumer confusion, Con.Verse introduced the testimony of Mr.
Johnson, who reported an adjusted net result of 64.8% confusion for Walmart’s Faded Glory :
Men’s Stinson Shoes. (CIB at 64 (citing CX-00233C at Q/A 1-3, 9, 88, 93-96, 103-04, 212,
221).)

Walmart argues that Mr. Johnson’s study is flawed, but does not produce any survey
evidence of its own. (RIB at 76 (citing RX-10136 at Q/A 96-97, 123).)

Staff asserts that Mr. Johnson’s surveys are flawed and are unreliable under the
Commission’s survey_factors. (SIB at 61.)

The undersigned finds that the survey results of Mr. Johnson are unreliable. The evidence
shows that Mr. Johnson’s surveys tested the overall look and appearance of the shoe and not the
CMT. (Johnson, Tr. at 521:13-522:8, 523:5-16, 527:15-528:1, 528:21-529:24, 530:16-533:3,
545:2-8, 552:23-553:4; CX-00233C at Q/A 43, 48; RX-10136 at Q/A 37-51; RX-10278 at Q/A
| 36-61.) The evidence also shows that Mr. Johnsc_)n’s éontrol shbes were substantially different
than the test shoes. (RX-10136 at Q/A 46-48; RX-10278C at Q/A 41.) As discussed supra, §
V.A.5, these flaws render the survey results unreliable. Accordingly, the undersigned finds that
this factor is neutral.

6. Conclusion'; |

For the r‘easc‘ms stated- abov_é:, ali the factors are ih favor of or are neutral to a ﬁndi_ng of

likelihood of confusion with respé_cf to the Faded Glory shoes. Accordingly, the undersié_ned

finds that these shoes infringe the CMT.
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_ With -res:pect to the Kitch, two factors weigh against a finding of likelihood of confusion,

.while.two V;'eigh in favor. Because the similarity of the marks is the most determinative and
because this factor weighs against confusion, the undersigned finds that the Kitch shoes do not
infringe the CMT. |

C.  Highline

Converse accuses 80 models of shoes of infringement. (CIB at 11-12 (citing CX-08052C
and CX-00102.) It asserts that the Ash Vincent, Glen, Vicky, Gossip, Eagle, Fanta, Ginger,
Venus, Veronbis, Virgo, Vodka, Volcan, Volcano, Volt, and Vox are representative models of
shoes. (CX-00240C at Q/A 1141; CDX-00240.00086; CDX-00240.00087).

1. Degree of Similarity

Converse asserts that “Highline’s Accused Products‘make nearly identical use of the
CMT compared to Converse’s CMT.” (CiB at 65 (citing CDX¥00240.0088-0089; CX-00240C at
Q/A 1140-51; CX-00242C at Q/A 157-59).)

nghhne asserts that “[t]he unique, edgy Highline Accused Products give a radlcally
dlfferent commercial i 1mpressmn than” the All Star. (RIB at 77 (01t1ng RX-10122C at Q/A 63) )v;'
Specifically, Highline asserts that the midsole is sleeker and more tapered the pyramlds on the
bumpers are more pronounced,. and several versions of the ehoe lack stripes or a toe cap. (Id. at
78 (citing RX-01571C at Q/A 144-149, 152-154, 169).) Highline also notes that “ASH shoe
uppers have distinguishing features, e.g., buckles, z1ppers and other stylish details” and many
versmns are high-heel or wedge -heel shoes (Id at 78 )

Staff asserts that there are “noticeable d1fferences in the midsole designs” of the Ash
shoes, including a different midsole profile, toe bumper, and the lack of a toe cap and/or stripes

on some models. (SIB at 72 (citing Johnson, Tr. at 538:13-539:13; RX-01571C at Q/A 169).)
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Staff also asserts that the products chosen by Converse are not representative of the
Accused Products. (SRB at 7.) The undersigned agrees. The evidence shows that the Vanna and
Virginia models of the shoe lack a toe cap. (RX-01571C at Q/A 146-149; RPX-0248; RPX-
0249.) The evidence further shows that the Vertige, Vespa, Virgin Ter, and Virus Bis shoes lack
stripes. (RX-01571C at Q/A 152-154; RX-1524; RX-1529). Each of these shoes lack one of the
three elements of the CMT, and thus are not similar to the CMT. Because it is clear that the
selected products are not “representative,” the undersigned finds that Converse has not met its
burden in establishing that any of the Highline Accused Products not specifically included in Dr.
Winer’s testimony infringe the trademark. Converse is therefore limited to the Ash Vincent,
Glen, Vicky, Gossip, Eagle, Fanta, Ginger, Venus, Veronbis, Virgo, Vodka, Volcan, Volcano,
Volt, and Vox models.

The undersigned finds that this factor weighs slightly against confusion with respect to
the Vincent model. The evidence shows that, while the Vincent contains a toe cap, a toe bumper,

and stripes, it also contains buckles:

(CDX-00240.088.) Dr. Winer testified that the presence of different embellishments does not
reduce customer confusion and association “in many cases.” (CX-00240C at Q/A 1154.)

Implicit in this statement is that, in some cases, the presence of different embellishments does
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reduce confusion. Dr.. Winer went on to explain: “[W]hilq some Ash shoes have buckle.s_.and
zippers, some have laces. Converse also sells CTAS with zippers.” (/d.) Thus, Dr. Winer does
not specifically address how the presence of buckles does not reduce confusion. Finally, Dr.
Winer testified that “[s]o long as Ash shoes bear the CMT, there is a high likelihood of consumer
confusion and association.” (Id.) The evidence shows, however, that the presence of a different
upper can impact whether a consumer will recognize a shoe as Converse. As Dr. Lutz explained,
the presence of an upper which is atypical of a Converse shoe “signal[s] to [consumers] that [the
shoe] came from a different brand.” (CX-10843C at Q/A 77.)

The evidence further shows that the Vodka, Volcano (Vulcano), and Vox models contain

buckles and a tonal toe cap:

. Vodka -

Volcano
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" Vox

(CDX-00240.087; see also RX-01571C at Q/A 30; RX-01532; RPX-00229; RPX-0193; RPX-
0213; RPX-0219.) For the reasons explained above, the undersigned finds that this factor weighs
against a finding of likelihood of confusion with respect to these models.

Next, the evidence shows that the Glen, Gossip, Fanta, Eagle, Ginger, and Volt models of

the Ash shoe contain a wedge heel and/or buckles:

- Eagle
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Fanta

Ginger.

Voit

(CDX-00240.086; CDX-00240.087.) The presence of a wedge heel creates a much different
midsole profile. (RX-10121C at Q/A 108-109; RDX-0022C; Johnson, Tr. at 538:14-539:14.)
This, combined with the presence of buckles in some cases, leads to the conclusion that this
factor weighs against a finding of likelihood of confusion.

Finally, the evidence shows that the Venus, Veronbis, Vicky, Virgo, and Volcan models.

of the Ash shoe feature similar toe bumpers, toe caps, and stripes to the CMT:
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Veronbis

_:_'_Vic'ky S
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Vi rgo

Volcan

(CDX-00240.087.) The commercial impact of these shoes is similar to the CMT. Thus, the
undersigned finds that, for these models, this factor weighs in favor of a finding of likelihood of
confusion.

2. Intent

Converse asserts that the “near identical similarity of Highline’s Accuséd Products to the
CMT ... is evidence of Highline’s intent to copy the CMT. (CIB at 66.)

Highline contends that Converse lacks any evidence that Highline intended to infringe
any trademarks or trade off of Converse’s goodWill. (RIB at 82.) Highline specifically notes the
lack of emails reflecting an intent to copy. (/d.)

Staff contends that this factor weighs against finding confusion, as the evidence from
Converse consists of email communications from Converse’s customers — not Highline. (SIB at
74 (citing CX-00294C; CX-00295C; CX-00296C).) Staff explains that these emails “do not

speak to Highline’s intent in adopting its designs.” (/d.)
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.The undef:signed finds that this faqtor weighs against a ﬁnding of likelihood of confusion. ,

Thére is no evidence that Highline in_tended. t:o deceive or confuse consumers.
-3 Relation in Use and Manner of Marketing

Converse asserts that Highline’s Accused Products “are sold in many of the same retail
| lo_cétions as All Star shoes, inciuding online . . . and brick-and-mortar stores.” (CIB at 65 (citing
CX-00240C at Q/A 1177-80; CX-OO244C at Q/A 23, 37-39, 49-50, 67-69, 102, 114-115; CX-
00242 at Q/A 160-65).)

Highline asserts that the Ash and All Star shoes are “marketed to very different
consumers.” (RIB at 79.) Highline also contends that the All Star and Ash shoes “are sold at
vastly different price points and thus are not competitive.” (/d. (citing CX-00244C at, Q/A 57,
JX-00412C at 476:4-14; RX-02031C at 251 :19-22; RX-01301.003).) Highline notes that the
higher-price& All Star shoes in collaboration with John Varvatos are marketéd to men and are
therefore not in éompetition with the Ash_shoes, which are mainly marketed td women. (Id. at 81
(citing RX;10122C at Q/A 57, 138, 139, 212-228, 299, 300; RDX-0023C; RX-01571C at Q/A
208-211; RDX-0019C; RX-10120C at'"Q/A 3-11; JX-00412C at 504:9).) Highline further
contenas that any overlap in distribution “is negated by the level of sophistication of the
consuiners.” (Id. at 80.) |

- Staff agrees that there is “geherally very little' overlap” in the distribution channels, as the
Converse shoes are typically displayed separately from Ash shoes and in different depé.rtments.
(Id. ét 74 (citing RX-01571C at Q/A 159.) Staff a'l.so ﬁotes that the price differeﬁtial “is likely to
| mitigate against any confusion caused by the oVerlap in channels.” (Id.) |
In response, Converse notes that it has “sold [ b] of pairs of All Star shoes

priced at $100 or more in 2014.” (CIB at 65 (citing CX-00242C at Q/A 162).) Converse further
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same price points and through the same channels as Highline’s Accused Products.” (Id. at 65-66
(citing CX-00244C at Q/A 37-39, 5‘0-72, 114-115).)

The undersigned finds that t:his factor weighs against a finding of likelihood of confusion.
Ash shoes are marketed to different consumers than All Stars. Thé evidence shows that Ash
shoes are marketed as “<_:xclusive” while Converse markets the Ail Star as “democratic” and
“inclusive.” (RX-01571C at Q/A 135; CX-01565C at 150:11-25; RX-10122C at Q/A 209; CX-
00242C at Q/A 82, 84.) The evidence further shows that, while there is a degree of overlap in the
places that sell Ashﬁ shoes and the core All Star shoes, the price point of the Ash.‘ shoes is
significantly higher and thus the shoes are not directly competing with each other in that space.
(CX-00240C at Q./Aﬂl 178-1180; CX-00244C at Q/A 57; JX-00412C at 476:‘4-14; RX-02031C at
251:19-22; RX-0130_3.003; RX-01571C at Q/A 113-115.) Although Converse argues that it has
“sold ‘[ o ] of pairs Qf All.'Sta'r shoe"s priced at $100 or more in 2014,” (CIB at 65
(citing CX-00242C at Q/A 162), the eviLlence shows that these higher priced shoes .are marketed
to- men while Ash shoes are marketed ‘,to women. (RX-10122.C‘ at Q/A 57, 138-139, 214; CX-
| 00240C at Q/A 1187; CX-00244C at Q/A 68.) Thus, theré is little 6verlap in the marketing And
disfribution of these shoes.

4. Degree of Care

Converse asserts that consumers are unlikely to exercise a great degree of care bec;ius:e'

consumers would not éxpecf premium retail qhannels to sell knockoff shoes. (CIB at 66 (citing

CX-00242C at Q/A 169).)
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_ Highlin¢ explains that its “cohsumers are sophisticated and very unlikely to confuse ASH
producfs wit » All Stars. (RIB at 83 (citing RX-01571C at Q/A 212; RX-10122C at Q/A 156;
RX-00833C at 409:5-17).)

Staff finds that this factor weighs against likelihood of confusion. (SIB at 74.) Staff notes
that. Highline’s products “are significantly more expensive” and that its “consumers are more
sophisticated shoppers, unlikely to confuse Highline’s products with those of Converse.” (1d
(citing RX-10122C at Q/A 152-156; RX-01571C at Q/A 21, 29-31, 133-134, 137-138, 141-143,
159,191-192,194-197,203-207,212))

The undersigned agrees with Highline and Staff that this factor weighs against a finding
of likelihood of confusion. The evidence shows that the Ash shoes are luxury items and that
Highline’s consumers are sophisticated. (RX-10122C at Q/A 152-156; RX-01571.C at Q/A 21,
135, 137-138, 141-143).) | |

S. Survey Evidence
| Coﬁverse asserts that Mr. Johnson “reported an adjusted net result of 40.8% confusion for
Highline’s Ash Vincent shoes.” (CIB at 67 (citing CX-00233C at Q/A 1—3, 9, 88, 93-96, 103-04,
130, 134, 221).) |
| Highline introduced evideriqg from Dr. Ericksen, who conducted a poiht-of-sale test.
(RIB at 85.) This survey “yielded a net confusion rate of 9.6, indicating no likelihood of
confusion.” (Id. (citing RX-10121C at Q/A 134-135, 139, 147, 158).)

Converse argues that Dr. Iéricksen’s study is flawed. (CRB at 41.) It further argues that

“Dr. Ericksen’s survey did not measure post-sale confusion and thus has no bearing on Mr.

Johnson’s results.” (Jd. (citing CX-00233C at Q/A 231-232).)
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| Thé undersigned finds that this factor is neutral. First, fdr tﬁe reasons set forth supra in
Section V.B.5, the undersigned finds thét_ Mr. Johnson’s survey results are unreliable.
Additionally, Mr. Johnson tested only the Vincent, and therefore there is no survey evidence in
the record with respect to any of the other “representative” shoes. (Johnson, Tr. at 538:7-10,
540:4-8.)

The undersigned finds that Dr. Ericksen’s study results are reliable, but agrees with
Converse that the survey does not measure post-sale confusion. (CX-00233C at Q/A 231.) Thus,
the results have little relevance in a scenario‘ in which post-sale confusion is at issue.

| 6. Conclusion

For the reasons stated aBove_, _éll the factors are against é finding of likelihood of
confusioﬁ with respéct to the Vincent, Vodka, Volcano (Vulcano), Vox, Glen, Gossip, Eagle,
Fanta, :Volt, and Ginger line of shoes. Accordingly, the undersigned finds that these shoes do not
infringé the CMT. |

With respect to the Vér;us, Vero;lbis, Vicky, Virgo, and Volcan shoes, the majority of the
factors weigh against a finding of likelihood of coﬁfusion, but the first factor does not. The
| sfmilarity of the marks is tﬁe ;‘most determinative of the factors. McCarthy at § 23:20.50. Here,
the shoes are very similar to the CMT. The toe cap, toe bumper, and stripes offer a near identical
commercial impact. Given this, the undersigned finds that Converse has met its burden with
respect to infringement. The evidence with respect to the other factors is not sufficient to
overcome Cor.lvzerse’s evidence as to the ﬁrst factor. Accordingly? .tllle undersigned ﬁndsv that

these shoes infringe the CMT.
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D. New Balance

Converse accuses three médels_ _of the PF Fiyers of iﬁfringement: the Center, Bob Cousy;.
and Sum Fun. (CIB at 12.)

1. Degree of Similarity

Converse asserts that “New Balance’s Accused Products make nearly identical use of the
CMT.” (CIB at 68 (citing CDX-240.0115; CX-00240C at Q/A 1340-44; CX-00242C at Q/A
192).)

New. Balance acknowledges that the Accused Products “bear the combination of a toe
cap, toe bumper, and midsole stripes,” but éssért that “the evidence shows that the uses are
readily distihguishable.” (RIB at 86.)
different toe bumper designs, including being shaped differently and omitting the diamond and
line d.esign..of the CMT.” (d) Staff alsﬁ contends that “to the exterit:the New Balance midsoles
have striping, they are positioned differently relative to the other elements.” (Id.)

. The undersigned finds that this factor weighs in favor of a finding of likelihood of -
confusion with respect to the .Center‘ and Bob Cousy shoes. In as:s.es‘sing this factor,y it is useful to
remember that “[e]xact similitude is not required.” McCarthy at § 23.20. Rather, “the most
successful form of copying ié to employ enough points of similarity to confuse the public with
- enough points of difference to confuse the court.” (Id. (citing Baker v. Master Printers Union, 34
F. Supp. 808, 811 (D. N.J. 1940).) Additionally,'“‘[W]here- the goods and services are directly
cbmpetitive, the degree of similarity required to prove a likelihood of confusion is less than in

the case of dissimilar products.” Id. at § 23.20.50.
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 The evidence shows that the overall commercial impression of these models of shoes is .

similar to the CMT:

. Shoe Model Name | Tmage of Shoe Shoe Modﬁ Name | Tmage of Shoe

. ;\\:‘\

A M&
Center Hi Bob Cousy Lo M
Center Lo . $umFun Hi

=
Fl NI~
Bob Cousy Hi Swn Fun Lo \ m;:.\\ _

(CDX700240.1 14; see also CX-O_Q24OC at Q/A 1340-1343, CDX-00240.115.) The differences in
these. shoe models are not dfasﬁc enough to overcome the similarities. Additionally, New
Balancé admits that its shoes compete with Converse‘. (RIB at 88.) As such, less similarity is
required for this factor to favor confusion.

The undersigned finds, however, that this factor weighs against a finding of likelihood of |
confusion with respect to the Sum Fun m_odel of shoes. Although these shoes have a toe cap and
toe bumper, they lack a stripe. (CDX-00240.114; CDX-00240.115.) Thus, they are missing one

of the three design elements of the CMT.
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2. | In'tent |

Converse asserts 'th‘at_New Balance’s intent is evidenced by its introduction of virtually
identical copies of the CMT and that its emails and other internal documents support this. (CIB
at 69 (citing CX-242C at Q/A 175-79, 186-87; CX-0719-22).) Converse further notes that New
Balance displays the Accused Products when a consumer searches “Converse” or “Chuck
Taylor” oﬁ pfflyers.com. (/d. at 70 (citing CX-00240C at Q/A 1362-64; CX-00242C at Q/A 189;
CX-06747 at .0008; CX-00748 at ;0019; CX-00749 at .0013; CX-00750-00752; CX-10631; CX-
01570C).)

| New Balance asserts that it has not tried to confuse consumers and that its products “are-
- not designed to look like the [Chuck Taylor All Star] — they are designed to look like PF Flyers.”
| (RIB at 89.) |

Staff asserts that fhis factor “is a closer qall,” but finds that it weighs agaihst a finding a
likelihood of confusion. Staff explains that the irﬁernal communications :d.o not specifically refer‘ _
to the midsole design. (SIB at 76.) Staff .furt'her notes that it “is common practice am_o'rig
cpmpanies” to return their own produc't's. when customers search. for “Con§erse” or “Ciluck
Taylors.” (Id. (citing RX-10102C at Q/A 28-29).)

The undersigned. finds that this factor weighs in fa{fér of a finding of likelihood of
confusion. In contrast to New Balance’s assertion that it did not intend to confuse consumers, the
evidence shows that New Balance intentionally displayed the Accused Products when a
consumer searched “Chuck Taylor,” and/or “Converse” on pfflyers.com. (CX-00240C at Q/A
1362-64; CX-00242C at Q/A'189; CX-00747 at .0008; CX-00748 at .0019; CX-OO749 at .0013;
CX- 00751-00752 CX- 10631) ) The fact that a New Balance employee testified that other

companies used competitor’s brands to return search results for their products is not evidence to -
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thé contrary. (RX-0001C at Q/A 29.) Something may be common practicg in.én industry yet still
» demonstrate an intent to confuse consumers into thinkingv thét theyv are purchasing a product_".
associated with another brand.
3. Relation in Use and Manner of Marketing

Converse argues that New Balance’s distribution and marketing efforts overlap with the
All.Star. (CIB at 68-69 (citing CX-00240C at Q/A 197-99, 1337, 1376-79; CX-00244C at Q/A
2”3,.3.5-36, 104; CX-00242C at Q/A 192; CX-10287; CX-00742).)

New,Balance notes that “the evidence shows that the PF Flyers and [Chuck Taylor All -
: Sfar] products compete, but are competitive alternatives.” (RIB at 88.) Staff agrees. (SIB at 76
(citing RX-00001C at Q/A 208-210).) |

The undersigned finds that this factor weighs in favor of a finding of likelihood of
confusion. New Balance does not dispute that its shoes are sold at the same online and brick and
rﬁortar stores as the All Star.‘ (RiB at 8§9-90.) Nor doeé it dispute that ité marketing efforts
overlap. (Id.) Instead, New Balance rests on the testimony of its employee who opined that PF
Flyers has its own brand identity. (RX-00001C at Q/A 208-2 1>0.) This testimony is not supported
by any evidence and is therefore not sufficient to overcome the evidence introduced by
Converse. ‘

4 Degree of Care

Coﬁverse contends that “[a]t prices between $45 and $55, consumers of shoes like New

Balance’s Accused Products are unlikelyg'to exercise great care in r¢s’olving confusion.” (CIB at

69 (citing CDX-00240.0124).)
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New Balance insists that its customers are speciﬁcally “Ieoking fer a shoe that is a .
| _ heritage shoe that is specifically nor” the Chuck Taylor. (RIB at 92 (ciﬁ_ng RX-00001C at Q/A
.210.) Staff agrees. (SIB at 76 (citing RX-00001 at Q/A 208-210).)

The undersigned finds that this factor weighs in favor of a finding of likelihood of |
confusion. The evidence that the “typical PF Flyers consumer” is discerning and speeiﬁcally-
looking for PF Flyers shoes comes from the testimony of an employee of New B‘al'ance, who
acknowledges that this opinion is based only upon his experience. (RX-00001C at Q/A 209.)
Such biased testimony does not 0§ercome a general presumption that consumers of low-cost
shoes are unlikely to exercise a great deal of care. Additionally, there is no evidence that
undecided consumers would exercise such care. Given the relatively-low price point of these
‘ rshoes, consumers are more likelyr to be confused. This is especially true, given that New Balance
displays the Accused Products when consumers search “Chuck Taylor,” ‘and/or “Converse” on
pfflyers.com. (CX-00240C at Q/A 1362-64; CX-00242C lat Q/A 189; CX-00747 at .0008;‘ CX- E
00748 at .0019; CX-00749 at .0013; CX-OO751-00752; CX-10631).)

S. Survey Evidence

Converse introduced survey results by Mr. Johnson in support of likelihood of confusion,
who “reported adjusted net results of confusion . . . of 39.3%-63%. (CIB at 70 (citing CX-
00233C at Q/A 1-3, 9, 88, 93-96, 1.03-103, 130, 134, 212, 221).)

New Balance contends that:'Mr. Johnson’s survey results are fatally flawed. (RIB at 91.)
New Balance introduced survey‘results of its own by Robert Klein with respect to the Centers Hi
and Bob Cousy. (/d.) New Balance reports that “[t]he results of Mr. Klein’s surveys demonstrate

. unequivocally that the incorperation of a toe cap, toe bumper, and midsole stripes on the PF
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Flyers shoes has nc material impact on consumers’ perceptions of the scnrce of the PF Flyers
shoes.” (Id.) |

In response, Converse asserts that Mr. Klein’s methodology was flawed. (CRB at,‘41.) ‘
Converse also notes that Mr. Klein’s snrvey did not measure post-sale confusion. (/d. (citing CX-
00233C at Q/A}233).)

Thc undersigned finds that this factor is neutral. As stated, suﬁra, § V.B.6, the
undersigned previously found that Mr. johnson’s survey results were unreliable. Additionally,
the undersigned agrees with Con{/erse that Mr. Klein’s survey does not measure post-sale
confusion. (CX-00233C at Q/A 233.) Thus, the results have little relevance in a scenario in
Whicn post-sale confusion is at issue. |

6. Conclusion

For the reasons stated above, all the factors are in favor of or are neutral to a ﬁnding of
likelihood of confusion with re‘spect to the Bob Cousy and Center models of shoes. Accordingly,
: thc undersigned .ﬁnds that thésc shoes infringe the CMT.

With re:spect‘ to Sum Fun, all of the. factors we}ilghvin favor of or are neutral to a ﬁnding of
likelihood of confusion, but the first one. Because this factor is the “moAst determinétive,” the
undersigned finds that, overall, the factors ‘weigh against a finding of likelihood of confusion.
Accordingly, the undersigned ﬁnds. that the Sum Fun shoes do not infringe the CMT.

E. Defaulting Respondents |

Converse asserts that ._t'he Defaulting Respondents’ Accuscd Pfoducts a:ne confusingly .'
.si:milar. (CIB at 71.) Converse:further explains that “[t]he facts alleged in the Complaint as to thc:
Defaulting Respondents are presumed true and Support a determination by the ALJ that they‘:

infringe the CMT.” (/d. (citing 19 C.F.R. § 210.16(c)(1)).)
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Staff agrees that the evidence 0ffered by Converse shows a likelihood of confusion with
respect to the Defaulting Respondents and their associated Accused Products. (SIB at 77.)

The undersigned finds that Converse has established that the Defaulting Respondents’
Accused Products infringe the CMT. In the Com;;laint, Converse asserted that‘each of the parties
and their products inffinge. (CX-00001 at 9 187-98; 4 487-96; 7 551-59, 9 564-72, Y 578-
86.) Czohve:rse‘ also offered evidence that the Accused Products are likely to confuse consumers.
_ (CX-O(_)245C at Q/A 88, 106, 110-112; CX-00064-CX-00066; CX-00162-CX-00166; CX-
00179-CX-00182C; CX-00183C-CX-00185C; CX-001 86—CX-OOI 89C.) Thus, Converse
satisfied its burden of demonstrating infringement. Additionally, thé und¢rsigned is not aware of
any evidence | to. the contrary with respect to i'nfrir.lgement: '.by the -Defaulting. Respondents.
Accordingly, the undersigned finds that the Defaulting Réépondénfs’ Accused Products infringe
the CMT. |
VI. DILUTION

Dilution by blurring.is. an “ésso:c:iation arising frorﬁ the similvarity between a mark or
trade name and a famous hjark-that;impairs the distinctiveness of the fathous mark.” 15 U.S.C. §
1125(c)(2)(B). The owner 6f a: f_amdus mark shall be entitled to an injunction due to dilution by
blurring “regardless of the presencé or absence of actual or likely confusion, of competition, or
of actual economic injury.” 15 U.S.C. § 1125(c)(1).

The threshol‘d question for dilution by bhirring is whether the mark is famous. A mark is
famous if 1t is ;‘widely recognized by the general consuming public of th¢ _Unzit'ed States as a
désignatior; of source of the goods or services of the mark’s ownér;” 15 U.S.é. § 1125(c)(2)(A).

The “widely récognized” requirement of the statute is “a rigorous and demanding test,” and
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should require “a minimum thresh()ld survey response . . . in tl.l.e'fa_nge of 75% of the general
consuming public of the United States.” McCarthy at § 24:106.
In assessing the fame of a mark the following factors may be considered:

(1) The duration, extent, and geographic reach of advertising and publicity of
the mark, whether advertised or publicized by the owner or third parties.

(i)  The amount, volume, and geographic extent of sales of goods or services
' offered under the mark.

(iiiy  The extent of actual recognition of the mark.

(iv). Whether the mark was registered under the Act of March 3, 1881, or the
Act of February 20, 1905, or on the principal register.

15U.S.C. § § 1125(c)(2)(A).

Converse argues that the CMT acquired fame by at least the 1990s. (CIB at 73 (citing
CX-00237C at Q/A 3, 109, 128).) Converse explains that “the CMT has been the subject of an
enormous amount of advertising and publi_city”. for decades and that it has advertised shoes
bearing the CMT for over 80 yearé. (Id ‘(c.i.‘;ing CX;OO243C at Q/A 60, 106).) Converse asserts
that “[a]s a result of its widespreéd_: advertising and publicity” Converse has “enjoyed
unprecedented sales of the All;.Star- Sho’és . sellihg [ | ] of pairs.” (Id. (citing
CX-00243C at Q/A 189-191).)

Coriverse afso claims that sui'vey evidence confirms that the CMT is famous. (CIB at 74-
75.) In support,.i:t introduced the testimony of Hal Poret, who found that almost 70% of survey
respondenfs regognized the CMT as éoming from one brand. (/d. at 75 (citing CX-00238 at Q/A
128)) |

- Respondents argue that Converse failed to establish that the CMT is famous. (RIB at 40- -

41.) They'éxpla_ih that Dr. Poret’s survey failed to isolate the CMT. (/d. at 40 (citing Poret, Tr. at
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| '2:3.4:5‘-235:7-).) Tﬂey also explain that Dr. Poret’s results should be disr¢garded because he used‘
the same cqntrdi image as Dr. Ford. (d. (citing Poret, Tr. at 221 :7—223:1-97).) 5
Staff agrees that Converse has not proven that the mark is famous. (SIB at 51-52.) Staff
explains that Dr. Poret’s survey suffers from “serious flaws,” including the fact that Dr. Poret
tested the fame of the overall shoe and uséd an improper control. (/d. at 51 (citing CX-00238 at
Q/A 92-98; RX-10274 at Q/A 70, 79, 83; RX-10266C at Q/A 56, 58-60).) Staff also explains that
Converse’s advertising efforts do not support its claim that the CMT is famous. (/d. at 50.)

The undersigned finds that Converse has not established that the CMT is famous.
Specifically, while the first two factors weigh in favor of a finding that the mark is famous?,
Converse failed to establish the third factor: The extent of actual recognition of the mark. Dr.
Poret’s survey is ﬁnreliable, as he used the same improper control shoe as Dr. Ford. (CX-00238.
at Q/A 92-98; RX—10274 at Q/A 79, 83; RX-10266C at Q/A 59).) The undersigned further finds
that Dr. Poret’s study is flawed due to the fact that the sﬁrvey was designed to test the overall
shoe — and not the CMT specifically. (RX-10274 at Q/A 70, 83; RX-10266C at Q/A 58; Poret,
Tr. at 233:22-235:22.) Without evidence of the extent of the actual recognition of the mark, the
undersigne;i is unable to conclude that the CMT is famous. Accordingly, the undersigned finds

that Converse has not proven a claim of dilution of the CMT.

22 The undersigned concludes that this factor weighs in favor of fame for the same reasons set forth in Sections
IV.A2, IV.A4, & IV.A.5. The evidence shows that the duration and extent of the advertising and publicity of the
mark, as well as the amount and volume of sales offered under the mark weigh in favor of fame.
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VII. INFRINGEMENT OF THE COT

Converse asserts Foreversun infringes the Converse Outsqle‘Tra(-liemark. (CIB at 92). As
explained, supra, §. V, to prove infringement, Converse must establish that the COT merits
protection -énd that the respondent’s use of a similar mark is likely to cause consumer confusion.
Handbags, Ordér No. 16 at 6. In support of the first prong of the analysis, Converse notes that
the und‘ersigned issued an Initial Determination finding the COT valid, which the Commission
determined not to review. (Order No. 130 (July 15, 2015); Notice of Comm’n Determination Not
to Review Two Initial Determinations Granting Unopposed Mots. for Summary Determination
that the Importation Réq. is Satisfied as to Respondent CMerit ‘and that the Converse Outsole
Trademark is Valid (July 28, 2015).) Invsupport of the second prong, Converse asserts that the
factors considered by the Commission weigh in favor of a likelihood of confusion. (CIB at 92-
94.)

With respect to the similarity factor, Converse gXplains that “Foreversun’s Accused
" Products include a near identical copy of the COT.” (CIB at 92 (citing CX-00190 at 0014,
.0017, .0019, .0020; CX-OOOQ3;‘ CS(-00004; CPX-00036).) Converse noteé that the undérsigned
| previously denied summary determination of infringement by Foreversun “because the image
provided in support of the motion included a sticker placed on the heel portion of the outsole by
Foreversun.” (CIB at 92 n. 34.) At the heéring stage of the Investigation, Converse introduced
“additional images [which] confirm the upper and heel portions of the outsole include the
diamdhd pattern covered by the COT.” (Id.)

:‘Staff agrees that this factor favors confusion. (SIB at 84.) Sfaff notés: “Given that there is
no coritrary evidence and given that the shoes are extremely similarAto the mark . . . the Staff

believes that Converse has satisfied its burden of proof.” (/d. at 84-85.)
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The undersigned finds that Converse has met its burden in establishing that this factor
favors a finding of likelihood of confusion. The evidence shows that the outsole of Foreversun’s

shoe is identical to the ’960 and the *103 registrations:

Foreversun Accused Products Converse Outsole Trademark

103 Registration (CX-3)

BN, 4. /o ‘
(CX-190 at .0020) (CX-190 at .0019)

Together, tﬁe pictures show the entire outsole of this line of shoes. Additionally, there is no
evidence in the record that contradicts this finding.

The undersigned also finds that the other factors weigh in favor of a finding of likelihood
of confusion. The undersigned finds that Foreversun’s use of the COT evidences an attempt to
deceive consumers into thinking they are buying genuine Converse shoes. Certain Digital
Multimeters, Comm’n Op. at 12-13. The evidence also shows that Foreversun promotes and sells
its Accused Products at retail stores in the U.S. and internet. (CX-00162—00>165.) Fiﬁally, the
undersigned finds that, because the Accused Products bear a near identical copy of the COT,
even customers that exercise a high degree of care are likely to be confused or deceived. In re
Cook Med. Techns. LLC, 105 USPQ2d 1377, 1383 (T.T.A.B. 2012 (“If is settled . . . that even
sophisticated purchasers are not immune from sOurpe confusion, especially in cases such as the
instant one involving similar marks and closely related goods™).

Accordingly, for these reasons, the undersigned finds that Foreversun’s Blue line of shoes

infringe the COT.
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VIII. DEFENSES

A. Fraud

Respondents allege that Convérse procured the ’753 Registration by fraud on the
USPTO. (RIB at 100-104; RRB at 43-45.) Specifically, Respondents assert that during
prosecution, Converse’s former Vice President of Global Footwear, Mr. Wayne Patrick Seehafer,
submitted a declaration to the USPTO wherein he knowingly made a false statement attesting to
Converse’s substantially exclusive usé of the CMT. (RIB at 100-102; RRB at 43-44.)
Respondents claim that the evidence shows that Mr. Seehafer had the intent to deceive the
USPTO and that his false statement was material. (RIB at 102-104 (arguing that Converse sought‘
the *753 Registration wifh‘ the iﬁtént to shut down sales of Skechers’ Twinkle Toes shoes and
that the USPTO would not have issued the registration had it known about third party use of the
mark); RRB at 44-45.)

| Converse asserts that Respbndents have failed to carry their “heavy burden” of proving

this defense, “as there is no evidence that (1) the Declaration was false, (2) Mr. Sechafer
intended to deceive the PTO, or (3) the allegedly false statement was mate;ial.” (CIB at 82; see
also CRB at 45-47.)“ Staff agrees with Convefse that Respondents have not. >carried their burden
of proof to show by clear and convincing evidence an intent to deceive the PTO. (SIB at 85-86.)

The Federal Circuit has held that “a trademark is obtained fraudulently under the Lanham
Act only if the applicant or registrant knowingly makes a false, maferial representation with the
intent to deceive the PTO.” In re Bose Corp., 580 F.3d 1240, 1245 (Fed. Cir. 2009). A party
seeking to in\%alidate a mark on the basis of fraudulent procurement “bears a heavy burden of
proof.” Id. at 1243. Moreover, “the very nature of the charge of fraud requires that it be proven

‘to the hilt’ with clear and convincing evidence,” and “[t]here is no room for speculation,
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inference or surmise and,_ obviously, any vdoubt must be resolved against the charging party.” Id. |
(internal citations omitted). “[Blecause direct evidence of deceptive intent is rarely available,
such intent can be inferred from indirect and circumstantial evidence.” Id. at 1245 (quoting Star
Scientific, Inc. v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co., 537 F.3d 1357, 1366 (Fed. Cir. 2008)).

- The undersigned finds that Respondents have failed to prove théif fraud defense by clear
and connincing evidence. First, Respondents have not established that Mr. Sechafer knew any
information in the declaration was false or that he submitted the declaration with deceptive
intent. The only evidence Respondents cite to prove that Mr. Seehafer was personally aware of
other shoes with similar designs were reports of sales of the Skechers products now accusgd of
infringement. (See, e.g, RIB at 100-102.) However, alleged knowledge of sales by one
competitor is insufficient evidence fhat Mr. Seehafer knew (or Believed) that Converse was not
the substantially exclusive user of the CMT. Indeed, Mr. Sechafer testified that he did—and still
does—believe that Converse’s use of the CMT was substantially exclusive. (CX-00248C at Q/A
51-54, 56, Seehafer, Tr. at .151:15-152:17; 158:24-159:14, 195:5-12.):Mr. Seehafer further

testified that Converse filed the”application because it [

] (CX-00248C at Q/A 38.) Moreover, the
express language of 15.U.S.C. § 1052(f) does not reqnire that use be absolutely exclusive. See §
1052(f) (“The Director may accept as prima facie evidence that the mark has become distinctive,
as used on or in connection with the applicant's gnods in commerce, proof of substantially |
| enclusive and continuous use thereof as a me‘l.rk“by the applicant in commerce for the five y'e'arsj
before the date on which the claim of distinctiveness is made.”). As Mr. Seehafer testified, his

investigation prior to signing the declaration revealed no third-party uses that were “substantial
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or significant at the. time” as any vs1‘1ch sales were “inconsequentiai .in _céhiparison to the sales
volumes, the market penetration, éonsumer awareness, equity and géodwill iﬁ the marketplace
for the Converse trademark.” (Seehafer, Tr. at 161:15-162:9, 196:6-17; see also CX-00248C at
Q/A 55.) |
- Second, Respondents failed to establish that the allegedly false statement was material. -
for product configuration cases, five years’.‘use on its own is not sufficient to show acquired
distinctiveness. (CX-10846C at Q/A 123.) An applicant must present additional evidence that
the applied-for design is perceived as a mark. (1d.; see also TMEP §§ 1212.05(a), 1202.02(b)(1).)
The USPTO would therefore not.have relied solely on Mr. Seehafer’s declaration and instead
would have examined and relied' on additional evidence such as Converse’s sales, advertising
and use of fhe CMT. (/d. at Q/A 85, 122-123.)
B. Laches
Respondents assert that Converse’s claims are barred by laches. Respondents contend
that they sold the Accused Products for years before Converse initiated this Investigation or
otherwise suggested that the Accused Products infringed its trademark rights. (RIB at 104-113;
RRB at 47-50.) Respondents claim that Coﬁverse’s uhreasonable delay has caused thém
significant prejudice for they each have invested significant reéources in developing, marketing,
and selling the Accused Products. (RIB at 104-113; see also RRB at 46-47.)
- Converse disputes Respondents’ allegatiohs for four reasons. First, Converse argues that
lachésE is inapplicable since it does not bar prospecfive injunctive relief. (CIB at 84.) Second,
Converse asserts that Respondents i'ﬁfringed and ;‘laches is not a defense agaihst injunctive relief

when the defendant intended the- infringement.” (/d.) Third, Converse claims that strong

- 111 -



Case: 16-2497 | Document: 1-5 Page: 117 Filéd: 08/16/2016

PUBLIC VERSION
evidence of likelihood of confusion trumps iaches. (ld.) Lastly, Convérse contends that":
. Respondents héve failed to establish the elements of laches. (CIB at 84-90; CRB at 47-51 J)

Staff is of the view that none of the Respondents have established a laches defense. (SIB :
at 86-89.) Staff does not believe Walmart or Highline has been prejudiced by any delay. (/d. at
87-88.) As to New Balance, Staff believes the evidence shows that any delay by Converse was
reasonable. (/d.) While Staff submits that it is a closer question with respect to Skechers, Staff
ultiﬁately does not believe the evidence supports a laches defense. (/d. at 89.)

- As the parties are aware, laches is the “neglect or delay in bringing suit to remedy an
~ alleged wrong, which taken together with lapse of time and other circumstances, causes
préjudice to the adverse party and operates as an équitable bar.” A.C. Aukerman Co. v. R.L.
| Chgides Constr. Co.,, 960 F.2d 1020, 1028-1029 (Fed. Cir. 1992). To establish .laches,
. Respondents must prove “(1) [Converse] delayed ﬁliﬂg suit for an unreasonable and inexcusable

length of time from the time [Converse] knew or reasonably should have knowfl of ‘its claim
| against [Respondents]; and (2) the delay operated to the p:rejudice or injury of [Respondents].”
Id at 1032. .

The undersigned agrees with Converse and Staff that Respondents have failed to carry
their burden of proof. In particular, the undersigned finds that Walmart and Highline have not
been prejudiced by any delay. These parties cannot establish that any growth in their Accused
Products lines was a result of Converse’s delay as Qpposed to an increase in market demand.
There is also e;/idence that the Accused Products are only a small portion 6f ‘Walmart and
Highline’s income and thus, harm — if any — would not be “material.” (CX-01543C at 92:25-93:7
(Ms. Wraight téstifying that the Accused Products are not top-selling Highline shoes); RX-7705;

CX-00240C at Q/A 946, 951; RX-1571C at Q/A 70, 74, 88; RX-7691C at Q/A 72-84.)
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- With respect to New Balance, the undersigned finds that there was no unreasonable

delay. The evidence shows total net PF Flyers sales (including some non-accused shoes) were

less than[ ' ]
[ ] (CX-00726C; see also RX-0001C at Q/A 150 (showing | ] in sales of PF Flyers
over 12 years).) By contrast, New Balance had approximately [ ] in annual sales in 2013

alone. (RX-0001C at Q/A 150.) Given such de minimis sales, Converse “need not sue”
imrnediatel‘y‘, thereby making its delay in bringing suit reasonable. See Oriental Fin. Grp., Inc. v.
Cooperativa de Ahorro y Credito Oriental, 698 F.3d 9, 24 (1*. Cir. 2012) (“We agree that the
pfogressive encroachment doctrine allows an infringement plaintiff to tolerate de minimis or
low-level infringements prior to bringing suit.”).)

. As to Skechers, Converse does not appear to dispute thaf it was aware of Skechers’
alleged infringement in 2007. (CIB at 86; see also RX-00154C;FRX-00239C; RX-00243C; RX-
OQ2S4C; RX-00255C; RX-00256C; RX-OOSOOC; RX-01055C.) Converse therefore delayed at‘
least seven years before filing its Complaint in this Investigation.23 During this delay, Skechers
'signiﬁcantly invested in the adveftising and promo;[ing of its Accused Products, including but not. ‘
limited to print, television, and celébrity endofsements. (RX-2092C at Q/A 41 (testifying thaf{
- Skechers spends more than $100 million per year on advertising).) In fact, Skechers’ investment
has helped grow its Twinkle Toe line of shoés into the number one shoe line for young girls. (/d.
at Q/A 45 (dlscussmg the varlsus cross-promotional activities for the Twinkle Toes line).)
Nonetheless, laches génerally bars prospective relief only in egréglous cases with “plus factors
such as a grossly long period of delay. See McCarthy § 31:7 (defining “gross delay” as a delay

on the order of 20 to 25 years, 25 to 30 years or 30 or longer). Here, Skechers has not presented

2 Skechers argues that the relevant laches period for a trademark 1nfrmgement claun brought against a defendant in
California is four years. (RIB at 105.) While this may indeed be true, it is not clear that use of the statute of
limitations as a benchmark is appropriate for trademark infringement claims. See McCarthy § 31:23.
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e{/idence of such gross delay by Converse; that it would warrant denying relief by the
Commission. | |

Accordingly, for these reasons, the undersigned finds that Respondents have failed to
prove Converse’s claims are barred by laches.

C. Estoppel

New Balance®® contends that Converse’s claims are barred by equitable estoppel,
arguing that Converse never indicated that it believed the PF Flyers footwear infringed its
claimed trademark. (RIB at 113; RRB at 50-51.) For example, New Balance alleges that:

e Converse knew B.F. Goodrich sold PF Flyers prior to the 1970s and never objected.

e Converse acquired PF Flyers and sold shoes using the same brand and same designs.

e Converse sold PF Flyers knoWing fhat the purchaser would sell the same footwear.

e Converse gave a purchaser a “waiver and quitclaim” to permit it to sell the footwear.

e New Balance acquired the PF FLYERS brand in 2001 and began selling the
footwear in early 2003. Converse was actually aware of the acquisition in 2002.

e Converse gave notice of a potential claim against the New Balance brand CPT model
shoe in 2013, but the notice said nothing about the PF FLYERS brand.

e Converse filed its Complaint in this Investigation against 31 Respondents, but it did
not include New Balance and its PF FLYERS brand.

(RIB at 113-114.) New Balance asserts that “[g]iven these facts, any reasonable actor would
believe that Converse was not going to assert a claim against it.’v’ (Id. at 114.) New Balance
further claims that it relied on Converse’s conduct (e.g., “affirmative acts and silence related to
the brand”) when it made the decision to pl_l_rchase PF Flyers. (Id.) New Balance insists it has

been materially prejudiced by Converse’s conduct, arguing that it would not have spent _

% New Balance is the only Respondent to assert an equitable estoppel defense.
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| $7SQ,OOO to acquire the PF Flyers -brénd had it known it would be prcvehted from selling the
fq:otvs}éar. (Id) -

| Converse argues that New Balance’s only evidence of alleged misleading conduct is
Converse’s silence, but silence alone is insufficient. (CIB at 90; CRB at 51.) Converse also
argues that to show reliénce, New Balance must have had a relationship or cqmmuhication with |
Converse which lulled New Balance into a sense of security, yet “[n]Jo such relationship or
communication exists here.” (CIB at 91; CRB at 51.) Lastly, Converse contends that New
Balance has not shown any material prejudice. (Id.)

Staff also does not believe New Balance has proven equitable estoppel. (SIB at 91-92.) In

Staff’é view, New Balance is unaBle to establish reliance because it cannot show that Converse_
and NeW Balance had a relationshib.or communication which luliéd New Balance into a sensé‘ of
security. (Id.) | o

o EThe undersigned agrees 'with Converse and Staff that New Balance has ﬁot préven
- equitable eétoppel. To establish the affirmative defense of estoppel, an alleged infringer must
'demc')nstrate: “1) misieading éonduct,_ which may include not only statements and action but
silence and inaction, leading another to reasonably infer that rights will not be asserted against it;
(2) reliance upon this conduct; and (3) due to this r¢1iance, material prejudice if the delayed
assertion of such rights‘ is permitted.” Cértain; Bearings and Packdgz‘ngs Thereof, Initial
Determination at 28 (Apr. 10, 2003) (internal citations vomitted). “Reliance is not the same as
prejudice or harﬁ, although frequently confused . . . [t]o show reliaﬁéé, the infringer must have
had a relationshib o‘r‘ communication with the plaintiff which lﬁllé £h€ infringer into a sense of

security.” Id. (internal citations omitted).
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Here, nearly all the evideﬁce New Balance relies upon are Converse’s actions with
respect to others, not New Balance. (See, e.g., RIB at 113-114.) “Equitable defenses are
‘personal defenses, based upon the trademark owner’s conduct [in relation to] the defendant’.”
Pandora Jewelers 1995, Inc. v. Pandora Jewelry, LLC, No. 09-61490, 2010 WL 5393265, at *3
(S.D. Fla. Dec. 21, 2010) (citing Exxon Corp. v. Oxford Clothes, Inc., 109 F.3d 1070, 1078 n. 11
(5th Cir. 1997).) Converse’s actions or inactions with respect to other entities are not sufficient to
show that Converse and New Balance had a relationship or communication which lulled New
Balance into a sense of security. .New Balance has therefore failed to establish the requisite
reliance.

Accordingly, the undersigﬁéd finds that New Balance has not met its burden of proving
equitable estoppel.

D. Abandonment

Respondents claim Converse abandoned the CMT long ago by failing to police third-
party use and now cannot enfofce any rights based on the claimed mark. (RIB at 11-115; RRB at
51.) |

Converse disputes Respondents’ assertion, arguing that “[t}he CMT is not, and has never
been generic.” (CIB at 91.) In fact, Converse claims that Respondents’. own secondary meaning
survey shows that the CMT serves as a source-identifier for Converse. (/d.) Converse further
notes that failure to police a mark does not in itself indicate that a mark has lost significance.
(CRB at 51-52.)

: Staff submits that because the evidence does not show that the CMT is generic,

Respondents’ abandonment defense must fail. (SIB at 92.)
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“A.mark shall be deemed to be ‘abandoned’ . . . [w]hen any cvo‘urse of conduct of the‘:‘«
owner, including acts of omission as well as commission, caﬁsés the mark to become the generic
name for the goods or services on or in connection with which it is used or otherwise to lc;se its
significance as a mark.” 15 U.S.C. § 1127 (emphasis added). The undersigned has found
hereinabove that the CMT is not generic. Accordingly, for the reasons set forth in Section IV.C.,
the undersigned finds that Respondents have failed to prove their abandonmenf defense.
IX. DOMESTIC INDUSTRY

A Legal Standard

A violation of section 337 can be found “only if an indUstfy in the United States, with
respect to the articles protected by fhe ... trademark . . . conc:emed, éxists or is in the process of
being established.” 19 U.S.C. §_1‘33‘7(a)(2). Under Commissioh precedent, this “domestic
industry requirement” of section 337 consists of an economic prong and a technical prong.
Certain Stringed Musical Instrumeﬁts and Components T, héreof, Inv. No. 337-TA-586, Comm’n
| Op at 12-14 (May 16, 2008) (“Stringed Instfuments”j. The complainant bears the burden of
establishing that the domestic industry requirement is satisfied. See Certain Multimedia Di&play
dnd Navigation Devices ahd Systems, Components Thereof and Prods. Containing Same, Inv.

No. 337-TA-694, Comm’n Op. at 5 (July 22, 2011).

- 117 -



Case: 16-2497 Document: 1-5 Page: 123  Filed: 08/16/2016
- PUBLIC VERSION

1. Economic Prong

Section 337(a)(3) sets forth the following economic criteria for determining the existence_v
of a domestic industry:

(3) For purposes of paragraph (2), an industry in the United States shall be
considered to exist if there is in the United States, with respect to the articles
protected by the patent, copyright, trademark, mask work, or design concerned —

(A) significant investment in plant and equipment;

(B) signiﬁcant.employment of labor or capital; or

(C) substantial investment in its exploitation, including
engineering, research and development, or licensing.

19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(3). Given that these criteria are listed in the disjunctive; satis‘faction of any
~one of them will be sufﬁéient to meet the economic prong of the domestic industry requirement.
Certain Integrated Circuit Chipsets and Prods. Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-428, Order
No. 10, Initial Determination (unrev1ewed) (May 4, 2000).

Pursuant to SCCthIl 337(a)(3)(A) and (B) “a complalnant s investment in plant and
equipment or employment of 1abor or capltal must be shown to be “51gn1ﬁcant” in relation to the =
articles protected by the intellectual property right concerned.” Certam Printing and Imaging
Devices and Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-690, Comm’n Op. at 26 (Feb. 17, 2011).
The Commission has emphasized that what is considered “signiﬁéant” within the meaning of the
statute is “not evaluated according to any ﬁgid mathematical formula.” Id. at 27; see also Certain
Kinesiotherapy Devices and Components Thereof, Inv. No. 3__37_-:1."A-823, Comm’n Op. at 33 (July
12, 2013). Instead, the determination is made by “an examination of the facts in eaqh
investigation, the article of commerce, and the reélities.of the marketplace.” Certaiﬁ Male

Prophylactic Devices, Inv. No. 337-TA-546, Comm’n Op. at 39 (Aug. 1, 2007).
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| Section 337(a)(3)(C) provides for domestic industry based on “substantial investment” in
~ the enumerated activities. See Certain Digital Processors and Digital Processing Systems,
Components Thereof, and Prods. Cont&ining Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-559, Initial Determination
at 88 (May 11, 2007). Whether an investment in domestic industry is “substantial” is a fact-
dependent inquiry for which the complainant bears the burden of preof. Stringed Instruments at
14. There is no minimum monetary expenditure that a complainant must demonstrate to qualify
under the “substantial investment” requirement of this section. Id. at 25. “[T]here is [also] no
need to define or quantify the industry itself in absolute mathematical terms.” Id. at 26.
2. Technical Prong

In order to satisfy the technical prong of the domestic industry requirement, Converse
must estabiish that the articles relating to the domestic industry are protected by the intellectual
property at issue in the investigation. Certdin Energy Drink Prods., Inv. No. 337-TA-678, Order
No. 34 at 12 (Mar. 30, 2010). Where fegistered trademark rights are asserted, “[t]he test for
determining whether the technical prong is met through the practice of a trademark is plain use
of the}trademark on products and packaging.” Protective Cases, Inv. No. 337-TA-780, Initial
Determination at 90.

B. Economic Prong |

Converse asserts that it has expended significant and substantial U.S. plant, equipment,
labor and capital resources for extensive production-related, engineering, research and
development, and support activities in the U.S. directed to All Star shoes. (CIB at 95-108; CRB
at 52-53.) For example Converse claims that it has made a significant investment in plant and
equipment for act1v1t1es directed to All Star shoes through facilities space, annual plant and:

equipment costs, and asset depreciation expenses across multiple facilities in the U.S. (CIB at
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100-104.) Converse also claims that it has made signiﬁcaﬁt ex-p.enditures to employ and retain a
large domestic workforce dedicated to production-relate(i and support activities, as wéil as
substantial investments in engineering and research and development to create new shoe designs‘
that capitalize on the asserted trademarks. (Id. at 104-108.) Converse contends that these effor’cs.
satisfy the requirements of § 1337(a)(3)(A), (B), and (C).

Respondents dispute that Converse has satisfied the economic prong. First, Respondents
argue that Converse’s allocation methodé.logy is unreasonable and artificially inflates the size of
the claimed domestic industry. (RIB at 115-116 (arguing that there is no evidentiary basis for |
Converse’s “unit-based sales allocation” methodology).) Second, Respondents assert that
Converse has failed to show signiﬁcant investments in plaﬂt and equipment or labor and capital
because Converse’s purportedi investment is “over-inclusive in that it includes expenditures that
are irrelevant to a domestic industry analysis.” (RIB at | 116-119; RRB at 52.) Finally,
Respondents contend that Converse’s reliance on [ ] ié improper under =
subsection 337(a)(1)(C) and that the [ ] related expenditures (i.e., other research and
development-related exploitation of its trademarks) identified by Converse are not substantial.
(RIB at 119-120.) |

In Staffs view, Converse satisfies the economic prong of the domestic industry
requirement under section 337(a)(3)(A) and (B), but not under section (a)(3)(C). (SIB at 92-103;
SRB at 26.) Specifically, Staff believes Converse has established that it has invested over [ 1]
[ ] 1n plgﬁt éhd equipment and nearly [ ] in labor in the United States to design,

develop, and manage the production‘of its domestic industry products. (Id.)
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1. Investment in Plant and Equipment
As an initial matter, the undersigned notes that Converse offered two énalyses of its
domestic industry investments.?> The first analysis included investments in all of Converse’s
U.S. non-rétail facilities. (See, e.g., CIB at 100-107.) The second analysis was prepared at the
request of Staff and is a more conservative analysis that only includes investments in Converse’s
North Andover headquarters, creative space and testing space. (Id.) The undersigned relies on the
second, more conservative analysis as Converse’s first analysis includes inappropriate
investments related to two disfribution centers and a New York |
] The undersigned finds that the eyidence establishes that Converse has made
significant investments in plant and equipment at its headquarters in North Andover,
Massachusetts. |
Prior to April 2015, Converse’s headquarters was located at 1 High Street, North
Andover, Massachusetts. (CX-00246C at Q/A 106.) The headquarters was a five-story, [ 1
sciuare foot building, which housed Converse’s communications, corporate and government
affairs, corporate services, design; general management, information technology, logistics and
services, manufacturing and sourcing, marketing, merchandising, product creation, product
management, program/process excellence, retail management, sales, and strategic planning
groups. (Id. at Q/A 106, 111.) The headquarters used a [ ] square foot off-site storage spacé

for [ ] at 300 Canal Street, Lawrence, Massachusetts. (Id. at Q/A 112.) In April

25 As Staff notes, “reasonable and appropriate allocation methodologies, such as sales based allocations, have
routinely been employed and accepted by the Commission for purposes of satisfying the economic prong.” (SIB at
93; see also Certain Toner Cartridges and Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-918, Order No. 22 at 3-5 (Jan. 16,
2015); Notice of a Comm’n Determination Not to Review Two Initial Determinations, One Granting in Part’
Summary Determination that the Importation Req. is Satisfied, and the Other Granting Summary Determination that
Complainant Satisfies the Economic Prong of the Domestic Industry Req. (Feb. 18, 2015); Protective Cases, Inv.
No. 337-TA-780, Initial Determination at 105-108; Notice of the Commission’s Final Determination; Issuance of a
General Exclusion Order and Cease and Desist Orders; Termination of the Investigation (Oct. 31, 2012).)
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2015, Converse relocated its North Andbve; headquarters to a larger fagility in Boston located at _
.166 North Washington Street. (Id. at Q/A 106, 119.) In doing so,. Converse’s expanded its |
headquarters to [ ] square f_e_ef on elevén floors. (Id.)

In connection with its headquarters, Converse incurs plant expenses such as rent, repairs,
utilities, insurance and property tax. (CX-00246C at Q/A 50.) These expenses are recorded on
Converse’s proﬁf and loss statements. (CX-00246C at Q/A 50; CX-05378C; CX-05379C; CX-
05380C; CX-05381C; CX-05382C.) In its ordinary course of business, Converse does not track
or report plant expenses on a [ ] basis. (CX-00246C at Q/A 44.) Similarly,
Converse does not track its expenses on a [ - ] basis. (CX-00246C at Q/A 71, 99.)
For purposes of this investigation, however, Converse utilizes a unit-based sales allocation to
determine ;[he portion of Converse’s expenditures attributable to All Star shoes bearing the
asserted trademarks. (CX-00246C at Q/A 99-102.) |

Api)lying the unit-based salés allpcation, the portion of _Converse’s headquarters, creative

_space, and testing space utilized for the Converse All Star shoes for fiscal years 2011-2014 was:

~Square Footage Allocated for North Andover, MA Production-Related Activities for Converse All Star shoes

FY 2011 FY 2012 FY 2013 FY 2014 Q3
FY 2015

Square Footage for N. Andover facilities [

All Star shoes, % of total products

Allocated Square Footage for All Star shoes

(CX-00246C at Q/A 62, 82, 106-109, 112-118; CX-2740C-2758C; CX-2760C; CX-2764C-
2765C.)
Between FY 2011 and Q3 FY 2015, Converse’s approximate investments for plant and

equipment for the North Andover facilities relating to the All Star shoes were:
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Converse s Investment in Plant & Equipment for North. ‘Andover, MA Production-Related Activities for
: : ~Converse All Star shoes (dollars in millions) F o e e
FY 2011 FY 2012 FY 2013 FY 2014 Q3
: | - FY 2015
Plant Expenses [ :
Equipment Expenses
Depreciation Expense .
Total Investment in Plant & Equipment : . ]

(CX-00246C ét Q/A 82, 148-149, 154-159; CX-05376C; CX-05377C.) Accordingly, Converse’s
total invééfment in plant and equipment for the All Star shoes between FY 2011 and Q3 FY 2015
- was approximately[ _ ]..(Id.)

Converse’s [ -] investment in plant and equipment ié signiﬁcant. These
- investments are essential to the All Star shoe development, engineeriné, product testing,
marketing, and other productio:n.a‘nd support activities. (CX-00247C at Q/A 88, 93, 150, 159-

174.) These domestic investments are significant in comparison to Converse’s expenses for

[

] (CX-00247C . at Q/A 65-66, 184, 186;
CX-00246C at Q/A 167-168.) For example, the investments [ ]
[ ] equaled approximately [ ] of Converse’s [ - ] plant and equipment

ib expenses. (CX-00246C at Q/A 167-168; CX-05378C; CX-05379C; CX-05380C; CX-05381C;
CX-05382C.) Furthermore, Converse’s domestic investmenfs are also significant relative to its
income. Between FY 2001 and FY 2014, Converse’s plant and equipment investments in the
North Andbver headquarters equaled approximately [ 1 of Converse’s annual pre-tax income
of [ - ] (CX- OO246C at Q/A 82, 148 149, 154-155, 165; CX- 05377C; CX-
05378C CX-05379C CX-05380C; CX 05381C CX- 05382C) .
| Accordingly, the undersigned ﬁnds that Converse has satisfied the economic prong under-

§ 1337(2)(3)(A).
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2. Investment m Labor éhd Capital

The vundersigned finds that the evidé_n_ce _édduced at the evidéntiary hearing also shows
that Converse has made significant investments in labor and capital relating to the domestic
industry products.

Converse has made significant expenditures to employ a domestic- workforce dedicated to
productioﬁ;related and support activities. For example, between FY 2011 and Q3 FY2015,
Converse employed between [ ] individuals at its North Andover headquarters who were

involved in production-related activities.?®

" Converse’s Employee Headcount for North Andover Production-Related Activities

FY 2011 FY 2012 FY 2013 FY 2014 Q3
FY 2015

Communications [

Corporate & Government Affairs

Corporate Services

Design

General Management

Information Technology

Logistics & Services

Manufacturing & Sourcing

.| Merchandising

Production Creation

Product Management

Program/Process Excellence

Strategic Planning

' Technology

Total - ' ]

(CX-00246C at Q/A 64-69, 146-147; CDX-00246.1C; CX-05443C; CX-05485C; CX-00247C at
Q/A 131-163.) Applying the unit-based sales allocation on these hea_dcdunts, the evidence shows

that during FY 2011 thrdugh Q3 FY 2015, Converse émployed [ ] full-time equivalent

26 Respondents object to Converse’s labor investments for improperly including employees involved in general
corporate functions and who have some sales and marketing related functions. (See RIB at 117-118.) However, as
part of its conservative analysis, Converse excluded those employees in finance, human resources, legal, marketing,
retail management, and sales. (See, e.g., CIB at 106; SIB at 99; CX-00246C at Q/A 68, 146-147, CX-05443C; CX-
0548C.) The undersigned further notes that between FY 2011 through Q3 of FY 2015, approximately [ | ]

[ -] of Converse’s [ ] employees are in the areas of design, manufacturing and sourcing, and product
creation, which are undoubtedly production-related activities. (CX-00246C at Q/A 68, 146-147; CX-05443C; CX-
05485C.) : :
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éfnployées in Converse All Star shoe production-related a;:tivities. (CX-OO246C at Q/A 68, 82,
146-147;, CX-05443C; CX-05485C.) Bétween FY 2011 and Q3 FY 2015, Converse’s
approximate compensation expenses for its [ ] employees engaged in production-related
activities ranged from [ ] annually. (CX-5377C; CX-5376C; CX-

00246C at Q/A 148, 151, 154, 156-157.)

Converse’s Employee Compensation Expenses for North Andover Production-Related Activities (dollars in
millions)

FY 2011 FY 2012 FY 2013 FY 2014 Q3
FY 2015

Compensation Investment for [
Production-Related Employees

All Star shoes, % of total
products

Compensation Investment for All
Star shoes

(CX-00246C at Q/A 82, 148-149, 154-159; CX-05377C; CX-05376C; CX-5378C-5387C.) Thus,
between FY 2011 and Q3 FY 2015, Converse invested approximately [ ] for
employees engaged in All Star shoe production-related activities at its North Andover

headquarters. (Id.)

Converse’s | ] labor investment is significant. Converse considers its U.S.
employees to the [ ] (CX-00247C at Q/A
93, 131, 135, 139, 148-150, 162-163, 174, 184.) The high ratio of Converse’s labor investments
to its income also demonstrates the significance of its employment of production-related U.S.
labor and capital. Between FY 2011 and FY 2014, Converse’s labor expense for North Andover
All Star shoe production-related activities equaled approximately [ ] of Converse’s pre-tax
income. (CX-00246C at Q/A 82, 148-149, 154-159, 165; CX-05377C; CX-05378C; CX-
05379C; CX-05380C; CX;05381C; CX-05382C.) In addition, Converse’s domestic labor

expense for All Star shoe production-related activities is significant in comparison to [ ]
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[ Istaffof[  ].(CX-00247C at Q/A 167; CX-05378C-05381C.) Between FY 2011 and

FY 2014, ] total employee compensation was approximately [ ]. (CX-00246C
at Q/A 168.) Moreover, [ ] total labor expense27 equaled approximately [ 1,
which is only about [ ] of Converse’s [ ' ] labor investment for North Andover

All Star shoe production-related activities. (CX-OO246C at Q/A 82, 148-149, 154-159, 167 -169;.
CX-05377C; CX-05378C; CX-05379C; CX-05380C; CX-05381C; CX-05382C.) |

Accordingly, the undersigned finds that Converse has satisfied the economic prong under
§ 1337(a)(3)(B).

3. Investment in EXploitation, Including Engineering, Research and
Development, or Licensing

Converse asserts that it makes substantial U.S. investments in engineering and research
and development for new shoe designs that capitalize on the asserted trademarks.?® (CIB at 107.)

Converse contends that its teams actively work on [

| ] (Id. (claiming that its project
expenses totaled [ ] between FY 2011 and FY 2014).) Converse also alleges that it has
incurred [ : | ] expenses totaling [ ] in furtherance of design
collaborations that seek to maximize the use and consumer impact of the asserted trademarks. |
(Id. at 108.)
| Both _Respondents and Staff believe that Converse has failed to show a substantial
 investment in the exploitation of the asserted trademarks. (RIB at 119-120; SIB at 102-103.)
Both submit that it is improper to rely on [ 5‘ ] costs since those costs relate 'tb the

[ ' ' ]. (Id) Respondents and Staff also note that

7 Includes expenses for all Converse products sold globally. _
" 2% Converse concedes that most of its domestic investment lies in plant, equipment and labor. (CIB at 107.)
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Converse did nct quantify fhe speciﬁc expenditures associat:ed ‘with the [ ] design.
projects. (Id.) | ” | |

The undersigned agrees with Respondents and Staff that Converse has not established it
satisfies the economic prong of the domestic industry requirement under section 337(a)(3)(C).
Converse failed. to quantify the investments associated with the [ ‘] design projects,
thereby providing no basis for the undersigned to determine whether Converse’s alleged.

investments in ‘ih_e design projects are substantial. Moreover, Converse’s reliance on [
' ] to support its domestic

industry claim is improper. [

] (CIB at 107 n.42.) ['

] Thus, the [ : ] Converse has incurred do not
constitute investments in the exploitation of the asserted trademarks. The undersigned further
notes that Converse’s citation to Cértafn Coaxial Cable Connectors and Components Thereof
and Pfoducts Containing Same, 1nv. No. 337-TA-650, Commission Opinion at 49-50 (Apr. 14,
2010), is misplaced. (CIB at 108.) As Staff correctly stated, “[n]othing in that opinion even
suggests that [ | o ] would be an
exploitation of an intellectual property right under Section 337(a)(3)(C).” (SIB at 103.)

Accordingly, the undersigned finds that Converse has failed to show a domestic industry

exists ﬁnder § 1337(a)(3)(C).
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4 The “Industry” Requireinent nf § 1337(a)(1)(A)

A violation based on unfair methods of competition or unfair acts requires proof that such
acts have the threat or effect of “destroy[ing] or substantially injur[ing] an industry in the United
© States ... .” 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(1)(A). Where federally registered and common law trademark
rights are at issue, as they are in this 'Investigation, and the Complainant alleges the same
products are covered by both the registered trademark and the common law trade dress, “the
domestic industry involved in the trademarks and trade dress in issue is one industry.” Ink
Markers, Order No. 30 at 55-56; see also Digital Multimeters,Order No. 22 at 14 (holding that
“[blecause the same devices are covered by Fluke’s registered trademark and its trade dress, one
industry exists for the.pu.rposes of Section 337.”); Protective Cases, Inv. No. 337-TA-780, Initial
Determination at 10 (ﬁnding-the § 1337(a)(1)(A) industry established by the products, activities,
and expenditures that satisfy § 1337(a)(3)}(A)~(B).)

.The undersigned has found hereinabove that a domestic industry exists under sections :
337(a)(3)(A) and (a)(3)(B). See Sections IX.B.1-2, sitpra. Therefore, consistent with-
Commission precedent, Converse’s showing that a domestic industry exists under section
337(a)v(>3)(A) and (B) also establishes that an industry exists under section 337(a)(1)(A).

C. Technical Prong |

Converse contends that it satisfies the technical prong of the domestic industry as to the
"960, ’103, and *753 Registrations. (CIB at 94-95 (arguing that between FY 2011 and FY 2014,
it designed, developed and offereci for seileiin the United States ovef’[:’ ] models of All Star

~ shoes that use the CMT and COT).) Speciﬂcally, Converse asserts that “[a] comparison of All
| ] Star shoes, in physical form or advertising, with the CMT . . . shows an identical or substantially

similar midsole design” and that “[a] comparison of All Star shoes, in physical form or
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édvertising, with the COT . .. shQWs ah identical or subété.gti_aﬂy similar outsole designf” (Id. at .
95.) Respondents have sﬁ_pulatéd fhat the technicél pfong of the domestic industry reqt.l‘irementv
has been met for the CMT.% (RIB at 99.) Staff agrees that Converse’s domestic industry products
bear the elements of the claimed CMT and COT. (SIB at 81-83.)

As noted supra, “[t]he test for determining whether the technical prong is met through the
practice of a trademark is plain use of the trademark on products and packaging.” Protective
Cases, InV. No. 337-TA-780, Initial _Detc;rmination at 90. Here, there is no dispute the evidence
(i.e., photographs, catalogs, physical samples, advertisements, and sales records) shows that the
-~ All Star shoes developed and sold in ‘the United Sfates prominently feature the CMT. (CX-
11285; CX-00002; CPX-35-36, 54-67,‘72—84, 86-91; CX-05410-05415; CX-00247C at Q/A 21-
51, 232-233; CX-00242C at Q/A 42-44.) Similarly, no one has c'onté'sted that the evidence shows
that Converse utilizes the COT oﬁ All Star shoes. (CX-OOOOé;:CX-OOOO4; CPX-35-36, 54-67,. |
© 72-84, 86-91; CX-05410.-0541.5; CX-00247C at Q/A 21-51, 228—229, 232-233; CX-00242C at
Q/A 45, 46, 49-54.) |

Accordingly, it is the undersigned’s determination that Converse satisfies the technical
prong of the domestic indusfry requirement for the *753, 960 and *103 trademark registrations.

X. INJURY. |

When a complainant asserts a violation of section 337(a)(1)(A) by reason of common law
trademark infringement, false designation of origin, and/or dilution, it _rnusf establish that the
“threat or ¢ffeé’t” of the alleged acts i.s 't.o “destroy or substantially ihjure an industry in the
United States.”. ‘19 US.C. § 1337(a)(i)(A). The undersigned has found hereinabove that the
~ asserted coinmén law trademarks are not valid and that Converse has ﬁo_t proven dilution. See

Sections [V.A.6 and VI, supra. Consequently, no violation of section 337(a)(1)(A) has occurred.

» :Respondents are not accused of infringing the *960 or 103 trademark registrations.
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In light of these findings, the undersigned need not determine whether Converse’s domestic

industry suffers the threat or effect of substantial injury.

XI. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1.

10.
11.’.

12.

13.

14.

The Commission has personal jurisdiction over the parties, subject-matter
jurisdiction over the Investigation, and in rem jurisdiction over the Accused
Products.

The importation or sale requirement of section 337 is satisfied.

U.S. Trademark Registration No. 4,398,753 is distinctive

* U.S. Trademark Registration No. 4,398,753 is not functional.

U.S. Trademark Registration No. 4,398,753 is not generic.
U.S. Trademark Registration No. 4,398,753 is not invalid.

Skechers’ Daddy’$ Money and HyDee HyTop shoes infringe U.S. Trademark
Registration No. 4,398,753 under 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1).

Skechers’ Twinkle Toes and BOBS Utopia shoes do not infringe U. S Trademark
Reglstratlon No 4,398,753 under 15 U.S.C. §1114(1).

Walmart s ‘Faded Glory shoes 1nfr1nge U.S. Trademark Reglstratlon No.
4,398,753 under 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1).

Walmart’s Kitch shoes do not infringe U.S. Trademark. Registration No
4,398,753 under 15 U.S. C § 1114(1).

Highline’s Venus, Veronbis, Vicky, Virgo, and Volcan shoes infringe U.S.
Trademark Registration No. 4,398,753 under 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1).

Highline’s Vincent, Vodka, Volcano (Vulcano), Vox, Glen, Gossip, Eagle, Fanta,
Volt, and Ginger shoes do not infringe U.S. Trademark Registration No.
4,398,753 under 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1).

New Balance’s Bob Cousy and Center shoes infringe U.S. Trademark
Registration No. 4,398,753 under 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1).

New Balance’s Sum Fun shoes do not infringe U.S. Trademark Registration No.
4,398,753 under 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1).
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16.
17.
18.
19.

20.

21.
22.
23.
24.
25.

26.

27.
28.

29.
30.
31.
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33.
34.
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The Defaulting Respondents’ Accused Products infringe U.S. Trademark
Registration No. 4,398,753 under 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1).

The common law trademark is not distinctive.
The common law trademark is not functional.
The common law trademark is not generic.
The common law trademark is invalid.

Respondents do not infringe the common law trademark under 15 U.S.C. §
1125(a).

U.S. Trademark Registration No. 4,398,753 is not famous.
The common law trademark is not famous. |

Respondents do not dilute U.S. Trademark Registration No. 4,398,753 under 15
U.S.C. § 1125(c).

Respondents do not dilute the common law trademark.
U.S. Trademark Registration No. 3,258,103 is not invalid.
U.S. Trademark Registration No. 1,588,960 is not invalid.

Foreversun infringes U.S. Trademark Reglstratlon No. 3,258,103 under 15 U.S.C.
§ 1114(1).

Foreversun infringes U.S. Trademark Reglstratlon No. 1,588,960 under 15 U.S.C.

§ 1114(1).

Respondents failed to prove their affirmative defense of fraud on the USPTO.
Respondents failed to prove their affirmative defense of laches.

Respondents failed to prove their affirmative defense of abandonment.

New Balance failed fo establish equitable estoppel. |

Converse saﬁsﬁes the economic prong under 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(3)(A) and (B).
Converse does not satisfy the economic prong under 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(3)(C).

Converse satisfies the technical prong of the domestic industry requirement.
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36.  Converse satisfies the “industry” requirement under 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(1)(A).
XII. INITIAL DETERMINATION |

Based on the foregoing, it is the Initial Determination of the undersigned that there is a
violation of section 337 with respect to U.S. Trademark Registration Nos. 3,258,103; 1,588,960;
and 4,398,753, but no violation of the asserted common law trademarks. The undersigned further
determines that the domestic industry requirement has_ been satisfied.*

The undersigned hereby CERTIFIES to the Commission this Initial Determination,
together with the record of the hearing in this investigation consisting of the following: the
transcript of the evidentiary hearing, and the exhibits accepted into evidence in this
Investigation.”"

The Secretary shall serve a public version of this Initial Determjriation upon all parties of
record and the confidential version upon counsel who are signatories to the Protective Order
(Order No. 1) issued in this Investigation.

Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. §210.42(h), this Initial Determination shall become the
- determination of th¢ Commission unless a party files a petition for review pursuant to 19 C.F.R.

§ 210.43(a) or the Commission, pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.44, orders on its own motion a

review of the Initial Determination or certain issues therein.

%% Any arguments from the parties’ pre-hearing briefs incorporated by reference into the parties’ post-hearing briefs
are stricken, unless otherwise discussed herein, as an improper attempt to circumvent the page limits imposed for
post-hearing briefing.

°! The pleadings of the parties filed with the Secretary are not certified as they are already in the Commission’s
possession in accordance with Commission rules. .
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RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION ON REMEDY AND BOND
L REMEDY AND BONDING

The Commission’s Rules provide that subsequent to an initial determination on the
question of violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, the
administrativé law judge shall issue a recommended determination concerning the appropriate
remedy in the event that the Commission finds a violation of section 337, and the amount of
bond to be posted by respondent during Presidential review of the Commission action under
section 337(j). See 19 C.F.R. § 210.42(a)(1)(ii).

The Commissibn has broad discretion in selectjng the. form, écope and extent of the
remedy in a section 337 proceeding. Viscofan, S.A. v. Int’l Trade Comm’n, 787 F.2d 544, 548
(Fed. Cir. 1986). Under Section 337(d)(1), if the Commission determines as a result of an
investigation that there is a violation of sectidn 337, the Commission is authorized to enter either
a limited or a general exclusion order. 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(1). A limited exclusion order
instructs the U.S. Customs and Border Protection (“CBP”) to exclude from entry all articles that
are covered by the patent at issue and that originate from a named respondent in the
investigation. A general exclusion order instructs the CBP to exclude from entry all articles that
are covered by the patent at issue, without regard to source. Certain Purple Protective Gloves,
Inv. No. 337-TA-500, Comm’n. Op. at 5 (Dec. 22, 2004).

A. General Exclusion Order

Section 337(d)(2) provides that a general exclusion order (“GEO”) may issue in cases
where () a general exclusion from entry of articles is necessary to prevent circumvention of an
exclusion order limited to products of named respondents; or (b) there is a widespread pattern of

violation of Section 337 and it is difficult to identify the source of infringing products. 19 U.S.C.
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§ 1337(d)(2). 19 US.C. § 1337(d)(2): see also Certain Airless Paint Spray Pumps and
Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-90, Comm’n Oé., at 18-19, 216 U.S.P.Q 465,. 473 (Nov.
1981). The statute essentially codifies Commission practice under Certain Airless Paint Spray
Pumps and Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-90, Commission Opinion at 18-19, USITC
Pub. 119 (Nov. 1981) (“Spray Pumps™). See Certain Neodymium-Iron-Boron Magnets, Magnet
Alloys, and Articles Containing the Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-372 (“Magnets”), Comm’n Op. on
Remedy, the Public Interest and Bonding at 5 (USITC Pub. 2964 (1996)) (statutory standards
“do not differ significantly” from the standards set forth in Spray Pumps). In Magnets, the
Commission confirmed that there are two requirements for a general exclusion order: [1] a
“widespread patterny of unauthorized use;” and [2] “certain business conditions from which one
might reasonably infer that foreign manufacturers other than the respondents to the investigation
may attempt to enter the U.S. market with infringing articles.” Id. The focus now is primarily on
the statutory language itself and not an analysis of the Spray Pymp factors. Ground Fault Circuit
Interrupters and Prods. Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-615, Comm’n Op. at 25 (Mar. 9,
2009).

Converse submits that a general exclusion order (“GEO”) is necessary to provide an
effective remedy. for the unfair importation of footwear products that infringe and dilute the
asserted trademarks. In particular, Converse argues that “the evidence shows (1) a pattern of -
violation of §337 with respect to shoes likely to infringe and/or dilute the CMT and the COT; (2)
that soﬁrces of infringing footwear products can be difficult to identify; and (3) that a Limited
Exclusion Order (“LEO”) would be easily circumvented.” (CIB at 125-126; see also id. at 126-
138; CRB at 56-60 (responding to Respondents’ allegation that Converse has not satisfied the

ITC’s requirements for issuance of a GEO).) Converse further argues that if a violation is found
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only with respect to the Defaulting Respondents, a GEO is still necessary because “(1) there is
substantial, reliable, énd probative evidence of a violation of § 337 and (2} the other
requirements of § 337(d)(2) are met.” (Id. at 126; see also CRB at 60.) Staff concurs. (SIB at
108-111.)

Respondents submit that if the Commission finds a violation, the evidence shows thaf
Converse has failed to carry its burden of showing that a GEO is necessary. (RIB at 127-133
(criticizing Converse for not providing any ﬁﬁancial or economic.analysis as to why a GEO is
warranted); RRB at 56.)

The undersigned finds Converse’s and Staff’s arguments persuasive and thus,
recommends that a GEO issue should the Commission find a violation. As Converse detailed in
its post-hearing briefing, business conditions show a widespread pattern of violation. (CIB at
127-131; see also CX-00229C at Q/A 165-170, 292, 297-300.) For example, Converse has
engaged in extensive enforcement activities, but despite its efforts, infringing and counterfeit
products continue to be imported into the U.S. (See, e.g, CX-00245C at Q/A 41-53; CDX-
00229.0010-0011C; CX-11286;J CX-00229C at Q/A 212-228.) Converse has also presented
evidence of the difficulty of identifying the source of infringing products because of the large
business-to-business Internet portals that enable third-party vendors and foreign agents or trading
companies to operate as intermediaries between the abundant foreign manufacturers of knockoff
products and U.S. distributors and retailers. V(CX-00229C at 182-195, 261-289; CDX-229.0025;
CX-00245C at Q/A 61 (testifying that the trading companies who sell the infringing products are
mostly selling agents or shell companies with a mail drop under fictitious names, emails, and
phone numbers).) In fact, Converse’s Senior Director of Brand Protection, Mr. Paul Foley,

described Converse’s enforcement efforts as [ : ]
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[ . ] (CX-00245C at Q/A 58.) Mr.
Foley even identified one of the Defaulting Respondents as a “repeat offender.;’ (Id. at Q/A 59
(testifying that [

1)) Not only does this evidence evince a widespread pattern of violation, but it also
suggests that a GEO is necessary to prevent the circumvention of a limited exclusion order. (See
CX-0229C at Q/A 292-297,308-311.)

B. Limited Exclusioh Order

Under section 337(d), the Commission may issue a limited exclusion order directed to a
respondent’s infringing products. 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d). A limited exclusion order instructs the
U.S. Customs Service to exclude from entry all articles that are coveréd by the patent at issue
that originate from a named respondent in the investigation. Fuji Photo Film Co. Ltd. v. Int’l
Trade Comm’n, 474 F.3d 1281, 1286 (2007).

Converse asserts that in the event a violation is found and the Commission declines to
issue a general exclusion order, a limited exclusion order should issue covering each
* Respondent’s footwear products and colorable imitations likely to infringe or dilute the asserted
trademarks. (CIB at 139.)

Respondents submit that if one or more parties are found in violation of section 337, the
proper remedy would be a narrowly-tailored limited exclusion order directed solely to the party
or parties found in violation. (RIB at 133-134.) Respondents also believe that any limited
exclusion order should include a certification provision as such a provision “will ease the burden
both on legitimate trade and on U.S. Customs’ enforcement of the exclusion order.” (Id. at 134.)

Should a violation be found, Staff recommends that at least a limited exclusion order

issue barring the importation of infringing footwear. (SIB at 111-112.)
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If the Commission décides not to issue a GEO, the undersigned recommends that the
Commission issue a limited exclusion order prohibiting the importation of Respondents’
footwear products found to infringe the asserted trademarks. The undersigned also recommends
that any limited exclusion order include a certification provision. See Certain Condensers, Parts
Thereof and Prods. Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-334 (Remand), Comm’n Op. at 39,
(Sept. 10, 1997) (recognizing that “certification provisions have been included in previous
exclusion orders Where respondents imported both infringing and non-infringing préducts.”).

C. Cease and Desist Order

Under section 33‘7(f)(1), the Commission -may issue a cease and desist order in addition
to, or instee{d of, an exclusion order. 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f)(1). The Commission generally issues a
.cease and desist order directed to a domestic respondent when there is a “commercially
significant” amount of infringing, imported product in the United States that could be sold,
thereby undercutting the remedy provided by an exclusion order. See Certaz'n_ Crystalline
Cefadroxil Monohydrate, Inv. No. 337-TA-293 USITC Pub. 2391, Comm’n Op. on Remedy, the
Public Interest and Bonding at 37-42 (June 1991); Certain Condensers, Parts Thereof and Prods.
Containing Same, Including Air Conditioners for Automobiles, Inv. No. 337-TA-334 (Remand),
Comm’n Op. at 26-28, 1997 WL 817767, at *11-12 (U.S.LT.C. Sept. 10, 1997).

Converse asserts that Skechers, Walmart, Highline and New Balance each maintain
substantial inventories of the Accused Products in the United States. (CIB at 140-143; CRB at
61-62.) Converse claims these inventories are “commercially significant from a volume and
value perspective, and also commercially important from a business perspective.” Because

Skechers, Walmart, Highline, and New Balance maintain websites for orders, Converse requests
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that any cease and desist orders expressly ban the sales, marketing, and distribution of infringing
or dilutive shoes through these Internet sites. (CIB at 140.)

Respondents claim that Converse has failed to show that any of the Respondents
maintains a commercially significant inventory and thus, no cease and desist order should issue.
(RIB at 134-135 (arguing that the conclusions of Convefse’s expert regarding inventory are
unreliable); RRB at 56-58.)

Staff believes that if a violation is found, cease and desist orders are warranted as to the
domestic Respondents. (SIB at 112-114.)

The undersigned recommends that cease and desist orders issue as to those Respondents
found to infringe by the Commission. The evidence adduced at the hearing show that each
Respoﬁdenf maintains “commercially significant” inventory of the Accused Products in the
United Stateé. (See, e.g., CX-00306C; CX-00307C; CX-04159C; CX-09080C;_ CX-00398C; CX-
04158C; CX-00599C; CDX-00229.0004C; ICDX-OO229.OO22C; CDX-00229.0023C; JX-375C;
IJX-367-371C; RX-02896C; CX-00229C at Q/A 323-328, 366-371, 329-337, 340-345.)

D. Bond During Presidential Review |

Pursuant to section 337(j)(3), the Administrative Law Judge and the Commission must
determine the amount of bond to be required of a respondent during the 60-day Presidential
review period following the issuance of permanent relief, in the event that the Commission
determines to issue a remedy. 19 U.S.C. § 1337(j)(3). The purpose of the bond is to protect the
complainant from any injury. 19 C.E.R. § 210.42(a)(1)(ii), § 210.50(a)(3).

When reliable price informaﬁon is avaﬂable, the Comnﬁssion has often set the bond by
eliminating the differential between the domestic product and the imported, infringing product.

See Microsphere Adhesives, Processes for Making Same, and. Prods. Containing Same,
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Including Self-Stick Repositionable Notes, Inv. No. 337-TA-366, USITC Pub. 2949, Comm’n
Op. at 24 (Dec. 8, 1995). In other cases, the Commission has turned to alternative approaches,
especially when the level of a reasonable royalty rate could be ascertained. See, e.g., Certain
Integrated Circuit Telecomm. Chips and Prods. Containing Same, Including Dialing Apparatus,
Inv. No. 337-TA-337, Comm’n Op. at 41, 1993 WL 13033517, at *24 (U.S.LT.C. June 22,
1993). A 100 percent bond has been required when no effective alternative existed. See, e.g.,
Certain Flash Memory Circuits and Prods. Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-382, USITC Pub.
No. 3046, Comm’n Op. at 26-27 (July 1997) (imposing a 100% bond when price comparison
was not practical because the parties sold products at different levels of commerce, and the
proposed royalty rate appeared to be de minimus and without adequate support in the record).

Converse argues that “it is not practicable to calculate a clear price differential on a shoe-
by-shoe basis” because “Respondents sell their Accused Products in different levels of
commerce and in different market éegmenfs: wholesaler, retail, and discount retail.” (CIB at 143
(citing CX-8668C;--CX-8121C; CX-229C at Q/A 375; RX-10273 at Q/A 626).) Converse
therefore asserts that “[a] bond equal to 100% of the selling price for the inffinging products
should be entered.” (Id. at 144.) Converse argues that a 100% bond is also appropriate for the
Defaulting Respondents. (/d.)

Alternatively, Converse asserts that the Commission “should calculate a bond based on
the percentage difference between (i) the average selling price of the Converse Shoes and (i) the
average price of the Accused Products.” (Id. at 144 (citing CX-229C at Q/A 376-379).)

Respondents agree that “clear, across-the board price differentials that would serve as a
reliable basis for a bond in this matter are difficult to compute.” (RIB at 123 (citing RX-10273C

at Q/A 626.) Respondents therefore assert that it is appropriate to set the bond based on a
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reasonable royalty. (Jd. at 124.) Respondents assert that the royalty information provided by
Converse shqws that the Commission ‘should set a rate of no more than [ . (Id.)

Staff “believes the appropriate bond rate for the participating Respondents should be
based on price differential,” and that the bond should be 100% of the entered value for the:
Defaulting Respondents. (SIB at 115.) Staff believes that the appropriate bond for Walmart
would be [ ] per pair of shoes and the appropriate bond for Skechers would be [ ] per pair
of shoes. (Id.) Staff believes that no bond should be imposed with respect to Highline’s and New
Balance’s products, as these products are priced either at the same price or above the Chuék
Taylor All Star. (/d.) Staff also notes that Respondents’ proposed bond of [ ] is “based on a
valuation of Complainant’s trademarks, and not on a reasonable royalty.’; (d)

The undersigned finds that a bond based on price differential is appropriate. While thére
may be some variation of pricing depending on the market segment in which the shoes are sold,
neither Converse nor Respondents introduce .evidence which supports this proposition.
Respondent merely relies on a conclusory expert opinion. (RX-10273C at Q/A 626.) Converse
submits additional evidence, but this‘ evidence is insufficient as well. First, Converse submits
CX-08668C which it contends shows “different prices for best tier lines ranging from [ ]
[ ]inretail.” (CX-0229C at Q/A 162 (citing CX-08668).) The shoes included in this document
— with one possible exception — do not appear to feature the CMT. (CX-08668.0002.) This
document is therefore irrelevant. Converse explains that the second document demonstrates that
Converse’s shoes are sold in different market segments. (CX-00229C at Q/A 163 (citing CX-
08121C.) This dovc.ument indeed identifies different marketing channels for Converse’s shoes,
but notes that the core Chuck Taylor All Star is sold in only one of these channels. (CX-

08121C.0022.) Thus, this document may actually disprove that the price varies significantly for

- 140 -



Case: 16-2497 Document: 1-5 Page: 146 Filed: 08/16/2016
PUBLIC VERSION |
the core shoes. Additionally, the repord includes aVerage selling prices for the Accused Products,
which Respondents do not specifically challenge. (CDX-0229.0024C; RX-10273C at Q/A 626.)
Accordingly, the undersigned does not have cause to deviate from the preferred method of
calculating a. bond based on price differential.

The evidence shows that the average price for a Chuck Taylor All Star shoe across all
transactions is approximately [ ]. (CDX-O229.0024C.) Each of the individual Respondents
is discussed below:

1. Walmart

The evidence shows that the average price of Walmart’s Accused Shoes is [ ]
(CDX-0229.0020C.) Thus, the price differential bétween these shoes and the Chuck Taylor All
Star shoe is | ] Accordingly, the undersigned recommends that bond be set in the amount of
[ ] per pair of Accused Walmart shoes during the Presidential review period.

2. Skechers

Skechers is no longer selling any of the Accused Products for which the undersigned
found infringement. (RIB at 10 n. 4.) As such, a bond is unnecessary, as no injury can occur. 19
U.S;C. § 1337()(3).

In the event that the Commission determines that Skechers’ Twinkle Toe or BOBS
Utopia shoes infringe, the evidence shows that Skechers’ Accused Products are priced at [ ]
(CDX-0229.0024C.) Thus, the price differential between these shoes and the Chuck Taylor All

‘Star shoe is [ ] Accordingly, the undersigned recommends that the bond be set in the

amount of [ ] per pair of Skechers’ Accused Products during the Presidential Review period.
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3.  Highline
The evidence shows that' Highline’s Accused Products are priced from $150-$200. (CX
00244C at 102; CX-09845.) Converse asserts that the pricé of these shoes should be compared
with the price of high-end Convérse shoes, rather than the core Chuck Taylor All Star shoe. (CIB
at 144.) Converse reasons that the Highline shoes and the high-end Converse shoes are “sold in
many of the same retail stores, and compete head-to-head in this segment.” (/d.) Yet, Converse
cites to no evidence in support of this proposition. Nor does it explain why it is improper to
compare Highline’s shoes to the core Chuck Taylor All Star shoes, which the evidence shows are
also sold in the same retail stores. (CX-00240C at Q/A 1177-80; CX-00244C at Q/A 160.)
Because Converse has failed to establish that using the core Chuck Taylor All Star shoe average
price is inadequate, the undersigned will use the average price of [ ]. As such, fhere is no
price differential and no‘ bond is necessary.
4. New Balance
The evidence shows that the average price of New Balance’s Accused Products is [ ]
(CDX-0229.0020C.) Thus, the price differential between these shoes aﬁd the Chuck Taylor All
Star shoe is [ ]. Accordingly, the undersigned recommends that bond be set in the amount of
[ ] per pair of Accused Walmart shoes during the Presidential review period.
5. Defaulting Respondents
The undersigned finds that it is apprqpriate to recommend a bond of 100% of entered
value for the Defaulting Respondents. Certain Video Game Systems, Accessories, & Components
Thereof, Inv. No. 337-TA-473, Comm’n Op. at 5 (Dec. 24, 2002.) Accordingly, the undersigned
recommends that bond be set in the amount of 100% per pair of Defaulting Respondents’

Accused Products shoes during the Presidential review period.
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Within ten days of the date of this document, the parties shall submit to the Office of
Administrative Law Judges a joint statement regarding whether or not they seek to have any
portion of this document deleted from the public version. Parties who submit excessive
redactions may be required to provide an additional written statement, supported by declarations
from individuals with personal knowledge, justifying each proposed redaction and specifically
explaining why the information sought to be redacted meets the definition for confidential
business information set forth in Commission Rule 201.6(a). 19 C.F.R. § 201.6(a).

The parties’ submission shall be made by hard copy and must_ include a copy of this
Initial Determination with red brackets indicating any portion asserted to contain confidential
business information to be deleted from the public version. The parties’ submission shall include
an index identifying the pages of this document where proposed redactions are located. The
parties’ submission concerning the public version of this document need not be filed with the

Commission Secretary.

SO ORDERED.

Charles E. Bullock
Chief Administrative Law Judge
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